# ResearchOnline@JCU



This file is part of the following work:

# Lee, James Anthony (2016) A small animal model for the creation of preaneurysmal change in the intracranial vasculature. Masters (Research) Thesis, James Cook University.

Access to this file is available from: https://doi.org/10.25903/QF8T%2D4G22

Copyright  $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$  2016 James Anthony Lee.

The author has certified to JCU that they have made a reasonable effort to gain permission and acknowledge the owners of any third party copyright material included in this document. If you believe that this is not the case, please email researchonline@jcu.edu.au

**Dr James Anthony LEE** 

#### **BA MB BCh BAO**

# "A Small Animal Model for the Creation of Pre-Aneurysmal Change in the Intracranial Vasculature"

### **Masters Philosophy (Health)**

Vascular Biology Unit

Queensland Research Centre for Peripheral Vascular Disease

**College of Medicine and Dentistry** 

**James Cook University** 

Townsville

Queensland

Australia

February 2016

#### **Table of Contents**

| Acknowledgements  | 3  |
|---|----|
| Statement of Contribution of Others                                   | 4  |
| Glossary  | 6  |
| Introduction and Historical Perspective                               | 10 |
| Epidemiology and Risk Factors for Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Haemorrhage | 15 |
| Pathophysiology of Human Aneurysm Formation                           | 17 |
| Anatomy of cerebral vessels   | 17 |
| Macroscopic Anatomical variations                                     | 18 |
| Effect of Anatomical Variations on Cerebral Blood Flow                | 18 |
| Ultrastructural organisation of intracranial arteries                 | 21 |
| Role of Genetic Factors   | 23 |
| Collagen Disorders  | 28 |
| Elastin Disorders   | 31 |
| Angiogenic factors  | 35 |
| Renin Angiotensin System  | 35 |
| Nitric Oxide Synthase   | 36 |
| Platelet Adhesive Glycoproteins                                       | 37 |
| Lipoprotein Metabolism  | 39 |
| Role of Haemodynamic Stress   | 42 |
| Haemodynamic forces   | 42 |
| Haemodynamic micro-environment at bifurcations                        | 43 |
| Role of Endothelium   | 49 |
| Nitric Oxide  | 51 |
| Role of Inflammation  | 56 |
| Introduction  | 56 |

| Endothelial Dysfunction                        | . 57 |
|--|------|
| Wall remodelling and Inflammation              | . 59 |
| Inflammatory cell infiltration of vessel walls | . 61 |
| Matrix Metalloproteinases                      | . 61 |
| Nuclear factor                                 | . 62 |
| Tumour Necrosis Factor                         | . 63 |
| Significance of Fibrosis in aneurysm walls     | . 65 |

### Acknowledgements

This work was supported by an educational stipend from Medtronic Australia and grants from the Australian National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC 1079193, 1079369, 1021416, 1000967) and the Queensland Government.

Professor Jonathon Golledge holds a Practitioner Fellowship from the NHMRC, Australia and a Senior Clinical Research Fellowship from the Queensland Government.

I would like to thank Australian Institute of Tropical Health and Medicine for providing research infrastructure.

I would like to thank Associate Professor Laurence Marshman, Professor Jonathon Golledge, and Dr Corey S Moran for their assistance and guidance with this project.

Thanks also to Dr Yutang Wang and Dr Sai-Wang Seto for their assistance with the laboratory component of this study.

A special thanks to Professor Rhondda Jones and Dr Leslie Kuma for their invaluable assistance with the statistical and pathological analyses respectively.

# Statement of Contribution of Others

| Intellectual:                         | Proposal Writing     | Associate Professor Laurence Marshman                      |
|---------------------------------------|----------------------|--|
|                                       |                      | Professor Jonathon Golledge                                |
|                                       |                      | Dr Corey S Moran   |
|                                       | Data Analysis        | Professor Rhondda Jones                                    |
|                                       |                      | Dr Leslie Kuma   |
|                                       | Statistical Support  | Professor Rhondda Jones                                    |
|                                       | Editorial Assistance | Associate Professor Laurence Marshman                      |
|                                       |                      | Professor Jonathon Golledge                                |
|                                       |                      | Dr Corey S Moran   |
|                                       |                      |  |
| Financial:                            | Stipend              | Medtronic Australia Ltd.                                   |
|                                       |                      | Australian National Health and Medical Research<br>Council |
|                                       |                      | (NHMRC 1079193, 1079369, 1021416, 1000967)                 |
|                                       |                      | Queensland Government                                      |
|                                       |                      |  |
| Data Collection: Research Assistance: |                      | Dr Yutang Wang   |
|                                       |                      | Dr Sai-Wang Seto   |

Our work as detailed in this thesis has formed the basis of two novel publications[148, 149]:

#### 1. "A small animal model for early cerebral aneurysm pathology"

James A. Lee, Laurence A.G. Marshman, Corey S Moran, Leslie Kuma, Eric P. Guazzo, David S.

Anderson, Jonathan Golledge

Journal of Clinical Neuroscience 34 (2016) 259-263.[148] 10.1016/j.jocn.2016.05.039

#### 2. "Mouse models of intracranial aneurysm."

Wang, Y., Emeto, T. I., Lee, J., Marshman, L., Moran, C., Seto, S. W., Golledge, J.

Brain Pathol 25(3): 237-247. 10.1111/bpa.12175 (2015)

Our work as detailed in this thesis has formed the basis of an oral presentation at the Neurosurgical Society of Australasia Annual Scientific Meeting, Sydney, Australia, 2016.

## Glossary

| AAA    | Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm  |
|--------|--|
| ACA    | Anterior Cerebral Artery   |
| ACom   | Anterior Communicating Artery  |
| ACROSS | Australasian Co-Operative Research On Subarachnoid Haemorrhage Study |
| A-II   | Angiotensin-II   |
| aSAH   | aneurysmal Subarachnoid Haemorrhage                                  |
| BA     | Basilar Artery   |
| BAPN   | beta-amino propionitrile   |
| BBB    | Blood Brain Barrier  |
| BP     | Blood pressure   |
| C-     | Complement Factor  |
| CA     | Cerebral Aneurysm  |
| CoW    | Circle of Willis   |
| CSF    | Cerebrospinal fluid  |
| СТ     | Computer Assisted Tomography   |
| dBP    | diastolic Blood Pressure   |
| DOCA   | Deoxycorticosterone acetate  |
| ECM    | Extracellular Matrix   |
| EEL    | External Elastic Lamina  |
| eNOS   | endothelial-derived Nitric Oxide Synthase                            |
| EPC    | Endothelial Progenerator Cells                                       |
| FGF    | Fibroblast Growth Factor   |
| FGFR   | Fibroblast Growth Factor Receptor                                    |
| но     | Haem-Oxygenase   |
| HTN    | Hypertension   |
| ICH    | Intracranial Haematoma/Intracerebral Haemorrhage                     |

| IEL  | Internal Elastic Lamina                 |
|------|---|
| IL   | Interleukin                             |
| INF  | Interferon                              |
| JCU  | James Cook University                   |
| LO   | Lipoxygenase                            |
| LT   | Leukotriene                             |
| mBP  | mean Blood Pressure                     |
| MCA  | Middle Cerebral Artery                  |
| МСР  | Monocyte Chemo-Attractant Protein       |
| МН   | Myointimal hyperplasia                  |
| ММР  | Matrix Metalloproteinase                |
| NF   | Neutrophil Factor                       |
| NO   | Nitric Oxide                            |
| PAF  | Platelet Activating Factor              |
| PAR  | Population Attributable risk            |
| PBS  | Phosphate Buffered Saline               |
| РСА  | Posterior Cerebral Artery               |
| PCom | Posterior Communicating Artery          |
| ROS  | Reactive Oxygen Species                 |
| SAH  | Subarachnoid Haemorrhage                |
| sBP  | systolic Blood Pressure                 |
| TF   | Tissue Factor                           |
| Th-  | T- helper type cell                     |
| TIMP | Tissue Inhibitors of Metalloproteinases |
| TNF  | Tumour Necrosis Factor                  |
| TNFR | Tumour Necrosis Factor Receptor         |
| VBU  | Vascular Biology Unit                   |

- VSMC Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells
- vWF von Willebrand Factor
- WHO Word Health Organisation

# "A Small Animal Model for the Creation of Pre-Aneurysmal Change in the Intracranial Vasculature"

## Masters Philosophy (Health)

Dr James Anthony Lee

Part 1

#### Introduction and Historical Perspective

There is considerable interest in further understanding the pathophysiology of human cerebral aneurysm formation. Many human studies involving histopathological analysis of surgically dissected aneurysms[1, 2], gene linkage analysis[3-10] and epidemiological studies[11-18] have been performed with varying degrees of success, revealing some specific elements which may be of importance in aneurysm pathogenesis. These studies, however, have a number of important limitations[19]. Histopathological studies rely upon samples obtained during neurosurgical intervention, which in of itself may increase the risk of aneurysm rupture[2, 20]. The tendency of aneurysms to cluster in families can complicate genetic studies[21-23]. Further, histological data from human studies is obtained at a single point in time; this does not allow for examination of sequential changes in the arterial wall during aneurysm pathogenesis.

Intracranial aneurysms have been a subject of investigation since the mid-19<sup>th</sup> century. During this period, attaining a diagnosis of intracranial aneurysm in a living patient was difficult, with most cases being identified at necropsy. Indeed in 1859, Gull[24] expressed pessimism that such a feat would ever be achieved, concluding, after a review of both his personal experience with 7 patients and a review of previously reported cases: *"Although we may from the circumstances sometimes suspect the presence of an aneurysm within the cranium, we have at best no symptoms on which to ground a more probable diagnosis"*. This dictum remained widely accepted for almost half a century; Beadles[25], on analysing 555 aneurysm cases, reached the same conclusion, declaring: *"Only two or three have ever been diagnosis"*. A more proactive stance in the diagnosis of aneurysms was taken by Fearnsides[26], who in a review of the subject, and broadly agreeing with the earlier statements by Gull, suggested that the infrequency of clinical diagnoses in living patients was probably due to the diagnosis of aneurysm rupture not being considered by clinicians. This new

focus on diagnosis during life appeared to re-kindle interest in intracranial aneurysms and their pathogenesis and treatment [27].

The pioneering work of Turnbull[28] in 1914 promulgated the theory that aneurysms were congenital in origin. In investigating 30 aneurysms, he noted that arterial wall atheroma was absent or mild in 21, with little to no evidence of arterial wall hyperplasia in 17. This contrasted sharply with previous observations of intracranial arteries after haemorrhagic stroke, leading the author to conclude that "...direct rupture is usually associated with evidence of much more excessive blood pressure and greater arterial degeneration... If, therefore, these cerebral aneurysms were entirely the result of excessive blood pressure and arterial degeneration, they would precede and be more common than direct rupture ...direct rupture is much more common. There appears, therefore, to be an additional factor in the formation of these cerebral aneurysms... this factor is, probably, an inherent weakness due to a congenital abnormality in the structure of the arteries at their points of junction" [28, 29].

Although widely accepted, this hypothesis failed to explain the relatively late onset of aneurysm rupture and the rarity of SAH in children.

Although proposed as a contributory rather than the principal aetiology in aneurysm pathogenesis by Turnbull[28], interest in the role of hypertension and haemodynamic stress on cerebral vessels increased after Forbus' experiments in 1930[30]. By use of glass tubing and manometer measurements, these studies determined that haemodynamic pressure exerted on an arterial wall was maximal at arterial branch points, which correlated with the origin site of many aneurysms. The author attributed this propensity to small, congenital defects in the media layer or *"loci minoris resistentiae"*, which appeared to justify Gull and Turnbull's earlier assertions. Forbus concluded that the strength of the vessel wall is a function of the muscular coat, with breaches of this layer responsible for aneurysm formation. Critically, however, Forbus also found many media defects without apparent aneurysm formation; a point further explored by both Schmidt[31] and Strauss[32]

who despite accepting of the proposal that congenital lesions predisposed to aneurysm formation, nevertheless stressed the importance of atheroma formation in aneurysm pathogenesis.

The aetiological relationship between both medial defects and presence of atheroma was questioned in 1940 by Glynn[29], who showed that even in the presence of medial defects, unfixed, unsupported elastic elements in the vessel wall could withstand very high pressures without rupture. This hypothesis was tested by insufflation of a sample vessel with air from a foot-pump; pressures of up to 400-600mHg were achieved "without any visible sign of localised bulging". Although the author conceded that this experiment was not an accurate physiological representation of the in-vivo situation (the tissue being dead and without muscle tone), it nevertheless proved the concept that the unsupported elastic elements of the vessel wall could withstand very high pressures without loss of structural integrity or vessel rupture. These results were consistent in both vessels with naturally occurring and artificial medial defects, again pointing toward the elastic lamina as the critical element in maintenance of vessel wall integrity, leading the author to conclude that lesions of the elastic lamina are "of paramount importance in the genesis of these aneurysms".

Glynn disputed Forbus' contention that the observed medial defects were congenital, citing increased frequency of observed defects in adult when compared to paediatric samples in his observed slides, and asserting that due to the frequency with which medial defects occur in the cerebral vessels of normal subjects, they were unlikely to be a significant factor in aneurysm pathogenesis. Interestingly, he described these changes as "*physiological response(s) to the increase in blood pressure which normally occurs between infancy and the attainment of maturity*" [29]". He noted the presence of intimal hyperplasia independent of either atheroma formation or medial defects, which he proposed to be a result of *"a local condition of strain"*, which occurred to a greater extent in older subjects with an increased frequency at arterial bifurcation points. Two explanations were suggested to account for this observation, namely:

- At bifurcation points, a greater pressure was exerted on the arterial wall at the point of bifurcation due to it being in direct opposition with the forces exerted by the moving column of blood, and that
- Eddy currents arising from turbulent blood flow at bifurcation points resulted in a pathological process, the end result of which was intimal hyperplasia.

Carmichael[33], in 1950, proposed that aneurysm formation was dependent on the combination of both a medial defect and a superimposed lesion in the internal elastic lamina. Findings of his histological study of 13 small aneurysms suggested that their development was due to the combined effects of "developmental deficiency" and "arterial degeneration". The author observed that aneurysm development occurred exclusively at the site of "substantial breaches in the muscular and elastic coats, and these coats are breached in different ways". The muscular gaps were attributed to foci of medial aplasia which became enlarged by superimposed degenerative changes, or alternatively areas of primary hypoplasia where an underdeveloped media had been destroyed by primary degeneration and fibrosis. Gaps in the internal elastic lamina, however, were attributed to degenerative change alone, which the author ascribed chiefly to atheroma formation. Although it appeared that the relative degree of each of these two factors varied in the aneurysms studied, Carmichael concluded that "both developmental and degenerative factors are concerned in the genesis of all of these aneurysms and no distinction can be made between the so-called congenital (i.e. developmental) and arteriosclerotic types"[33].

Du Boulay[34] further explored the association between atheroma formation and aneurysm pathogenesis in a radiological, surgical and pathological analysis of the size and shape of 252 aneurysms in 197 patients. This work found arterial irregularities or atherosclerosis in 35% of the aneurysms studied. Whilst concluding that an association between atheroma and aneurysm formation may exist, he did not accept that atheroma was in of itself the principal factor in aneurysm pathogenesis, rather that it was a *"most important factor"*, and that although early

atherosclerotic change was closely associated with early aneurysm pathogenesis, development of a macroscopic saccular aneurysm was dependent on a balance between healing processes and the progression of atheromatous change . Du Boulay also reported several important aspects regarding the natural history of intracranial aneurysms, noting simple, unilocular aneurysms to be more common in young patients, with an increased incidence of larger, multilocular lesions in older patients. In patients with multiple aneurysms, 18 of 32 exhibited both simple saccular aneurysms and irregular, multilobed ones, suggesting that progressive changes affected individual aneurysms in the same patient at different rates, and new aneurysms may form at different stages. He noted the significance of loculation of aneurysms, especially the development of de novo loculation, correctly determining that a change in morphology was often an event which preceded aneurysm rupture.

#### **Epidemiology and Risk Factors for Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Haemorrhage**

Aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage, that is, subarachnoid haemorrhage resulting from rupture of a saccular intracranial aneurysm, is a highly lethal medical condition, with a mortality approaching 50% in some studies and significant morbidity amongst survivors [36-39]. Although aneurysms are present in approximately 2-5% of the population, the incidence of aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage in Australia is only 8 in 100,000 people per year [17]. In the vast majority of cases, aneurysms remain occult prior to rupture. A feature of aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage is the relatively young age at which it strikes, with peak incidence occurring between 40 and 60 years of age[40]. Although attributable to only 7% of all strokes, aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage is responsible for 27% of all stroke related years of life lost before age 65[38]

Why human aneurysms form remains unclear. Most studies examining pathophysiology of aneurysm formation have focused on physiological parameters such as hypertension, intra-arterial wall shear stress[41-43], and immunological factors such as endothelial dysfunction, inflammation and remodelling of the vascular wall [44-51]. The majority of historical studies investigating human aneurysm pathogenesis have relied on specimens obtained during autopsy or surgery. These histopathological samples are now less commonly available due to the increasing use of endovascular treatment[52-54]. Many potential risk factors for aneurysm formation and rupture such as hypertension, cigarette smoking, alcohol consumption and female gender have been identified[21, 55-59]. Exposure to any or all of these factors does not necessarily result in the formation of an aneurysm[35, 37, 60-62], and aneurysms may also arise spontaneously in the absence of any obvious risk factors[60, 63, 64].

Although significant difference of opinion exists amongst clinicians, aneurysm size predicts risk of rupture [37]. Contradictory data, however, show that up to 60% of ruptured aneurysms would have been classified as "low-risk" prior to rupture if aneurysm size alone is used to stratify risk of rupture[15, 65] [66]. Management of unruptured aneurysms is controversial; aneurysms deemed at

low risk of rupture are typically kept under radiological surveillance, with surgical clipping or endovascular occlusion offered to patients deemed to be at "higher" risk of SAH[37]. Regardless of treatment modality, for many patients the peri- and intra-procedural morbidity may equal or exceed the risk of conservative management[67].

The International Study on Unruptured Intracranial Aneurysms (ISUIA)[18] and subsequent follow-up study (ISUIA-II)[37], sought to stratify risk of aneurysm rupture on the basis of size and location alone. Although criticisms relating to inherent methodological biases[68], and utility of these data in a clinical setting[69, 70] have been raised, the size and location risk-stratification paradigm has gained favour in contemporary neurosurgical practice. However, it is also accepted that up to 60% of ruptured aneurysms would have been classified as "low-risk" and potentially remained untreated with potentially catastrophic consequences were clinical risk stratification protocols to rely only on the ISUIA study[15, 65] [66]. Thus, the broad extrapolation of this data to general neurosurgical practice may well be inappropriate[71, 72]

Mechanical obliteration of aneurysms and limiting the effects of aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage after its occurrence are the mainstay of modern management of ruptured aneurysms. Despite decades of research and innovation, aneurysm pathogenesis and the processes leading to rupture are currently poorly understood, and the consequences of aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage remain a significant burden both on the community and the individual. Further defining, clarifying, and understanding aneurysm pathogenesis may have important clinical and therapeutic implications

#### Pathophysiology of Human Aneurysm Formation

#### Anatomy of cerebral vessels

The brain is an integral part of the body which demands and uses 20% of the blood ejected from the heart over each cardiac cycle[73]. The principal function of the cerebrovascular network is to provide a stable blood flow to the brain over a range of activities whilst simultaneously avoiding potentially detrimental effects of abnormal physiological stressors such as increased haemodynamic stress. Optimum design of biological structures is an established theoretical biological principle which states that the "optimum" biological structure is the one which involves the least metabolic cost, or "work" (i.e. that which requires the minimum energy expenditure to build and maintain its infrastructure along with performing physiological tasks[74]). The biological efficiency of the vascular system is determined for the most part by the arrangement of vessels of variable luminal diameter arranged in a branching hierarchy from large to small calibre, designed in such a manner as to maintain the continuity of blood flow at the lowest energy cost and blood volume required, whilst simultaneously avoiding increased haemodynamic stresses[75].

In mammals, cerebral blood supply is via three major intracranial arteries; two internal carotid arteries and the basilar artery. The internal carotid arteries supply primarily the cerebrum, with the basilar supplying the brainstem, cerebellum and the remainder of the cerebrum. In humans, the Circle of Willis is formed from the three main intracranial arteries and the anterior cerebral, anterior communicating, posterior communicating and posterior cerebral vessels. The vertebrobasilar junction represents an area of unique haemodynamic profile in human vascular anatomy. The basilar artery (BA) is formed by the confluence of the paired vertebral arteries, representing a convergence of arteries rather than the usual divergent bifurcation; blood flow is in the "opposite" direction to that experienced elsewhere in the body.

#### **Macroscopic Anatomical variations**

The Circle of Willis is a polygon or closed arterial circuit, through which (by means of component vessels) blood may circulate from and return to the point of entrance[76].

Suggested reasons for the development of this unique pattern range from preservation of cerebral blood flow via collateral channels in the event of occlusion of one of the main feeding arteries [77] to protection of the brain from ischaemia whatever the position of the head may be relative to the cervical spine[78, 79]. Although there is no unanimity regarding what constitutes a "normal" or typical anatomical pattern[76], generally speaking the paired anterior cerebral arteries must be present, and no vessel may be less than 1mm in external diameter [80-82].

The Circle of Willis exhibits high anatomical variability in humans, with only approximately 40% of the population thought to exhibit a "textbook" configuration; indeed some studies have described variant arterial patterns to be more common than the anatomical pattern [76, 81]. Common anomalies include absence, hypoplasia, or multiplicity of component vessels. Persistence of the embryonic configuration of arteries, i.e. hypoplasia of the proximal segment of the aneurysm due to failure of the medial branch of the posterior branch of the aneurysm to properly join the basilar artery during early embryogenesis is probably the most frequently encountered anomaly and is usually seen unilaterally [76, 82, 83]. Growth of new vessels secondary to haemodynamic and genetic factors can result in other deviations from the expected pattern [76]. Alternatively, vascular anomalies may manifest more discreetly as subtle structural anatomical variations, or differences in the bifurcation angles between parent and daughter arteries. In most cases, however, physiological continuity of the arterial collateral circulation is maintained[75, 84-87].

#### **Effect of Anatomical Variations on Cerebral Blood Flow**

It has long been postulated that anatomical variability in the Circle of Willis be a predisposing factor to aneurysm formation[80, 83, 88, 89]; aneurysms arising from the Circle of Willis show a propensity for arterial bifurcation points, and develop more often at bifurcations where one artery is hypoplastic relative to the other than at those where the calibre of the parent vessels is more equal. For example, A1 hypoplasia begets a tendency to anterior communicating artery aneurysm formation[90]. Likewise, aneurysms are seen with increased frequency at acute rather than more obtuse bifurcations, where laminar blood flow deviates more markedly from that of the parent artery [91].

The work of Padget et al[83] was one of the first studies to suggest a statistically significant correlation between anatomical variability and aneurysm formation, however was criticised due to poor statistical methodology. Kayembel[89] described a definite correlation between anatomical variation and aneurysm formation, and emphasised the importance of ascribing macroscopic aneurysm formation not on the presence of an anatomical variant per se, but rather that the pathophysiological processes resulting in aneurysm formation arose from alterations in cerebral blood flow caused by these variations. Modern, quantitative, in vivo imaging studies have confirmed this hypothesis, with significant variations in flow rates in both the carotid and basilar arteries demonstrated on MRI in the presence of variations in the Circle of Willis [92, 93]. In their study of 117 healthy volunteers using two-dimensional cine-phase contrast enhanced MRI, Tanaka et al[93] measured volume flow rates of the bilateral internal carotid arteries and the basilar artery.

1. A "textbook" Circle of Willis, where the pre-communicating segment of the anterior cerebral artery (A1) and posterior cerebral artery (P1) were normal in size,

2. Right/left A1 hypoplasia,

3. Right/left P1 hypoplasia, and

4. "Other" which consisted of other unclassified variations.

Total volume flow rate and volume flow rates for, and the relative contributions of each artery of groups 1, 2 and 3 were measured. The relative contribution of each of the proximal arteries was found to correlate significantly with variations of blood flow in the Circle of Willis. The ratio of contribution of the bilateral internal carotid and basilar artery were estimated at 40:40:20 for the "textbook" type. Assuming that both anterior cerebral arteries were supplied by a single internal carotid in the A1 hypoplasia variant, and the posterior cerebral artery ipsilateral to the hypoplastic P1 is supplied only by the ipsilateral posterior communicating artery, ratios of contribution of the bilateral internal carotid arteries and basilar artery were estimated at 30:50:20 for the A1 hypoplasia variant and 50:40:10 for the P1 hypoplasia variant. These results confirmed the earlier findings of Hendrikse[94] et al, who measured volume flow in the internal carotid arteries and basilar artery in 208 patients with symptomatic atherosclerosis or risk factors for atherosclerosis using threedimensional time-of-flight MR angiography. In this study, significantly increased volume flow was demonstrated in the contralateral internal carotid artery in patients with A1 hypoplasia compared to "textbook" circulation. In the presence of P1 hypoplasia, significantly increased volume flow was demonstrated in the ipsilateral internal carotid , with decreased basilar artery flow. This effect appeared most significant for anterior circulation anatomical variants (i.e. A1 hypoplasia or absence) indicating that asymmetries in volume flow between the internal carotid arteries may not necessarily be due to vascular disease but may instead be due to variations in the anatomy of the Circle of Willis.

#### Ultrastructural organisation of intracranial arteries

Human intracranial arteries are muscular vessels comprising of three main layers:

- 1. An outer tunica adventitia which consists mostly of type-1 collagen,
- 2. A tunica media comprised primarily of vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) with an extracellular matrix consisting of type I and III collagen fibres, and
- 3. An inner layer, the tunica intima, comprising of a single layer of endothelial cells adjacent to the lumen, separated by a distinct internal elastic lamina (IEL) of elastin[84, 95, 96].

Structural integrity of these vessels is maintained by the media layer via the highly organised, circumferential orientation of the VSMCs and IEL [96, 97]. Malleability of the vessel wall is imparted by the VSMCs. Thus, the VSMCs, in concert with the IEL and collagen fibres, allow the vessel wall to withstand significant the haemodynamic stressors imparted upon it over the course of the cardiac cycle without sustaining any significant injury. The tensile strength of the artery wall is derived from the thin layers of type-I and –III collagen fibres, [98], with types I, III, IV and V embedded in endothelial and VSMC basement membranes[99].

Despite these characteristics, intracranial arteries are structurally weaker than their systemic counterparts. Intracranial arteries are generally thinner walled, do not exhibit an external elastic lamina (EEL), nor vasa vasora, and have a thin tunica media. They are also relatively "exposed"; they do not benefit from an organ capsule or wrapping hilar ligaments (i.e. structures such as the hepatic ligament), with the surrounding CSF usually exerting a pressure of approximately 12cm H2O.

Remodelling of the extracellular matrix has been associated with many vascular diseases, including abdominal aortic aneurysm formation and atherosclerosis[100, 101]. Degenerative changes in the arterial wall manifest as a decrease in the number of mural cells and excess deposition of myointimal fibrous tissue[102, 103], with constant remodelling of wall structures. This results in intimal hyperplasia, loss of clear demarcation between the various layers, and disorganised muscle layer[103, 104]. The composition of the affected vessel wall compared to normal arteries is also changed. Diseased arteries exhibit type 1 collagen and fibronectin dispersed throughout the tissues; in normal arteries the distribution of type 1 collagen is confined to the adventitia, and fibronectin to the media. Thinning of the media layer due to VSMC loss is seen in aneurysm propagation and progression [46, 105].

The unique anatomy of intracranial arteries may make them more predisposed to haemodynamic stress, and thus, aneurysm formation. As discussed, a unique microscopic feature of intracranial arteries is small foci of discontinuity of the tunica media, variously named the medial gap, medial defect, or medial raphe[29, 30, 96]. Medial gaps are almost invariably present at bifurcation points, however why this is so remains unexplained, however their morphology and width appears to be dependent on the angle subtended at the bifurcation, with wider gaps seen at narrower branch angles[84]. Their frequency also appears to increase with age [29, 106]. The organisation of collagen and smooth muscle cells along a straight length of artery is mainly circumferential, with a lesser presence of longitudinal fibres in the outer adventitia[97, 98, 107] At arterial bifurcations, however, the collagen fibres in medial gaps exhibit a highly aligned organisation with fibres and fibrils running parallel to each other; at the apex of the bifurcation these track perpendicular to the long axis of the parent artery [97]. Finlay et al[97] likened this structure to a "tendon under load"; which imparted increased strength at the bifurcation apex. This increased strength, however, was noted by the authors to increase the vulnerability of the vessel walls immediately adjacent to haemodynamic stress, with distension of the vessel wall more likely at the discontinuity at the edge of the band.

#### **Role of Genetic Factors**

Genetic factors are thought to substantially contribute to intracranial aneurysm formation[4, 108]. Multiple identical twin[12, 109], family[4, 63, 110-112] and population-based epidemiology studies have suggested genetic predisposition plays a significant role in aneurysm formation, however no study has yet identified a definite association to any particular gene[4]. It would appear that a combination of genetic and environmental factors working in concert lead to aneurysm pathogenesis; no one factor is sufficient to cause an aneurysm in isolation. Thus, the identification of a single gene exerting a dominant effect in aneurysm pathogenesis seems unlikely, however this remains the focus of considerable interest.

Unruptured aneurysms are identified in approximately 10-15% of first-degree relatives of patients presenting with SAH [113, 114]. These aneurysms are more usually multiple [115], and appear to confer an increased risk of rupture at a smaller size and at a younger age; 70% of familial aneurysms rupture by the age of 50 versus 43% of non-familial aneurysms [111, 116] [117]. Interestingly, aneurysms in siblings tend to rupture in the same decade, with female family members exhibiting a higher incidence of rupture[114, 118]. This may reflect an interaction between genetic predisposition and a contributory effect of oestrogens.

Although the familial nature of aneurysms is well recognised, this determination has largely arisen based on studies of first-degree relatives of selected cases. More detailed, population-based investigation is limited by the lack of large, comprehensive population-based genealogical databases. In their population-based analysis of the familial nature of aneurysms (intracranial, abdominal aortic and other types), Cannon-Albright[119] et al identified a high incidence of intracranial, abdominal aortic and other aneurysm types in certain families, suggesting a genetic component in aneurysm pathogenesis. Data obtained from 279,002 death certificates and weighting for mean degree of

relatedness ascribed a relative risk for aneurysm formation in first-degree family members of 3.67, 2.07 and 13.0 for intracranial, abdominal aortic and other aneurysms respectively. Each aneurysm type showed significant evidence of increased familiality. Although the authors conceded insufficient evidence to prove the hypothesis of a genetic susceptibility towards aneurysm formation, their data was suggestive of such a trait. Although some pedigree clusters of abdominal aortic aneurysm revealed concomitant intracranial and other aneurysms amongst their descendants, presence of an intracranial aneurysm did not appear to confer an increased risk of abdominal aortic or other aneurysms.

Over the past decade, a number of studies have described an anticipation effect in familial aneurysms, i.e. that in family pedigrees where aneurysms are seen in consecutive generations, the mean age of aneurysm rupture in patients is significantly higher than that of their affected children[120, 121], with mean differences in age of onset of aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage reported at 19.8 years (range -3 to 38)[120] and 21.2 years[121]. Ruigrok et al, referencing other hereditary, autosomal dominant conditions, hypothesised that this phenomenon may be due to the transmission of an unstable trinucleotide repeat sequence, increasing in size through subsequent generations. Huntington's disease, myotonic dystrophy, and spinocerebellar ataxia type 1, 2, 3 and 7 also exhibit an anticipatory effect[120, 122, 123]. As anticipation is a likely feature of familial aneurysm transmission, an unaffected parent may subsequently develop an aneurysm after diagnosis in their offspring[120].

#### **Connective tissue disorders**

Approximately 5% of intracranial aneurysms are thought to be associated with a recognised heritable connective tissue disorder[109, 114, 124]. Connective tissue and extracellular matrix disorders have also been associated to varying degrees with pre-aneurysmal change, with Autosomal Dominant Polycystic Kidney disease (ADPKD, polycystin)[125], Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome (EDS IV, COL3A1 collagen)[126], pseudoxanthoma elasticum (PXE)[127], supravalvular aortic stenosis (SVAS, elastin)[128] and Fibromuscular Dysplasia being long recognised [15, 114, 129].

The most well-known association of a heritable condition with intracranial aneurysms is Autosomal Dominant Polycystic Kidney Disease (ADPKD), intracranial aneurysms being identified in up to 10% of patients with the condition. Although SAH is a major cause of morbidity and mortality in these patients, ADPKD patients make up a tiny minority (estimated to be approximately 0.3%) of all SAH patients[57, 130].

In a similar manner, although studies have suggested an association between Ehlers-Danlos IV and aneurysm formation[131, 132], the association is weaker again than that between ADPKD and aneurysm formation, with these patients comprising an even smaller number of total patients presenting with SAH. Furthermore, aneurysms in patients with ED IV tend to be of the fusiform type in contrast to the saccular type more usually seen in patients with idiopathic aneurysms[133]. Other heritable disorders associated with an increased incidence of aneurysm pathogenesis include Osteogenesis Imperfecta, Pseudoxanthoma elasticum, Supravalvular Artic Stenosis, Neurofibromatosis type-1 and Marfan's syndrome.

The overall incidence of heritable connective tissue disorders is probably underestimated due to variability in phenotypic expression and although many are inherited in an autosomal dominant fashion, family history is frequently negative as the disease arises as a new mutation [109]. The

causal relationship, however, between many of these disorders and aneurysm pathogeneis remains to be conclusively proven and uncertainty exists as to the significance of the contribution of any of these conditions to risk of aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage. Prevalence of aneurysms is higher in some of these disorders (especially APKD and ED IV) than in the general population, but this increase is only modest, with systemic studies of larger groups of affected patients demonstrating that aneurysms are an infrequent clinical manifestation in the disorder[131, 134] Polymorphisms in genes encoding for elastin (ELN), A-1 antitrypsin (AAT), Collagen-III (COL3A1), endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), endoglin (ENG), Polycystin (PKD-1), (FBN1) and transforming growth factor –beta receptors have all been implicated in aneurysm pathogenesis[15]. Large, genome-wide studies have identified potential loci for aneurysms on 2p13[7] on 7q11, 14q22, 5q22-31[135], and on 19q13.3[8]. An allelic association for aneurysm formation has been shown for genes encoding for elastin (ELN, 7q11.2) and Collagen type 3A2 (COL1A2, 2q31)[14, 135]. Such associations, however, may give rise to the identification of false positives, and there are indications for locus and allelic heterogeneity between different ethnic groups[136]

#### Collagen, Elastin and Connective Tissue.

Abnormalities in collagen and elastin formation and turnover are thought to play a key role in aneurysm formation.

Elastin is synthesised in fibroblasts, endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells and chondroblasts. It is secreted as a soluble, 72kDA monomer (tropoelastin) which alternates hydrophobic (responsible for elastic properties) and lysine rich (required for lysl oxidase-mediated covalent cross-linkage between monomers) sequences. The net effect of these alternating sequences is formation of a highly insoluble network of elastic fibres in the extracellular space[137, 138]. Elastic fibres are formed from an insoluble core of elastin surrounded by a lattice of myofibrils. Elastin is secreted as a precursor

protein (tropoelastin) which is cross-linked into a pre-existing microfibrillar matrix [128, 139]. The major microfibrillary components are Fibrillin 1 and 2 (FBN-1, -2) [140].

Types I and III collagen are the major extracellular matrix components of vessels, representing approximately 80-90% of the total arterial collagen content, and are responsible for most of the tensile strength of the vessel wall[136]. It appears only Type-III collagen is associated with vascular disease[140]. Type-III collagen is composed of three identical a- subunits which are secreted as procollagen precursors[141]. After secretion, these procollagens are processed to form mature, insoluble collagens, which aggregate to form banded fibrils[128]. Type-III, or reticular fibrils are mostly found in tissues exposed to periodic stresses and assist in the organisation of Type-I collagen networks. These fibrils are the primary source of tensile strength of the vessel wall[128].

#### **Collagen Disorders**

#### **Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome Type IV**

Ehlers-Danlos syndrome is a heterogenous group of connective tissue disorders characterised by hypermobility of joints, fragile or hyperelastic skin, easy bruising and abnormal scarring[109]. Patients exhibit characteristic facies of expressive eyes, thin nasal bridge, thin lips, lobeless ears and a "prematurely aged" appearance[109, 115]. Of the ten currently classified subtypes, Type IV (ED IV) is the least common but most lethal, with a prevalence of approximately 1 in 50,000 to 500,000 persons[109, 128, 142].

Type III collagen is the major constituent of distensible tissues, including arteries and veins. The gene responsible for ED IV encodes for the pro-a1 chains of type III pro-collagen (COL3A1) and is located on chromosome 2. Multiple mutations of this gene have been identified, and are acquired in either an autosomal dominant manner (~50%) or as a de-novo mutation (~50%)[143]. There does not appear to be a correlation between the nature or location of the mutation and the expression or severity of the phenotype, however some studies suggest null mutations may result in more severe disease [131]. Although multiple studies have revealed evidence of abnormal type III collagen production in the absence of ED IV, COL3A1 mutations are uncommon amongst patients with spontaneous intracranial aneurysms[109, 144, 145]

#### **Osteogenesis Imperfecta**

Osteogenesis Imperfecta (OI) is a heterogenous group of connective tissue disorders characterised by bone fragility and decreased bone mass [146, 147]. It is predominantly caused by dominant mutations affecting synthesis of type I collagen, however recessive and X-linked inheritance have also been described[146, 147]. The prevalence of OI in all its forms has been estimated at between 67 per 100,000 people [148]. Typical extra-skeletal manifestations of the condition include hyperlaxity of ligaments and skin, dentinogenesis imperfecta, blue sclerae and hearing loss. The original Sillence Classification of OI described four subtypes by primary clinical characteristics and pattern of inheritance, namely (i) mostly dominant inheritance with blue sclera, (ii) lethal perinatal subtype, (iii) progressively deforming subtype and (iv) mostly dominant inheritance with normal sclera. These subtypes were classified on the basis of clinical findings to reflect the spectrum of severity of the condition from mild (OI type I) to lethal (OI type II) and severely deforming (OI type III) to minimally deforming (type III). The observation that each of the four subgroups displayed slightly different modes of inheritance (predominantly autosomal dominant) indicated genetic heterogeneity in OI[146]. An internal deletion in COL1A1 was first described in OI type II[149]; subsequent gene studies revealed mutations in COL1A1 (encoding for a-1 collagen chains) and COL1A2 (encoding for a-2 collagen chains) in all OI types. A total of 17 genetic causes of OI have since been described, however COL1A1/2 mutations resulting in qualitative deficiencies of Type I collagen still account for approximately 90% of OI in patients of European origin where a defect has been detected[132, 150]. The number of subtypes has since been expanded up to OI XIV with the discovery of these multiple genetic defects, however these phenotypes may not be mutually exclusive and retain comparable clinical and radiological characteristics of the original clinical description of subtypes I-IV. Thus, the preferred nosology remains phenotypic, adding PI type V (presumed autosomal dominant).

Neurological complications of OI such as basilar invagination and fragility of blood vessels are well recognised[148, 151] and may be more prevalent in OI type IV[146]. Neurovascular manifestations of OI such as spontaneous carotid-cavernous fistula[152], vertebral artery dissection[132] and aneurysm formation[153-155] have been reported. As type III rather than type I collagen provides most of the tensile strength in vessel walls; this may account for the relative paucity of vascular complications in OI relative to other disorders of collagen biosynthesis such as ED IV.

#### Autosomal Dominant Polycystic Kidney Disease

Autosomal Polycystic Kidney Disease (ADPKD) is a systemic hereditary disorder accounting for 8-10% of cases of end-stage renal disease. It is characterised by cyst formation in ductal organs, principally the kidneys and liver, and is associated with various cardiovascular, musculocutaneous and gastrointestinal abnormalities [156, 157]. It occurs in 1 in 400-1000 persons. The gene responsible has been located on the short arm of chromosome 16 (16p13.3)[158]. PKD1 encodes for polycystin-1, a, 11-pass membrane protein mediating cell-cell and cell matrix interactions and is responsible for 85% of ADPKD cases. PKD2, mutations of which gene are responsible for the majority of the remainder, codes for polycystin-2; a 6-pass membrane protein homologous to voltage-gated Ca++ channels. PKD1 is believed to interact with PKD2 in signal transduction from extracellular ligands [159-161]. Germline mutations in both genes comprise missense, splice site and both small deletions and insertions[162] Both polycystin-1 and -2 are strongly expressed in the vascular smooth muscle and endothelium of patients with ADPKD, suggesting that the development of vascular pathology is directly linked to the PKD mutation and polycystin dysfunction in the arterial wall rather than secondary to the arterial hypertension arising from chronic renal dysfunction[163-166].

The prevalence of intracranial aneurysms in the ADPKD population has been estimated at approximately 8%, approximately five times higher than that of the general population [166]. Aneurysms are identified in up to 25% of patients at autopsy[132, 158]. Persistent foetal carotidbasilar anastomoses are a relatively frequent angiographic variant in ADPKD; it has previously been suggested that this aberrant anatomy may be a predisposing factor in aneurysm formation[167, 168]. In contrast to the general population, aneurysms in these patients arise most commonly from the middle cerebral artery appear to show a slight propensity for males, and rupture at an earlier age[132].

The incidence of SAH in ADPKD has been estimated at approximately 1 in 2000 person years[158, 169], which although five times the rate in the general population, is roughly proportionate to the increased prevalence of aneurysms in this group, thus the overall risk of SAH is probably similar to that of the general population [169]. The earlier mean age of SAH and the potentially devastating sequelae of this, however, has prompted some authors to advocate screening for asymptomatic aneurysms in either all patients with ADPKD[162] or in certain subgroups (e.g. younger patients, family history of aneurysm or SAH, uncontrolled hypertension etc.)[158]. This targeted screening, along with general risk factor reduction (cessation of smoking, control of hypertension, etc.) may represent a sensible stop gap approach pending further studies [166]. Interestingly, in one study by Chapman[167]et al, patients with ADPKD experienced a significantly increased incidence of transient neurological deficits after undergoing Digital Subtraction Angiography, which appeared to subsequently resolve without neurological deficit. This may have implications for the undertaking of catheter angiography in ADPKD in future clinical or research settings.

#### **Elastin Disorders**

#### Supravalvular Aortic Stenosis

Supravalvular Aortic Stenosis (SVAS) is an autosomal dominant systemic elastin arteriopathy which usually manifests as thickening of the media and intima of the great arteries. Its prevalence is approximately 1 in 13,000-20,000 live births [128, 137].

SVAS is classically associated with Williams-Beuren Syndrome (WBS); a complex developmental syndrome manifesting with neurobehavioural, craniofacial, cardiovascular and metabolic abnormalities[137]. SVAS may arise in conjunction with WBS or as a non-syndromic variant. The gene causing the syndromic variant has been isolated to a microdeletion at 7q11.23, which encompasses 27 genes, including the elastin gene (ELN) [170]. The non-syndromic version is

recognised as separate entity as the patients do not present with the other features of WBS syndrome, however is also caused by a mutation of ELN[171, 172]. When WBS SVAS patients and spontaneous SVAS patients are compared, it appears that hemizygosity for elastin causes SVAS, but not the other characteristic features of WBS[128, 173]. Point mutations, deletions and translocations involving the ELN gene have been described in the non-syndromic version, and the genetic defect has been implicated in hypertension and intracranial aneurysms[174].

#### **Pseudoxanthoma Elasticum**

Pseudoxanthoma elasticum (PXE) is a rare inherited disorder of the elastic fibres of the skin, ocular and cardiovascular systems. Its' prevalence has been estimated at approximately 1 in 100,000 per population [175]. Both autosomal dominant and recessive inheritance has been described[175-179]. The disease gene has been localised to the short arm of chromosome 16[175].

Both extracranial and intracranial vessels are affected. Cerebrovascular complications typically present as cerebral infarction (presumably via carotid stenosis or occlusive disease of the carotid or vertebral arteries) which are often multiple, typically present in the fifth or sixth decade (sometimes as early as the third decade)[180]. Infarction of the cervical spinal cord has also been described[132]. Several cases of aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage associated with PXE have been reported [127, 181, 182]. Aneurysms associated with PXE are frequently located in the cavernous sinus, and may present with acute oculomotor palsy[127, 183, 184]. Several cases of spontaneous intracranial haemorrhage without reference to an underlying aetiology have also been reported[185, 186].

#### Marfan's Syndrome

Marfan's syndrome is an autosomal dominant connective tissue disorder arising from mutations in the gene encoding for fibrillin-1 (FBN-1), giving rise to specific skeletal, ocular, cardiovascular,

pulmonary, connective tissue and CNS findings. The gene encoding for Fibrillin has been localised to chromosome 15. Although multiple mutations have been identified in patients with Marfan's syndrome [187, 188], a specific mutation causing Marfan's syndrome in the fibrillin gene is yet to be identified. The syndrome affects approximately 1 in 10,000-20,000, and is usually easily recognised by the characteristic phenotype of tall stature, dolichostenomelia, arachnodactyly and sternal deformities, however the variable expression of the phenotype may make diagnosis difficult [189].The most common cause of death from the syndrome in children is severe aortic or mitral valve regurgitation, whereas in adults it is acute aortic dissection [132]. The most common vascular complication is probably aortic dissection extending to the innominate and internal carotid arteries, causing sudden death, cerebral ischemia, or, in the case of lesions involving the spinal arteries, paralysis [190]. Spontaneous dissection of the common carotid arteries and extracranial internal carotid and vertebral arteries has also been reported[132, 191].

Intracranial aneurysms in patients with Marfan's syndrome may be saccular, fusiform or dissecting [109, 115, 192]. These aneurysms tend to be large, exert mass effect on surrounding structures[132] and appear to show a propensity for the cavernous segment of the proximal internal carotid artery[132, 193]. Vessels may be excessively fragile and tortuous.

Despite multiple reports proposing an association between Marfan's and a propensity to intracranial aneurysm formation, this link now appears doubtful[194]. This may in part be due to the natural history of the disease. Acute aortic dissection causing death peaks in Marfan's patients in the fourth decade[195], preceding the peak age of incidence of subarachnoid haemorrhage in the sixth decade[18, 37, 196, 197], thus fewer patients with Marfan's syndrome may have the opportunity to develop a mature aneurysm. Stehbens [198] et al described atrophic changes in the middle cerebral artery and with aneurysm formation in a patient with Marfan's syndrome, suggesting the pathogenesis of intracranial aneurysm formation in patients with Marfan's is no different to the mechanism seen in those without the syndrome.

#### **Neurofibromatosis Type-1**

Neurofibromatosis Type-1 (NF-1) is a progressive systemic disease caused by mutations in the gene encoding for neurofibromin on chromosome 17q11.2. The neurofibrin protein is similar to other tumour suppressor gene products, with a centrally located domain homologous to GTPase-activating protein (GAP). Neurofibromin is thought to have a regulatory role in the development of connective tissue, including vascular connective tissue, via an effect on microtubular function[109, 199], however as the gap domain encompasses only 10% of the protein, neurofibromin may have multiple other as-yet-to-be-determined functions[200].

The most common vascular pathology in patients with NF-1 is hypertension secondary to renal artery stenosis [201]. Many small series studies and case reports [202, 203] associate NF-1 with intracranial aneurysm formation, most large series of NF-1 patients do not [194, 204]. Where they occur, they may be saccular, fusiform or dissecting, and often coexist with intracranial arterial occlusive disease, which may complicate endovascular management [109, 205]. Surgical intervention for these aneurysms is often complicated by excessive vascular fragility and distortion of the normal anatomical landmarks caused by sphenoid wing dysplasia [109]. The clinically important question as to whether a definite association between NF-1 and intracranial aneurysm formation can be made remains unclear, however there are an increasing number of reported cases [206-208], leading some authors[207] to advise screening for aneurysms in these patients. Other large studies, however, have failed to demonstrate an increased incidence of intracerebral aneurysms[209].

#### **Angiogenic factors**

#### **Renin Angiotensin System**

The renin-angiotensin system (RAS) has been long recognised as playing an important role in pathological vascular remodelling seen in several cardiovascular diseases. Angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) is an ectoenzyme expressed in two forms in humans; a somatic form and a smaller isoenzyme exclusive to the testis. Somatic ACE circulates in the plasma and is particularly abundant on the endothelial surface[210]. The system plays a critical role in the regulation of systemic blood pressure. Briefly, ACE catalyses the conversion of inactive angiotensin-I (A-I) to physiologically active angiotensin-II (A-II). A-II a potent vasoconstrictor and the major effector of the system which exerts its effect via an AT-1 receptor. ACE may also influence blood pressure indirectly by inhibition of other vasoactive compounds such as the hypotension-inducing peptide bradykinin [211].

Several studies support the role for ACE in intracellular signalling in endothelial cells[210]. In addition to its effects on blood pressure, A-II has positive inotropic and chronotropic effects on the myocardium, and is a regulator of vascular growth[212, 213]. Considerable interest has been focused on the association between deletion and insertion polymorphisms in the ACE gene and vascular disease [210, 211]. At the genomic level, the insertion ([I] allele) or deletion ([D] allele) in intron 16 of the ACE gene correlate with decreased and increased plasma levels of ACE respectively. The D allele has been associated with a number of vascular pathologies including hypertension[211], left ventricular hypertrophy[214] and myocardial infarction[215] [216], however these associations remain the subject of debate and have not been consistently replicated[217]. Up-regulation of the RAS plays a major role in the pathogenesis of abdominal aortic aneurysm formation via facilitation of SMC migration, proliferation and hypertrophy, resulting in a thickened arterial wall. However, in cerebral aneurysm formation a thinning of the arterial wall is seen due to a decreased number of SMCs[218, 219]. The medial thinning seen in cerebral aneurysmal change has been associated with
significantly decreased local expression of ACE, AT-1 receptor and A-II, however exactly how reduced levels of ACE might contribute to aneurysm formation remains unclear. One possible explanation is that a decreased level of ACE might result in a blunted response of the vessel wall to haemodynamic stress, in turn resulting in decreased medial remodelling [220]. The [I] allele and genotype of ACE has been reported to be significantly associated with cerebral aneurysm formation and risk of SAH[212, 221]. These findings have been contradicted by others[6, 216]. A comprehensive metaanalysis undertaken by McColgan et al did not find a statistically significant association[222]between ACE polymorphism and increased risk of cerebral aneurysm formation.

### Nitric Oxide Synthase

The role of Nitric Oxide Synthase (NOS) in cerebral aneurysm pathogenesis is explored further under "Role of Endothelium". The gene encoding for endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase (eNOS) is located on chromosome 7q35-36 which expresses a number of variants in humans [223]. Functional polymorphisms of the gene may predispose to vascular pathology such as atherosclerosis, hypertension, myocardial infarction, coronary vasospasm and abdominal aortic aneurysm formation [224].

Similarly, eNOS gene polymorphisms have been associated with cerebral aneurysm formation and rupture. Khurana[225, 226] et al, in a series of works analysing genetic data from patients with radiologically proven aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage, identified multiple genetic loci of interest for aneurysm pathogenesis and rupture. One such study reported a statistically significant difference in the distribution of genotypes for eNOS 27 VNTR (Variable Number Tandem Repeats) polymorphism in patients with SAH compared with controls, with heterozygosity for this polymorphism almost three times as prevalent amongst the SAH group [225]. In this study, a minor

allele (4a) containing four repeats of the 27 VNTR gene was found to be over represented in patients with aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage, and appeared to confer an increased odds ratio of 3.95 (p0.007) for aneurysm rupture after controlling for other known risk factors (age, sex, smoking history). This replicated a previous finding by the same authors that polymorphic variants in eNOS alleles conferred an increased risk of aneurysm rupture, the magnitude of which increased in the presence of two or more variant alleles [224]. The same authors have also suggested [226] that a single nucleotide polymorphism (T-786C) may be a factor influencing the size at which an aneurysm ruptures. In this study, heterozygosity for the C-allele was significantly more prevalent in patients with aneurysms greater than 10mm in size at time of rupture. All homozygotes, whether wild-type (i.e. T/T) or abnormal (i.e. C/C) had ruptured aneurysms less than 10mm diameter. The authors postulate homozygosity versus heterozygosity for the gene, rather than the allele itself may be a differentiating factor between small and large diameter ruptured cerebral aneurysms, i.e. differential expression of local eNOS amongst heterozygotes compared with homozygotes may affect the capacity of the vessel wall to withstand other factors leading to aneurysm formation and ultimately rupture [226]. Other similarly structured studies focusing on these polymorphisms, however, have failed to replicate these results [227-229].

# **Platelet Adhesive Glycoproteins**

Platelets play a key role in haemostasis at sites of vascular injury. Endothelial damage exposes type-I collagen fibrils, which absorb von Willebrand factor. Platelets adhere to this exposed subendothelial tissue via binding of membrane glycoproteins (GP Iba to immobilised von Willebrand factor), tethering the platelets to the reactive surface. This interaction also requires synergistic binding of integrins a2b1 and allbb3 (GP IIb-IIIa complex) to their substrates. On the subendothelial surface endogenous von Willebrand factor and adsorbed plasma von Willebrand factor initiate platelet

recruitment, however a2b1 and aiibb3 are key factors for thrombus development[230, 231]. Stable platelet attachment is the first, essential step in this process.

Gene mutations causing modification of platelet function may predispose to haemorrhagic or thrombotic disorders. [232, 233]. Some studies suggest a protective role of prothrombotic clotting factor polymorphisms in primary intracranial haemorrhage [234]. Identification of functional polymorphisms of platelet function has attracted considerable interest [235, 236], with a particular focus on those polymorphisms affecting the structure or levels of expression of adhesive receptors[237-240]. GPIba is the functionally dominant subunit of the platelet GPIb-IX-V receptor complex, with the n-terminal domain of the GPIba chain containing the binding sites for a-thrombin and von Willebrand factor[241]. A number of polymorphisms causing significant structural change on the GPIba subunit affecting binding of von Willebrand factor have been identified [236]. GPIIIa HPA-1 and GPIb HPA-2 are responsible for structural change [237], and GPIa C807T and HPA-5 polymorphisms are associated with levels of expression of GPIb. Injesta et al[236] prospectively evaluated the role of these common functional polymorphisms in the development and severity of SAH, finding no significant associations between GPIba -HPA-2, -VNTR, and GPIa -C807, -HPA-5 polymorphisms in the incidence or severity of SAH. A significant correlation was, however, identified between patients with the GPIIIa HPA-1b genotype (both a/b and b/b) and aneurysm size and incidence of rupture, with patients carrying this allele significantly under-represented in the SAH cohort compared with controls. These patients also presented with aneurysms of significantly larger size than those with HPA-1 a/a genotype. The protective effect appeared most pronounced in patients exhibiting aneurysms <9mm in diameter, however was less apparent in patients with aneurysms >9mm. Clinical and radiographic severity of SAH was also significantly lower in this cohort.

No difference in mortality was identified, however a trend towards increased 30-day survival was seen, suggesting the thrombophilic phenotype arising from this polymorphism conferred a

decreased incidence of aneurysm rupture in patients with small aneurysms, and a reduction in severity of haemorrhage in the event of aneurysm rupture. These patients did, however, have an increased incidence of ischaemic events than those with the HPA-1 a/a genotype, supporting a previous hypothesis that polymorphisms in genes involved in the clotting cascade may exert a mild, but opposite effect in the pathogenesis of haemorrhagic and thrombotic disorders[234, 242]. A small number of control patients in this study were found to carry both the GPIIIa –HPA-1 and GPIba – HPA-2 polymorphism; this appeared to confer a strong protective influence against aneurysm rupture, again strengthening previous suggestions that a combination of polymorphisms in may amplify their overall protective effects, which may explain their relatively high frequency in the general population [234, 236]

### Lipoprotein Metabolism

#### **Role of Apolipoprotein A**

The association between apolipoprotein metabolism and cerebral aneurysm pathogenesis remains the subject of debate. Elevated serum levels of apoA-1 are an independent risk factor for atherosclerosis[243]. Elevated levels of apoA-1 have been associated with aneurysm pathogenesis in some studies[244-246], however no such association was found in others[247]. Given the correlation between high levels of apoA-1, atherosclerosis, and the presence of asymptomatic intracranial aneurysms, Caird et al[248] investigated the role of apoA-1 in early aneurysmal change and subsequent pathogenesis. Using immunohistochemical analysis with anti-apoA-1 monoclonal antibodies on the walls of 25 human aneurysms and 23 feeding vessels, apoA-1 immunopositivity was demonstrated in aneurysm walls both in the presence and absence of atherosclerosis, and in 86% of feeding vessels. This suggests a possible role for apoA-1 in early aneurysmal change. Of note, deposition of apoA-1 in the aneurysm wall was observed to occur in a multilayered fashion, suggesting intermittent deposition of apoA-1 over multiple growth and repair cycles. Similar

patterns of mural deposition were observed in cerebral arteriovenous malformations and atherosclerotic plaques in Circle of Willis vessels however no deposits were seen in cerebral cavernous malformations. This observation strongly suggests that apoA-1 deposition occurs via a pressure mediated effect. Whilst no direct correlation has yet been proven between apoA-1 polymorphisms and early aneurysmal change, the possibility remains that elevated levels of apoA-1 may be involved in the induction of early aneurysmal change in the vessel wall [246, 248].

Zhao et al[249] observed an association between a pentanucleotide repeat polymorphism of the apoA-1 gene and early aneurysmal pathogenesis using PCR and non-denatured polyacrylamide gens electrophoresis in a small study of 58 patients with angiographically diagnosed aneurysms. The data revealed two sites of sequence variance in the 5' control region of the apoA-1 gene which differed significantly between the aneurysm and control cohorts.

#### **Role of Apolipoprotein E**

Apolipoprotein E (apoE) is a plasma glycoprotein involved in lipid metabolism, specifically the highly atherogenic apo B containing lipoproteins, and mediates the cellular uptake of lipid complexes through interaction with specific apoE and low-density lipoprotein receptors [250, 251]. ApoE is highly polymorphic, and is the primary mediator of cholesterol and lipid transport in the brain [252]. ApoE is produced by astrocytes in response to neuronal injury[253, 254] and exhibits complex neuroprotective functions [255]. The gene is located on the long arm of chromosome 19. It has three common alleles: e2, e3, and e4 each of which encode for three major isoforms of the protein: apo – E2, -E3 and –E4, thus six different genotypes may be expressed. ApoE is an effective free radical scavenger and ApoE polymorphisms have been shown to modify the acute response to brain trauma, which may exert a detrimental effect in patients with brain injury and subarachnoid haemorrhage [252, 255, 256]. Other polymorphisms have been associated with ischaemic cerebrovascular disease[257], lobar intracerebral haemorrhage associated with cerebral amyloid

angiopathy [258-260], and neurodegenerative disorders such as Alzheimer's disease[261]. Although some studies have identified an association between ApoE e4 and subarachnoid haemorrhage in certain populations [257], similar findings have not been replicated in others[251].

#### **Growth Factors and Cytokines**

Remodelling of the vessel wall both in the course of normal cell turnover is mediated by growth factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), transforming growth factor b (TGF $\alpha$ b), basic fibroblast growth factor and its receptors (bFGF) and (bFGFRs)[262]. Altered expression of these factors may predispose to aneurysm formation (previous studies have suggested differences in allelic frequency at the FGF1 locus on 5q31 may be associated with findings in the vessel wall consistent with those seen in early aneurysmal change). Although a haplotype association was observed with the combination of 10 SNPs of bFGFR1, significant haplotype associations were not observed with combinations of two, three or four SNPs[9]. Increased expression of various growth factors such as TGF $\alpha$ a [263], VEGF[264], local RAS and platelet derived growth factor (PDGF)[265] have been observed in models of aneurysm pathogenesis, however identification of a genetic polymorphism leading to increased expression of any one of these factors remains elusive.

### **Role of Haemodynamic Stress**

The concept of haemodynamic stress causing pathological vascular remodelling and early aneurysmal change has been extensively investigated. Environmental risk factors such as hypertension and cigarette smoking exert a generalised pathological effect on the vasculature, One would expect that this would lead to the formation of pathological lesions a random distribution[43]. However the opposite is the case; in the case of aneurysms these occur with a high degree of predictability in specific locations[100, 266]. Most aneurysms are located along the Circle of Willis, showing a propensity for arterial bifurcations at the branch points of parent and daughter arteries, or, less commonly, along the convexity of curved arteries[43, 266-268]

# Haemodynamic forces

Cyclic stretch refers to the elongation of cells due to periodic vascular distension, pulsatile pressure (force applied across the luminal surface as a pressure wave) and Wall Shear Stress (WSS); the tangential or "frictional" force applied to the vessel wall by normal blood flow[269-272, 273.]. In the microcirculation, WSS is regulated to a set point that is a function of local transmural pressure[274]. The cerebral arteries exhibit an optimum blood flow/vessel radius relationship in so far as their luminal diameter is determined locally in order to maintain a constant WSS, both under physiological and pathological conditions[275].

WSS acts as a biological stimulator governing a wide variety of biological processes in the vasculature, including maintenance of optimum blood flow/vessel luminal diameter relations by regulation of vasoactive substances derived from the endothelium (mainly NO and prostacyclins) [42, 274, 276-278]. Under normal conditions, sustained physiological levels of WSS lead to the endothelial cells adapting a structural organisation and alignment, which firmly adheres them to the underlying substratum thus minimising friction between the endothelium and blood mass flow[43,

279]. In addition, the endothelial cells exhibit changes in gene expression, with up-regulation of factors conferring an atheroprotective phenotype and down-regulation of transcription of potentially harmful genes[280-283]

### Haemodynamic micro-environment at bifurcations

Computational Fluid Dynamics (CFD) refers to a computer simulation method which can be used to map in-vivo the flow field associated with intracerebral aneurysms to construct a time dependent, spatially resolved three-dimensional velocity flow field. This method allows accurate calculation and visualisation of the fluid dynamics and blood particle paths, giving a better understanding of the relationships between local haemodynamics associated with aneurysms. Modern CFD studies have enabled three dimensional characterisation of flow fields in human and large animal studies, allowing spatial and temporal correlation between measured haemodynamics and specific tissue responses[284, 285]. Findings of these studies have largely confirmed the earlier assertions of mathematical modelling studies in human and animal models, specifically:

- Intracranial aneurysms occur more often at cerebral bifurcations which experience higher WSS and stronger flow acceleration[286]
- 2. A combination of high WSS and WSS gradient predisposes to aneurysm formation in the apical vessel wall[284], and that high WSS is an important initiating factor in early aneurysmal change[276].

It would appear, therefore, that the true measure of departure from optionality of work is not the difference between the measured and predicted optimal arterial branch angles, but rather the difference in energy expenditure of the system. Although the overall increase in energy cost involved as a result of deviations from optionality in branching angles may be relatively low (approximating 2-

5%), this minor increase in WSS appears to be sufficient to initiate early aneurysmal changes in vessel walls[85, 287].

The temporal shear stress (TSS) gradient refers to the increase or decrease of shear stress over a small period of time at the same location. This occurs throughout the circulatory system due to the pulsatile nature of blood flow; the magnitude becomes significantly increased at the interface between the main flow in a vessel and the recirculation zone.

The spatial shear-stress (SSS) gradient is the difference in shear stress between two close points of a cell at the same point in time. SSS gradients are primarily seen at recirculation zones and bifurcations [277]. In vitro models have shown both TSS and SSS to be dependent on the initial onset of flow and the geometry of the flow chamber [288]. In addition, in-vitro models have indicated that TSS gradients stimulate endothelial cell proliferation, but SSS gradients affect endothelial proliferation no differently than steady uniform shear stress[289].

In vivo, the pulsatile nature of arterial blood flow results in a variation in the magnitude of absolute shear stress on the endothelium over the cardiac cycle. Where the blood flow is unidirectional with no recirculation, these time-averaged fluctuations are positive (i.e. blood flow is in a forward direction), and temporally and spatially uniform, resulting in mean positive shear stress[277, 289]. Arterial bifurcations result in departures from unidirectional flow; in in-vitro models, this results in relatively predictable separation, re-attachment and recirculation patterns. These are recognisable in in-vivo models, and have long been linked with the localisation of atherosclerotic lesions [277].

In order to understand the specific haemodynamic insults leading to maladaptive vascular wall remodelling, Meng[284] et al surgically created new branch points in the common carotid artery in a canine model. After an observational period of either two weeks or two months, the artificial bifurcation was evaluated using in-vivo angiography, the results of which were then spatially

correlated with the histological features of the artery to show the tissue response. The study identified three angiographically distinct flow patterns:

- Region 1 (Region of Impingement): characterised by a stagnation point, with low to normal WSS relative to the baseline level. These are typically seen in straight vessels
- Region II (Region of Accelerating Flow): characterised by high positive WSS and WSS gradient.
- 3. Region III (Recovery region): characterised by negative to zero WSS gradient and high WSS.

The impingement region occurs where blood flow from the parent vessel impinges on the bifurcation apex, resulting in the creation of a stagnation point which raises local pressure by approximately 1mmHg, increasing WSS at the boundaries of the region. This rapid increase in WSS produces a large spatial gradient.

The acceleration region is characterised by high wall stress due to the increase in flow velocity from the impingement region until maximum WSS is reached, marking the distal boundary of the region. The magnitude of the WSS gradient becomes elevated, which persists into the recovery region.

The recovery region is reached when the WSS returns to baseline levels and the WSS gradient returns to zero.

The stagnation point (i.e. where the WSS is zero) arises at a point on the vascular wall of flow reattachment (usually along the outer wall of the bifurcation), resulting in an area of low mean WSS which is more pronounced in systole [290]. During the downstroke of the systolic phase a reversal of flow occurs, which alters the size and spatial migration of the secondary flow patterns [277, 290]. The net effect is a migration of the stagnation point along the outer wall, resulting in a focal area of low temporal and spatial WSS. Using three-dimensional rotational angiography and computational fluid dynamic modelling, Meng mapped these three loci to photomicrographs, enabling the biologic properties of the endothelium and vessel wall cells to be evaluated with reference to the local haemodynamic microenvironment. Although initially histologically indistinct, two distinct patterns of wall remodelling were identified:

1. Hyperplasia forming an intimal pad at the bifurcation apex

This was predominantly a feature of the impingement region. Two morphologies were identified; early intimal hyperplasia, and development of a more mature intimal pad. The early intimal hyperplastic state was characterised by an increased number of cells on the luminal side of the internal elastic lamina, beneath which was deposited a thick layer of largely acellular collagen. The mature intimal pad state demonstrated fewer intimal cells in the hyperplastic region, but a thicker layer of subendothelial collagen with additional layers of elastin, resembling the intimal pad at the apex of a natural bifurcation.

2. Destructive remodelling in the acceleration zone.

The acceleration zone was noted to contain a "shallow groove" in the vessel wall secondary to an overall decrease in the thickness of the media and intima. Microscopic analysis revealed loss of the internal elastic lamina and overlying endothelium, and a prominent collagen matrix containing fewer medial smooth muscle cells.

Given both began as biologically and histologically identical segments, the observed remodelling suggested a distinct response to the specific haemodynamic microenvironment. Constructive hyperplastic remodelling events were localised to the flow-impingement area, suggesting that this may be a physiological repair response similar to wound repair and scar formation. This hypothesis was further strengthened by the author's observation of fibronectin (an important matrix component during tissue repair) was increased in the intimal pad region.

Conversely, the destructive events localised to the acceleration region (i.e. destruction of the internal elastic lamina and loss of the endothelium and smooth muscle cells) resembled those previously observed in both animal and human histological studies of aneurysm pathogenesis[1, 45, 291-294]. These histological findings were spatially correlated with areas of high WSS and WSS gradient, however the other expected histopathological changes of early aneurysm formation were absent. Rather than the expected endothelial cell proliferation in the acceleration region, authors noted instead loss of endothelium. This may have occurred due to the high WSS gradient in the acceleration region, which when combined with the high WSS resulted in endothelial cell dysfunction and denudation. The authors noted early aneurysmal change localised to the acceleration zone, suggesting that high WSS contributes to aneurysm pathogenesis.

Meng's model unsuccessfully attempted to induce hypertension in the dogs using both a high-salt diet and renal ligation prior to the carotid artery procedure. Previous animal models of intracranial aneurysm formation have shown that neither systemic hypertension nor degeneration of the elastic lamina alone is sufficient to cause formation of an aneurysm[295, 296]. It would appear, therefore, that Meng had inadvertently demonstrated that the combination of high WSS with a high WSS gradient is sufficient to induce early aneurysmal change; a potentially crucial insight into the role of haemodynamic stress in macroscopic aneurysm formation.

It is likely that both high and low WSS, working in tandem, have a synergistic effect on early an aneurysmal change; i.e. that pre-aneurysm change in the arterial is caused by high WSS, but further propagation and aneurysm growth are a function of endothelial dysfunction and wall degeneration caused by low WSS. Confirmation of this hypothesis using in-vivo measurements of WSS is obviously impractical, however modern CFD studies using various mesh algorithms have been shown to recreate accurately the cerebral haemodynamic pathophysiology surrounding aneurysms[276, 297-301]. Shojima[276] et al determined that the magnitude of WSS in well-developed aneurysms is insufficient to mechanically tear the aneurysm wall. Rather, excessively low WSS results in further

wall degeneration by inducing apoptosis in endothelial cells[302], wall remodelling and further aneurysm growth[301]. Modern CFDs have revealed considerable variability in aneurysm haemodynamic profiles [276, 297, 303]. Although determining haemodynamic pathophysiology leading to aneurysm growth remains a challenge, there is mounting evidence that morphology, and intra-aneurysm flow dynamics may be more predictive of rupture risk[58, 60, 197, 285, 300, 304-306]}.

### **Role of Endothelium**

The endothelium is a continuous layer of cells connected to each other and the substratum by various adhesive molecules. Previously viewed as an inert membrane lining the circulatory system with the primary function of maintaining vessel wall permeability[307], the vascular endothelium is now known to serve as an important paracrine and autocrine organ in the regulation of vascular wall function [293, 294]. The earliest description of the endothelium as a secretory cell system was made by Heidenhahn in 1891, however it was not until the advent of electron microscopy and the studies of Palade and Gowan [308] in the 1950s that interaction between the endothelium of post capillary venules and lymphocytes was described.

The endothelium is a heterogeneous organ critical in the performance of vital secretory, synthetic, metabolic and immunological functions[309]. The endothelial cell surface area in adults is approximately 1-7m<sup>2</sup>, consisting of approximately 1-6x10<sup>13</sup> cells and lines vessels in virtually every organ system[310]. The endothelium regulates the flow of nutrient substances, blood cells, and other molecules via membrane bound receptors for proteins (e.g. pro- and anti- coagulant factors, growth factors), lipids (e.g. low-density lipoproteins), metabolites (e.g. nitric oxide) and hormones (e.g. endothelins), along with specific junctional proteins and receptors governing cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions[307].

The endothelium also provides a structural barrier between the circulating blood and surrounding tissue, and secretes vascular mediators of critical importance in the maintenance of physiological haemodynamics. Quiescent endothelial cells maintain an antithrombotic luminal surface which facilitates laminar blood flow. Pro-thrombotic, antifibrinolytic microenvironments may be induced by endothelial cells where disturbances to laminar flow are created, such as sites of high WSS or inflammation. Blood flow and pressure are also regulated in part by endothelial release of vasoconstrictors (endothelin, platelet–activating factor) and vasodilators (nitric oxide (NO),

prostacyclins). These are not stored as intracellular granules; their major effects are regulated via localisation of specific cell-surface receptors, through rapid metabolism, or through rapid gene transcription. Some mediators such as prostacyclins, endothelin, and platelet activating factor are expressed primarily in response to external stimuli. The endothelium may also act in a paracrine manner to external stimuli, resulting in vasoconstriction or vasodilation in specific vascular beds[307].

Putative endothelial stem cells migrate, proliferate and differentiate during vasculogenic and angiogenic processes. Mature endothelial cells are highly heterogeneous for different vascular sites and form distinct, system-specific morphotypes[310]. By way of example, in humans, vessels of the liver and spleen are lined with discontinuous endothelial cells to allow trafficking of substances between intercellular gaps. Intestinal villi, endocrine glands and the kidneys are lined with fenestrated endothelial cells to facilitate the selective permeability required for absorption, secretion and filtration respectively[307, 311]. This heterogeneity extends to different vessel calibres within the same organ or system[312].

Endothelial cells are also heterogeneous with respect to their surface phenotype and protein expression; e.g. the expression of von Willebrand factor is not uniform across all endothelial cells, and the expression of tissue-plasminogen activator is limited in-vivo to approximately 3% of the endothelium[307, 311, 313, 314]. This structural heterogeneity highlights the adaptative capacity of the endothelium and allows the endothelial cell to best adapt to the local environment to perform its structural and metabolic functions. In the brain, the endothelium is continuous and connected by tight junctions, which maintain the blood-brain barrier (BBB).

### Nitric Oxide

Nitric oxide (NO) is a heterodiatomic free radical product generated from the oxidation of L-arginine to L-citrulline by nitric oxide synthase (NOS). NOS is expressed in microorganisms, plants and mammals and participates in a diverse range of physiological and pathological functions including neurotransmission, regulation of vascular tone, cellular communication, inflammation and immune responses[315]. In the circulatory system it is constitutively expressed by endothelial cells and its production is modulated by a number of exogenous chemical and physical stimuli and receptor-dependent agonists. There are three different isoforms of NO synthase; endothelial-derived NOS (eNOS), neuronal-derived NOS (nNOS) and inducible NOS (iNOS). The formerly accepted distribution of these isoforms in the vascular wall had been that endothelium expressed eNOS, that perivascular nerves in some (but not all) vessels secrete nNOS, and VSMCs do not express NOS at all[316]. More recent studies have challenged this hypothesis with the discovery that all three isoforms are expressed by VSMCs, with muscular arteries demonstrating a greater magnitude of expression than elastic arteries[317-320]

eNOS derived NO is produced by endothelial cells in response to physiological WSS, and is a crucial factor in autoregulation of the vessel diameter in response to exercise[321]. eNOS mRNA levels increase in direct proportion to the magnitude and duration of the WSS exerted on the endothelium which elicits a biphasic response [322]. The early (i.e. <15min) phase is dependent on the rate of change of shear and is mediated by calcium, calmodulin, and pertussis-toxin insensitive G-Proteins. The later phase is dependent on the magnitude of shear stress and is independent of calcium and calmodulin [323]. eNOS may also be expressed in response to bradykinin, acetylcholine, and aggregating platelets[285]. Endothelial-derived NO has several important effects:

 It maintains basal tone by causing relaxation in vascular smooth muscle cells via its action on guanyl cyclase[324].

- It inhibits platelet aggregation, adhesion, and promotes disaggregation via a cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) dependent mechanism, and acts synergistically with PGI<sub>2</sub> to inhibit other steps in the platelet coagulation cascade[325, 326].
- It also inhibits leukocyte adherence to the to the endothelium[327], smooth muscle cell migration[328] and proliferation[329]

All of these effects serve to limit neointimal proliferation, suggesting a role for NO in vascular reparative mechanisms[307].

nNOS derived NO has been implicated in a wide variety of physiological roles in the cerebral circulation including maintenance of cerebral perfusion, CO<sub>2</sub> reactivity, neurogenic and excitatory amino-acid induced vasodilation and flow-metabolism coupling [426]. nNOS expression is upregulated by various tissues such as endothelial cells, vascular smooth muscle cells, macrophages and nerves[316, 330]. In addition, nitrergic (non-adrenergenic, non-cholinergic) perivascular nerves of the cerebral vasculature contain nNOS. As a neurotransmitter, nNOS allows for relaxation of vascular smooth muscle cells, counterbalancing sympathetic vasoconstriction[316].

Thus, both eNOS and nNOS have a coordinate role in relieving haemodynamic stress. Although originally identified as a constitutively expressed enzyme, nNOS exerts important vasoprotective effects, suppressing both neointimal formation and constrictive vascular remodelling in response to vascular injury in animal models[331]. Studies have suggested that up-regulation of nNOS can compensate for decreased function of eNOS in eNOS -/- mice[332]. nNOS may therefore compensate for the downregulation of eNOS in cerebral arteries[331, 333]. In aneurysm walls, eNOS function is also down-regulated, probably due to endothelial damage. nNOS upregulation by VSMCs may functionally compensate for this[333]; this compensatory effect appears especially relevant in the modulation of leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions [332].

Functional expression of nNOS has been suggested in human, porcine and rodent arteries [334-336]. But due to its upregulation in response to eNOS dysfunction or vascular injury, nNOS cannot be considered a wholly "constitutive" enzyme. Its role in early aneurysmal change in the vessel wall is probably protective as eNOS expression is downregulated due to damage to and hypofunction of endothelial cells in the vessel wall, and nNOS expression is upregulated by VSMCs as a compensatory measure. As damage to the vessel wall persists and the media of the wall becomes more degenerate, nNOS expression may be further reduced, resulting in progression of this early change and potentially macroscopic aneurysm formation.

This proposed compensatory effect has only been observed in small-to-medium sized arteries, and not in the aorta[333]. Sex hormones, particularly oestrogen, have been shown to exert a vasoprotective and anti-inflammatory effect[337], and both up-regulate and down-regulate nNOS production[338, 339]. Oestrogen receptors have been identified on endothelial cells and VSMCs; the interaction of oestrogen with these receptors stimulates the function and proliferation of endothelial cells, reducing vascular tone and oxidative stress[340, 341].

Further evidence suggestive of the compensatory effect of nNOS for eNOS may lie in the observation of the significantly decreased incidence of cerebral aneurysm formation in female eNOS-deficient mice; in these models it would appear that oestrogen exerts a significant protective effect against early aneurysm pathogenesis and development of macroscopic aneurysms[342]. Human epidemiological studies suggest that reduced oestrogen levels in post-menopausal women may predispose to a higher incidence of aneurysms due to a diminution of the collagen content of cerebral arteries[342-344]

The small amount of NO produced by eNOS and nNOS under physiological conditions is thought to be important in cellular signalling events such as blood pressure regulation and neurotransmission[315]. Inducible NO synthase (iNOS), on the other hand, is transcriptionally regulated, and is not normally produced by most cells[345, 346], but can be induced in virtually

every cell if appropriately stimulated[315]. iNOS functions as both a regulator and effector during inflammation and infection; one effect includes direct cytotoxicity towards microorganisms, tumour cells and host cells, in many circumstances as a result of interaction of NO with superoxide to form peroxynitrite, a potent oxidant[315]. An association between tissue damage and NO produced by iNOS has been made in animal models[347]. Shear stress is a major stimulant of iNOS expression in the vascular wall, and its increased expression in aneurysmal microenvironments exposed to variations in WSS has been demonstrated in animal models[347]. When chronically elevated, WSS causes an over-expression of iNOS, generating 100-1000 fold more NO than eNOS or nNOS, which results in endothelial and VSMC damage and degenerative change[347, 348].

iNOS activation is also dependent on cellular exposure to inflammatory stimuli such as bacterial endotoxins, TNF or interlukin-1. iNOS expression is therefore thought to play a central role in chronic inflammation and connective tissue degeneration via endothelial cell proliferation and decrease in cell-cell adhesion within the vessel wall [349]. It is a key upstream regulator of the inflammatory response[350]. In animal models of aneurysm pathogenesis, expression of iNOS appears to be particularly increased at the juxta-apical groove and the intimal pad near the bifurcation apex, which coincides with the area of maximum tissue damage [347]

Increased expression of iNOS and elevated plasma nitrite/nitrate levels have been demonstrated in animal models of AAA formation, where iNOS inhibition leads to the development of smaller AAAs[351]. These studies also suggest ablation of the iNOS gene may delay the progression of AAA formation[348, 350]. Although other studies have demonstrated increased iNOS expression during AAA development, it is not thought to be a crucial factor in induction of experimental intracerebral or aortic aneurysms[348, 349]. iNOS may, however, play a role in macrophage induced VSMC apoptosis. The capacity of NO to induce apoptosis has been well documented in numerous cell types including macrophages and neurons[352, 353], and is thought to occur via accumulation of the tumour suppressor protein p53, inducing cell cycle arrest[354]. In-vitro, this apoptotic effect appears

to arise from natural cell-protective mechanism becoming overwhelmed by high levels of exogenous NO, although whether this is also the case in-vivo remains unclear[315]. Alternatively, this effect may result from the interaction of NO with a superoxide anion to produce peroxynitrite, inducing apoptotic DNA fragmentation and subsequent p53 dependent apoptosis[315, 354, 355].

The peroxynitrite hypothesis is complicated in that NO also exhibits an antiapoptotic effect via induction of cytoprotective stress proteins, cGMP-dependent inhibition of apoptotic signal transduction, or suppression of caspase activity[315]. Therefore, the role of NO-induced apoptosis in cerebral aneurysm pathogenesis is probably dependent on the relative magnitude of expression of NO in the vessel wall. At physiological levels, NO suppresses the apoptotic pathway at multiple points[315]. Reduction and suppression of the caspase protease caspase-3 by NO has been demonstrated using purified human caspases[356], and has been shown to be at least partially responsible for the suppression of NO-induced apoptosis in endothelial cells[357]. Once NO levels increase to supraphysiological levels, however, cellular protective mechanisms become overwhelmed and shift the balance towards apoptotic death[315].

### **Role of Inflammation**

# Introduction

The inflammatory process is crucial in maintaining homeostasis of the circulatory system[358]. It is initiated and maintained by a complex system of interactions between multiple factors and receptors, leading to changes in the integrity of the vessel wall. In the same manner, inflammation plays a central role in the pathophysiology of a number of vascular diseases including atherosclerotic plaque formation, arteritis, and development of abdominal aortic and intracerebral aneurysms[73, 358-360].

Chyatte et al[45] demonstrated a link between inflammation and aneurysm growth and rupture by describing extensive inflammatory and immunological reactions in unruptured aneurysms. These findings were replicated by further studies demonstrating the presence of inflammatory cells (macrophages, T-lymphocytes, B-lymphocytes) in the walls of human aneurysms[45, 103], and increased levels of proteolytic enzymes and MMPs in the serum of some patients harbouring unruptured aneurysms[361]. Complement factor (C-), an important part of the innate and adaptive immune response, was found in almost all subjects with aneurysms[73]. C3, the most abundant complement protein in serum, and C9, the terminal protein of the complement cascade, are used as markers of activation of the complement cascade; both were found in human aneurysms[45]. The findings of Kataoka et al[103], demonstrating inflammatory infiltrates in half (n=10/20) of unruptured, and all (n=40/40) ruptured aneurysms suggests strongly that inflammation plays a key role in early aneurysmal change, progression to macroscopic aneurysm formation, and, ultimately rupture. Whether or not different subsets of inflammatory leukocytes influence the natural history of aneurysms requires further study.

# **Endothelial Dysfunction**

The endothelium of cerebral arteries maintains blood flow by inhibiting coagulation and adhesion of leukocytes and serves as a selectively semi-permeable barrier between the central nervous system and blood cells. It plays a pivotal role in the inflammatory response to pathogens, regulating both innate and adaptive immune responses[362, 363]. Under physiological conditions, the endothelium has a very low level of cell turnover[364].

Activation of endothelial cells initiates an inflammatory cascade resulting in recruitment of leukocytes to the damaged site, which has been proposed as an initiating factor in early aneurysmal change. Inflamed tissue is entered by leukocytes through non-specialised postcapillary venules which have been transiently activated by an inflammatory stimulus to capture leukocytes from the circulation and attract them into tissue[363].

Leukocyte/endothelial cell interactions are facilitated by a number of adhesion molecules and chemo-attractants which function in a multistep cascade initiated by a small group of cell-adhesion molecules (selectins) which capture leukocytes from the bloodstream via transient ligand interactions. These interactions slow down the flow of leukocytes, resulting in them "rolling" along the endothelium (the "rolling phase"). Multiple selectins with subtly differing properties facilitate this process; P-selectin and its ligand P-selectin glycoprotein-1 initiate capturing, E-selectin stabilises and slows down the rolling process, and integrin leukocyte function-associated antigen-1 (LFA-1) further supports rolling and transforms it into the arrested state[363, 365-368].

Chemotactic factors present on the endothelial surface bind to G-protein coupled receptors on the leukocyte surface leading to the activation of leukocyte integrins which further improve the affinity for ligands such as intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (IaneurysmM-1) and vascular cell-adhesion molecule-1 (VaneurysmM-1) on the endothelium (the "firm-adhesion phase")[363] [369]. These two families of aneurysm are also responsible for the subsequent migration of leukocytes through the

endothelium and into the vessel wall ("emigration phase") where they promote further inflammation.

Endothelial erosion promotes leukocyte adherence to the vessel wall, allowing invasion of the IEL by macrophages and leukocytes [103]. The degree of endothelial damage seen in the vessel lumen is dependent on the magnitude of injury to the endothelial cells and capacity for endothelial repair. Although this repair may be facilitated by migration and differentiation of the surrounding endothelium, mature endothelial cells are terminally differentiated and thus have a limited capacity for further proliferation and repair of damaged areas [364].

Endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) are circulating, bone marrow derived cells which share properties with embryonic angioblasts[370]. They are produced by bone marrow in an immature form and change their progenitor properties in the circulation[364]. Endothelial damage and dysfunction appears to be the trigger for release of these cells from the bone marrow, and is regulated by a variety of enzymes, growth factors, ligands and cell surface receptors[364]. Acute myocardial infarction, burn injuries, or vascular trauma such or acute limb ischaemia or coronary artery bypass grafting have been shown to elicit rapid mobilisation of EPCs into the circulation[364, 371]. The process by which these cells subsequently home in upon the damaged vessel, differentiate into mature endothelial cells and effect repair is unclear. Lower levels of circulating EPCs have been correlated with an increased overall cardiovascular risk profile[364, 372-374]; these patients exhibit a decreased number of circulating EPCs which become senescent more rapidly than those of controls. Risk factors specifically associated with intracerebral aneurysm pathogenesis such as hypertension and cigarette smoking have likewise been reported to correlate with decreased levels of circulating EPCs; whether these factors impact directly upon the mobilisation and half-life of EPCs, or, owing to continuous cycles of damage and repair, simply deplete the circulating pool of EPCs requires further study[364, 372, 374].

#### Wall remodelling and Inflammation

The central nervous system is immunologically active, with various immune and inflammatory mediators interacting in a highly orchestrated environment[375]. An inflammatory component to aneurysm pathogenesis was first suggested by Virchow in 1847[376], with other historic studies describing inflammatory cell infiltration at the aneurysm neck[377]. The importance of these early findings were mostly ignored for decades, however various studies intermittently hypothesised inflammation to be a critical factor in aneurysm formation[45, 291]. Interest in this area was rekindled after a number of studies reported inflammatory infiltrates, macrophages, T- and B-lymphocytes in the walls of aneurysms [45, 103, 361] and increased levels of proteolytic enzymes in the serum of patients harbouring aneurysms[361]. An increased level of inflammatory infiltrate and degradation of matrix proteins in the walls of ruptured relative to unruptured aneurysms has been demonstrated[103].

Recent studies have demonstrated inflammatory vessel wall remodelling to be key factors in aneurysm pathogenesis, from early aneurysmal change to rupture[44, 47, 49, 104, 113, 293, 378]. The net effect of the inflammatory response is the balance between pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines. Pro-inflammatory cytokines such as monocyte chemo-attractant protein-1 (MCP-1), IL-1, 8, 18, INF-g and, TNF-a are predominantly secreted by macrophages and lymphocytes. Several studies have demonstrated the presence of these cytokines in aneurysm walls, however it is unclear whether their relative over-activity induces aneurysm pathogenesis, or occurs in response to other pathological insults inducing early aneurysmal change[73, 350, 379]. The relative paucity of antiinflammatory mediators such as IL-10 in the wall suggests either absence or suppression of T helper type-2 (Th-2) cells, however Th-2 cells have previously been demonstrated in the aneurysm wall[73, unpublished data].

Other pro-inflammatory mediators such as leukotrienes (LTs) and various lipid mediators may also contribute to this pro-inflammatory state. LTs are a group of pro- inflammatory lipid mediators

derived from arachidonic acid. 5-lipoxygenase (5-LO) is involved in LT production and has been implicated in various pathophysiological inflammatory disorders including asthma, rheumatoid arthritis and atherosclerosis[73]. They may play an indirect role in the induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF $\alpha$  via LT[380]. 5-LO inhibitors significantly decrease TNF $\alpha$  production; it's exact role in aneurysm pathogenesis remains to be determined, however it may represent a promising target for future therapies.

### Inflammatory cell infiltration of vessel walls

Several studies report inflammatory cell infiltration in the aneurysm wall [45{Frosen, 2004 #88, 113, 291, 378]. Factors triggering inflammatory cell adhesion to and infiltration of the damaged arterial wall are incompletely understood, however loss of normal endothelial cell function is thought to be an important initiating factor[381, 382]. Therapies aimed at attenuating the inflammatory response including NF-KB inhibitors[383], free-radical scavengers, statins[384] and inhibitors of mast cell degeneration [385] have been investigated in animal models. Although these appear to slow aneurysm formation and progression, their role in prevention of aneurysm rupture remains less clear.

As discussed, Chyatte[45] et al demonstrated inflammation and immunological reaction due to focal pockets of matrix metalloproteinases and other proteolytic enzymes in the aneurysm walls of patients with both ruptured and unruptured aneurysms. These infiltrates were dispersed throughout the wall, indicating a generalised inflammatory response. Leukocyte infiltration and VSMC damage in both unruptured and ruptured aneurysms was also observed by Kataoka[103].

# **Matrix Metalloproteinases**

Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) include collagenases, gelatinases, and membrane-type MMPs. These are a family of structurally related, zinc containing proteolytic enzymes which play a key role in embryonic development, wound healing, vascular remodelling, cellular migration, extracellular matrix haemostasis and neointimal formation [386]. They are produced by many tissues and are either secreted from the cell or remain anchored to the plasma membrane.

Their site of action is primarily the cell surface or extracellular space, and activity is tightly regulated on many levels including inhibition of endogenous inhibitors such as a-2 macroglobin and tissue

inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs)[387]. Like MMPs, the expression of TIMPs is controlled under physiological conditions to maintain a balance of production and turnover of the extracellular matrix[388]. Disruption of this balance may result in pathological turnover of matrix. Once activated, MMPs participate in a broad range of physiological and potentially pathological processes. Other molecules whose biological activity is regulated by MMPs include pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF $\alpha$ [389], fibroblast growth factors and receptors (FGF, FGFR) [390], plasminogen and activators of plasminogen[391], and endothelin [392].

# **Nuclear factor**

Nuclear factor-kappa B (NF- $\kappa$ B) is a transcription factor implicated in the inflammatory response[393]. It is present in the cytoplasm in a non-active form and is activated by cleavage of an inhibitor subunit (I $\kappa$ B) in response to inflammatory stimuli. The result is mRNA expression of multiple cytokines, adhesion molecules and growth factors[393]. Transcription and activation of NF- $\kappa$ B from the endothelium upregulates adhesion molecules, triggers macrophage infiltration and creates a pro-inflammatory environment in the adventitia and media[394], and is a major contributing factor in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis[395]. Activated NF- $\kappa$ B has also been demonstrated in aneurysm walls and particularly so in the endothelium. Haemodynamic stress and endothelial injury may be precipitating factors in its transcription[278]. Inhibition of NF- $\kappa$ B has been shown to significantly reduce the incidence of early aneurysmal change when administered within one week of initiation of aneurysm pathogenesis in animal models, suggesting a role for NF- $\kappa$ B in very early aneurysmal change[383] Genes upregulated by NF- $\kappa$ B activation include MMPs, iNOS, IL-1b and MCP-1[396], which are functionally important in aneurysm pathogenesis.

#### **Tumour Necrosis Factor**

Tumour Necrosis Factor–alpha (TNF $\alpha$ ) is a potent pro-inflammatory cytokine which triggers endothelial activation with increased monocyte adhesion; the hallmark of the inflammatory response[73]. It alters the function of the blood brain barrier (BBB) allowing inflammatory cells to cross the endothelium and enter the vascular lumen matrix. In addition to induction of specific cytokines, TNF $\alpha$  may further contribute to matrix degeneration indirectly by activating other proinflammatory signalling molecules such as Tissue Factor (TF), Nitric Oxide (NO), von Willebrand factor and platelet activating factor(PAF)[397]. TNF $\alpha$  may also exert an indirect effect on the aneurysm wall via activation of other signalling molecules such as TF, adhesion molecules for leukocytes, release of IL-1, von Willebrand factor, PAF and endothelin[73, 397].

TNF $\alpha$  amplifies several pro-inflammatory gene pathways and exerts a pro-apoptotic effect on VSMCs. The principal cells producing TNF $\alpha$  are macrophages and monocytes, however it is also produced by B cells, T cells, NK cells, Kupffer cells, glial cells and adipocytes[397]. It acts via distinct receptors, TNFR-1 and -2, the principal difference between which is the presence of a death domain (DD) on TNFR-1 which is absent in TNFR-2[73, 398]. TNFR-1 is constitutively expressed in most tissues and is the key mediator of TNF $\alpha$  signalling for most cell types[398]. It is an important activator of both cell death and survival signals[398-400]. TNFR-2 is expressed in endothelial and immune related cells and has an affinity for TNF $\alpha$  five times that of TNFR-1[400]. Interaction of TNF $\alpha$ with TNFR-1 or -2 induces either an inflammatory response or apoptosis/survival of the cell via recruitment of different adaptor proteins. Jayaraman et al[73] demonstrated significant expression of TNFα in the walls of ruptured aneurysms. TNFα upregulation appears to correlate with a number of known risk factors for aneurysm formation including haemodynamic stress, hypertension, and increasing age. Its production is also upregulated in response to environmental insults such as tobacco smoke and alcohol, which are recognised independent risk factors for aneurysm formation and rupture[73]. TNFα is selectively expressed at regions of increased haemodynamic stress such as arterial branch points and along the curvature of major vessels, and appears to be more significantly expressed in the walls of ruptured aneurysms[73].

The effects of TNFα in a murine animal model of intracranial haemorrhage were explored by Siren et al[401]. Histological examination of the brains of the rats most impaired by intracerebral haemorrhage demonstrated increased infiltration of leukocytes expressing immunoreactive IL-1b, IL-6 and TNFα around blood vessels, cerebral ventricles and meninges. Treatment with a recombinant type-1 soluble human (rh-) TNF receptor completely prevented intracerebral haemorrhage in this model, suggesting TNF-a to be a necessary causal factor for intracranial blood vessel activation and rupture.

Conversely, in small animal models of atherosclerosis, accelerated plaque development was observed in mice lacking the TNFR-1 receptor, suggesting that at least some level of TNFR-1 mediated signalling has a protective effect on the vessel wall.

These seemingly contradictory findings underline the importance of the inflammatory system in cerebrovascular haemostasis. They also suggest that a threshold of TNF $\alpha$  activity is important in intracerebral aneurysm pathogenesis. Jayaraman[73] hypothesised that TNF–a is expressed during early aneurysmal change and is mostly membrane-bound on luminal endothelial cells, leading to endothelial cells activation and further TNF $\alpha$  expression. This in turn leads to endothelial cells

dysfunction and apoptosis, providing an opening for aneurysm formation and infiltration of inflammatory cells into the inner layers of the arterial wall. Subsequent TNFα secretion by these inflammatory cell infiltrates initially causes increased VSMC growth[402], which is swiftly followed by apoptosis due to increased macrophage infiltration, leading to MMP generation and structural breakdown of mural proteins. However, when these inflammatory cytokines are inactivated or reduced beyond a certain threshold by either anti-inflammatory cytokines or other modulators of the inflammatory response, the increased VSMC growth caused by the now attenuated inflammatory response may lead in increased stability in the aneurysm wall, lessening the risk of rupture.

Although there is little definitive evidence implicating  $TNF\alpha$  in aneurysm formation, its strong association with known risk of aneurysm formation and its significant expression in aneurysm walls and role in inflammatory cell infiltration provide a provocative correlation with aneurysm pathogenesis. Characterisation of TNFR- mediated signalling events during aneurysm growth may lead to a better understanding of aneurysm pathogenesis.

# Significance of Fibrosis in aneurysm walls

In contrast with the rapidly evolving vascular changes, oedema and neutrophilic infiltration characteristic of acute inflammatory reactions, fibrosis is an end–phase process typically resulting from chronic inflammation. An inflammatory process, having continued for a protracted period of time (typically several months) leads to tissue remodelling and repair[403]. Most chronic fibrotic disorders have in common a persistent irritant which sustains the ongoing production of growth factors, proteolytic enzymes, angiographic factors and fibrogenic cytokines, which stimulate the deposition of connective tissue elements which progressively remodel and destroy normal tissue architecture[403-406].

Aneurysm walls may remain intact for a very prolonged period[2, 407], suggesting strong maintenance and repair mechanisms. They do, however, tend to increase in size[197, 407], with the aneurysm wall undergoing morphological changes which are likely different in those which remain intact versus those which ultimately rupture[45, 103]. These morphological changes appear to be independent of aneurysm size, location or bleb formation, however some may be associated with younger patient age at presentation [2]

Frosen et al[2], in their histological study of unruptured and ruptured human aneurysms, observed morphological changes associated with remodelling of the aneurysm wall in prior to rupture, allowed the description of four distinct wall-types:

- 1. Endothelialised wall with linearly organised VSMC
- 2. Thickened wall with disorganised VSMC
- 3. Hypocellular wall with myointimal hyperplasia or organised thrombus
- Extremely thin, thrombus lined hypocellular wall (the most prevalent type in ruptured aneurysms),

In keeping with earlier studies[103], they found thick, intima like walls, and very thin, degenerate walls with hyaline deposits to be more prevalent in unruptured and ruptured aneurysms respectively. "Stable", unruptured aneurysms, on the other hand, demonstrated more proliferation and migration of VSMCs, resulting in the formation of a thick, fibroid layer on the luminal surface of the vessel.

The observation of this fibrotic layer in the aneurysm wall led Frosen[408] to consider whether "macrophages may stimulate (V)SMCs to change phenotype and proliferate, thus promoting fibrosis". Interestingly, the degree of VSMC proliferation and T-Cell and macrophage infiltration was increased in aneurysm walls resected less than 12 hours post rupture, suggesting the presence of at least some inflammatory cell infiltrates in the aneurysm wall preceded the acute inflammatory cell infiltration associated with rupture; in healthy arterial walls, such infiltrates generally occur in response to injury during the first 24 hours or later[409]. It would appear that in response to an undefined event prior to rupture, the aneurysm wall becomes unstable and undergoes morphological change reflecting an imbalance between the effect of factors predisposing to rupture and those maintenance and repair mechanisms attempting to prevent it. Although adaptive responses of arteries to luminal stressors attempt to negate these stressors, it would somehow appear that in aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage, the responses themselves may predispose to rupture due to increased matrix proteolysis[2, 50, 408, 410]

# References

- 1. Stehbens, W.E., *Histopathology of cerebral aneurysms*. Arch Neurol, 1963. **8**: p. 272-85.
- 2. Frosen, J., et al., *Remodeling of saccular cerebral artery aneurysm wall is associated with rupture: histological analysis of 24 unruptured and 42 ruptured cases.* Stroke, 2004. **35**(10): p. 2287-93.
- 3. Santiago-Sim, T., et al., *Genomewide linkage in a large Caucasian family maps a new locus for intracranial aneurysms to chromosome 13q.* Stroke, 2009. **40**(3 Suppl): p. S57-60.
- 4. Foroud, T., et al., *Genome Screen to Detect Linkage to Intracranial Aneurysm Susceptibility Genes: The Familial Intracranial Aneurysm (FIA) Study.* Stroke, 2008. **39**(5): p. 1434-1440.
- 5. Mineharu, Y., et al., *Model-based linkage analyses confirm chromosome 19q13.3 as a susceptibility locus for intracranial aneurysm.* Stroke, 2007. **38**(4): p. 1174-8.
- 6. Mineharu, Y., et al., Association analysis of common variants of ELN, NOS2A, APOE and ACE2 to intracranial aneurysm. Stroke, 2006. **37**(5): p. 1189-94.
- 7. Roos, Y.B., et al., *Genome-wide linkage in a large Dutch consanguineous family maps a locus for intracranial aneurysms to chromosome 2p13.* Stroke, 2004. **35**(10): p. 2276-81.
- van der Voet, M., et al., Intracranial aneurysms in Finnish families: confirmation of linkage and refinement of the interval to chromosome 19q13.3. Am J Hum Genet, 2004. 74(3): p. 564-71.
- 9. Yoneyama, T., et al., Association of positional and functional candidate genes FGF1, FBN2, and LOX on 5q31 with intracranial aneurysm. J Hum Genet, 2003. **48**(6): p. 309-14.
- 10. Greenwood, C.M. and S.B. Bull, *Analysis of affected sib pairs, with covariates--with and without constraints.* Am J Hum Genet, 1999. **64**(3): p. 871-85.
- 11. van 't Hof, F.N., et al., *Genetic risk load according to the site of intracranial aneurysms.* Neurology, 2014. **83**(1): p. 34-9.
- 12. Korja, M., et al., *Genetic epidemiology of spontaneous subarachnoid hemorrhage: Nordic Twin Study.* Stroke, 2010. **41**(11): p. 2458-62.
- 13. Greving, J.P., et al., *Cost-effectiveness of preventive treatment of intracranial aneurysms: new data and uncertainties.* Neurology, 2009. **73**(4): p. 258-65.
- 14. Ruigrok, Y.M., et al., *Genomewide linkage in a large Dutch family with intracranial aneurysms: replication of 2 loci for intracranial aneurysms to chromosome 1p36.11-p36.13 and Xp22.2-p22.32.* Stroke, 2008. **39**(4): p. 1096-102.
- 15. Nahed, B.V., et al., *Genetics of intracranial aneurysms*. Neurosurgery, 2007. **60**(2): p. 213-25; discussion 225-6.
- 16. Ruigrok, Y.M., et al., Association of polymorphisms and haplotypes in the elastin gene in Dutch patients with sporadic aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Stroke, 2004. **35**(9): p. 2064-8.
- 17. ACROSS, Epidemiology of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage in Australia and New Zealand: incidence and case fatality from the Australasian Cooperative Research on Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Study (ACROSS). Stroke, 2000. **31**(8): p. 1843-50.
- Unruptured intracranial aneurysms--risk of rupture and risks of surgical intervention. International Study of Unruptured Intracranial Aneurysms Investigators. N Engl J Med, 1998.
   339(24): p. 1725-33.

- 19. Aoki, T. and M. Nishimura, *The development and the use of experimental animal models to study the underlying mechanisms of CA formation.* J Biomed Biotechnol, 2011. **2011**: p. 535921.
- Komotar, R.J., J. Mocco, and R.A. Solomon, Guidelines for the surgical treatment of unruptured intracranial aneurysms: the first annual J. Lawrence pool memorial research symposium--controversies in the management of cerebral aneurysms. Neurosurgery, 2008.
   62(1): p. 183-93; discussion 193-4.
- 21. Clarke, M., Systematic review of reviews of risk factors for intracranial aneurysms. Neuroradiology, 2008. **50**(8): p. 653-664.
- 22. Feigin, V.L., et al., *Is there a temporal pattern in the occurrence of subarachnoid hemorrhage in the southern hemisphere? Pooled data from 3 large, population-based incidence studies in Australasia, 1981 to 1997.* Stroke, 2001. **32**(3): p. 613-9.
- 23. Feigin, V.L., et al., *Risk factors for subarachnoid hemorrhage: an updated systematic review of epidemiological studies.* Stroke, 2005. **36**(12): p. 2773-80.
- 24. Gull, W., Cases of aneurysm of the cerebral vessels. Guy's Hosp Rep, 1859(5): p. 281–304.
- 25. Beadles, C., *Aneurysms of the Larger Cerebral Arteries*. Brain, 1907. **30**: p. 285.
- 26. Fearnsides, E., *Intracranial Aneurysms*. Brain, 1916. **39**: p. 224.
- 27. Garvey, P.H., *Aneurysms of the circle of willis.* Archives of Ophthalmology, 1934. **11**(6): p. 1032-1054.
- 28. Turnbull, H., Quart. J. Med, 1914. **8**: p. 201.
- 29. Glynn, L.E., *Medial defects in the circle of willis and their relation to aneurysm formation*. The Journal of Pathology and Bacteriology, 1940. **51**(2): p. 213-222.
- 30. Forbus, W.D., *On the Origin of Miliary Aneurysms of the Superficial Cerebral Arteries*. Bulletin of the Johns Hopkins Hospital, 1930. **47**: p. 239-.
- 31. Schmidt, A.M., Brain, 1930. **3**: p. 489.
- 32. Strauss, I.G., JH.; Ginsburg, SW., Arch. Neurol. and Psychiat., , 1932(27): p. 1080.
- 33. Carmichael, R., *The pathogenesis of non-inflammatory cerebral aneurysms*. The Journal of Pathology and Bacteriology, 1950. **62**(1): p. 1-19.
- 34. Du Boulay, G.H., *Some observations on the natural history of intracranial aneurysms*. Br J Radiol, 1965. **38**(454): p. 721-57.
- 35. van Gijn, J., R.S. Kerr, and G.J. Rinkel, *Subarachnoid haemorrhage*. Lancet, 2007. **369**(9558): p. 306-18.
- 36. Meissner, I., et al., *Mirror aneurysms: a reflection on natural history*. Journal of Neurosurgery, 2012. **116**(6): p. 1238-1241.
- 37. Wiebers, D.O., et al., Unruptured intracranial aneurysms: natural history, clinical outcome, and risks of surgical and endovascular treatment. Lancet, 2003. **362**(9378): p. 103-10.
- 38. Al-Khindi, T., R.L. Macdonald, and T.A. Schweizer, *Cognitive and Functional Outcome After Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage*. Stroke, 2010. **41**(8): p. e519-e536.
- 39. Rowland, M.J., et al., *Delayed cerebral ischaemia after subarachnoid haemorrhage: Looking beyond vasospasm.* British Journal of Anaesthesia, 2012. **109**(3): p. 315-329.
- 40. Bederson, J.B., et al., *Guidelines for the Management of Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: A Statement for Healthcare Professionals From a Special Writing Group of the Stroke Council, American Heart Association.* Stroke, 2009. **40**(3): p. 994-1025.
- 41. Baek, H., M.V. Jayaraman, and G.E. Karniadakis, *Wall shear stress and pressure distribution on aneurysms and infundibulae in the posterior communicating artery bifurcation.* Annals of Biomedical Engineering, 2009. **37**(12): p. 2469-2487.
- 42. Hwang, J., et al., Oscillatory shear stress stimulates endothelial production of O2- from p47phox-dependent NAD(P)H oxidases, leading to monocyte adhesion. J Biol Chem, 2003.
  278(47): p. 47291-8.
- 43. Nixon, A.M., M. Gunel, and B.E. Sumpio, *The critical role of hemodynamics in the development of cerebral vascular disease.* J Neurosurg, 2010. **112**(6): p. 1240-53.

- 44. Aoki, T., et al., *Impact of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 deficiency on cerebral aneurysm formation.* Stroke, 2009. **40**(3): p. 942-51.
- 45. Chyatte, D., et al., *Inflammation and intracranial aneurysms*. Neurosurgery, 1999. **45**(5): p. 1137-46; discussion 1146-7.
- 46. Hashimoto, T., H. Meng, and W.L. Young, *Intracranial aneurysms: links among inflammation, hemodynamics and vascular remodeling.* Neurol Res, 2006. **28**(4): p. 372-80.
- 47. Kanematsu, Y., et al., *Critical roles of macrophages in the formation of intracranial aneurysm.* Stroke, 2011. **42**(1): p. 173-8.
- 48. Penn, D.L., et al., *The role of vascular remodeling and inflammation in the pathogenesis of intracranial aneurysms*. J Clin Neurosci, 2014. **21**(1): p. 28-32.
- 49. Starke, R.M., et al., *The role of oxidative stress in cerebral aneurysm formation and rupture*. Curr Neurovasc Res, 2013. **10**(3): p. 247-55.
- 50. Tulamo, R., et al., *Inflammatory changes in the aneurysm wall: a review.* Journal of NeuroInterventional Surgery, 2010. **2**(2): p. 120-130.
- 51. Zernecke, A., J. Bernhagen, and C. Weber, *Macrophage migration inhibitory factor in cardiovascular disease*. Circulation, 2008. **117**(12): p. 1594-1602.
- 52. Molyneux, A., International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT) of neurosurgical clipping versus endovascular coiling in 2143 patients with ruptured intracranial aneurysms: a randomised trial. The Lancet, 2002. **360**(9342): p. 1267-1274.
- 53. Molyneux, A.J., et al., International subarachnoid aneurysm trial (ISAT) of neurosurgical clipping versus endovascular coiling in 2143 patients with ruptured intracranial aneurysms: a randomised comparison of effects on survival, dependency, seizures, rebleeding, subgroups, and aneurysm occlusion. Lancet, 2005. **366**(9488): p. 809-17.
- 54. Molyneux, A.J., et al., *Risk of recurrent subarachnoid haemorrhage, death, or dependence and standardised mortality ratios after clipping or coiling of an intracranial aneurysm in the International Subarachnoid Aneurysm Trial (ISAT): long-term follow-up.* The Lancet Neurology, 2009. **8**(5): p. 427-433.
- 55. Bell, B.A. and L. Symon, *Smoking and subarachnoid haemorrhage*. Br Med J, 1979. **1**(6163): p. 577-8.
- 56. Fogelholm, R. and K. Murros, *Cigarette smoking and subarachnoid haemorrhage: a population-based case-control study.* J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 1987. **50**(1): p. 78-80.
- 57. Gieteling, E.W. and G.J. Rinkel, *Characteristics of intracranial aneurysms and subarachnoid haemorrhage in patients with polycystic kidney disease.* J Neurol, 2003. **250**(4): p. 418-23.
- 58. Greving, J.P., et al., *Development of the PHASES score for prediction of risk of rupture of intracranial aneurysms: a pooled analysis of six prospective cohort studies.* Lancet Neurol, 2014. **13**(1): p. 59-66.
- 59. Juvela, S., *Alcohol consumption as a risk factor for poor outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage.* Bmj, 1992. **304**(6843): p. 1663-7.
- 60. Francis, S.E., et al., *A combination of genetic, molecular and haemodynamic risk factors contributes to the formation, enlargement and rupture of brain aneurysms.* J Clin Neurosci, 2013. **20**(7): p. 912-8.
- 61. Hasan, D.M., et al., *Evidence that acetylsalicylic acid attenuates inflammation in the walls of human cerebral aneurysms: preliminary results.* J Am Heart Assoc, 2013. **2**(1): p. e000019.
- 62. Ronkainen, A., J. Hernesniemi, and M. Ryynanen, *Familial subarachnoid hemorrhage in east Finland, 1977-1990.* Neurosurgery, 1993. **33**(5): p. 787-96; discussion 796-97.
- 63. Ellamushi, H.E., et al., *Risk factors for the formation of multiple intracranial aneurysms.* J Neurosurg, 2001. **94**(5): p. 728-32.
- 64. Sekhar, L.N. and R.C. Heros, *Origin, growth, and rupture of saccular aneurysms: a review.* Neurosurgery, 1981. **8**(2): p. 248-60.
- 65. Nahed, B.V., et al., *Hypertension, age, and location predict rupture of small intracranial aneurysms*. Neurosurgery, 2005. **57**(4): p. 676-83; discussion 676-83.

- 66. Tada, Y., et al., *Roles of hypertension in the rupture of intracranial aneurysms.* Stroke, 2014. **45**(2): p. 579-586.
- 67. Vindlacheruvu, R.R., A.D. Mendelow, and P. Mitchell, *Risk–benefit analysis of the treatment of unruptured intracranial aneurysms.* Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry, 2005. **76**(2): p. 234-239.
- 68. Ausman, J.I., *Why the International Study of Unruptured Intracranial Aneurysms has lost credibility with neuroscientists.* Surg Neurol, 2002. **58**(3-4): p. 287-90.
- 69. Ausman, J.I., *The Unruptured Intracranial Aneurysm Study-II: a critique of the second study.* Surgical Neurology, 2004. **62**(2): p. 91-94.
- 70. Marshman, L.A., et al., *The implications of ISAT and ISUIA for the management of cerebral aneurysms during pregnancy.* Neurosurg Rev, 2007. **30**(3): p. 177-80; discussion 180.
- 71. McDougall, C.G., et al., *Erratum: The Barrow Ruptured Aneurysm Trial: 3-year results.* Journal of Neurosurgery, 2014. **120**(2): p. 581-581.
- 72. McDougall, C.G., et al., *The Barrow Ruptured Aneurysm Trial.* Journal of Neurosurgery, 2012. **116**(1): p. 135-144.
- 73. Jayaraman, T., et al., *TNF-alpha-mediated inflammation in cerebral aneurysms: a potential link to growth and rupture.* Vasc Health Risk Manag, 2008. **4**(4): p. 805-17.
- 74. Murray, C.D., *The Physiological Principle of Minimum Work: I. The Vascular System and the Cost of Blood Volume.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1926. **12**(3): p. 207-14.
- 75. Rossitti, S. and J. Lofgren, *Vascular dimensions of the cerebral arteries follow the principle of minimum work.* Stroke, 1993. **24**(3): p. 371-7.
- 76. Kapoor, K., B. Singh, and L.I. Dewan, *Variations in the configuration of the circle of Willis.* Anat Sci Int, 2008. **83**(2): p. 96-106.
- 77. McDonald, D. and J. Potter, *The distribution of blood to the brain.* J Physiol, 1951. **114**(3): p. 356-71.
- 78. Toole, J.F. and S.H. Tucker, *Influence of head position upon cerebral circulation. Studies on blood flow in cadavers.* Arch Neurol, 1960. **2**: p. 616-23.
- 79. Hardesty, W.H., et al., *Studies of carotid-artery blood flow in man.* N Engl J Med, 1960. **263**: p. 944-6.
- 80. Alpers, B.J. and R.G. Berry, *Circle of Willis in cerebral vascular disorders. The anatomical structure.* Arch Neurol, 1963. **8**: p. 398-402.
- 81. Battacharji, S.K., E.C. Hutchinson, and A.J. McCall, *The Circle of Willis--the incidence of developmental abnormalities in normal and infarcted brains.* Brain, 1967. **90**(4): p. 747-58.
- Puchades-Orts, A., M. Nombela-Gomez, and G. Ortuno-Pacheco, Variation in form of circle of Willis: some anatomical and embryological considerations. Anat Rec, 1976. 185(1): p. 119-23.
- 83. Padget, D., *The Circle of Willis: Its embryology and anatomy*, in *Intracranial Arterial Aneurysms*, W. Dandy, Editor. 1945, Cornstock Publishing: New York. p. 67-90.
- 84. Canham, P.B. and H.M. Finlay, *Morphometry of medial gaps of human brain artery branches*. Stroke, 2004. **35**(5): p. 1153-7.
- 85. Ingebrigtsen, T., et al., *Bifurcation geometry and the presence of cerebral artery aneurysms.* Journal of Neurosurgery, 2004. **101**(1): p. 108-113.
- 86. Cassot, F., et al., *Branching patterns for arterioles and venules of the human cerebral cortex.* Brain Res, 2010. **1313**: p. 62-78.
- 87. Rossitti, S. and J. Lofgren, *Optimality principles and flow orderliness at the branching points of cerebral arteries.* Stroke, 1993. **24**(7): p. 1029-32.
- Stehbens, W.E., Aneurysms and Anatomical Variation of Cerebral Arteries. Arch Pathol, 1963.
   75: p. 45-64.
- 89. Kayembe, K.N., M. Sasahara, and F. Hazama, *Cerebral aneurysms and variations in the circle of Willis.* Stroke, 1984. **15**(5): p. 846-50.
- 90. Chehrazi BB, Y.J., *Cerebral blood flow in clinical neurosurgery*. 3rd ed. Neurological Surgery, ed. Y. JR. Vol. 2. 1990: WB Saunders Co.
- 91. Bor, A.S., et al., *Configuration of intracranial arteries and development of aneurysms: a follow-up study.* Neurology, 2008. **70**(9): p. 700-5.
- 92. Lazzaro, M.A., B. Ouyang, and M. Chen, *The role of circle of Willis anomalies in cerebral aneurysm rupture.* J Neurointerv Surg, 2012. **4**(1): p. 22-6.
- 93. Tanaka, H., et al., *Relationship between variations in the circle of Willis and flow rates in internal carotid and basilar arteries determined by means of magnetic resonance imaging with semiautomated lumen segmentation: reference data from 125 healthy volunteers.* AJNR Am J Neuroradiol, 2006. **27**(8): p. 1770-5.
- 94. Hendrikse, J., et al., *Distribution of cerebral blood flow in the circle of Willis*. Radiology, 2005. **235**(1): p. 184-9.
- 95. Mimata, C., et al., *Differential distribution and expressions of collagens in the cerebral aneurysmal wall.* Acta Neuropathol, 1997. **94**(3): p. 197-206.
- 96. Stehbens, W.E., *Pathology of the Cerebral Blood Vessels*, ed. W.E. Stehbens. 1972, St Louis: Mosby.
- 97. Finlay, H.M., P. Whittaker, and P.B. Canham, *Collagen organization in the branching region of human brain arteries.* Stroke, 1998. **29**(8): p. 1595-601.
- 98. Canham, P.B., H.M. Finlay, and S.Y. Tong, *Stereological analysis of the layered collagen of human intracranial aneurysms*. J Microsc, 1996. **183**(Pt 2): p. 170-80.
- 99. Intengan, H.D. and E.L. Schiffrin, *Vascular remodeling in hypertension: roles of apoptosis, inflammation, and fibrosis.* Hypertension, 2001. **38**(3 Pt 2): p. 581-7.
- 100. DeBakey, M.E., G.M. Lawrie, and D.H. Glaeser, *Patterns of atherosclerosis and their surgical significance*. Ann Surg, 1985. **201**(2): p. 115-31.
- 101. Lindholt, J.S. and G.P. Shi, *Chronic inflammation, immune response, and infection in abdominal aortic aneurysms.* Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg, 2006. **31**(5): p. 453-63.
- 102. Kataoka, H., *Molecular mechanisms for the development of intracranial aneurysms and its possible inhibition: From findings obtained by an experimentally induced intracranial aneurysm model.* Japanese Journal of Neurosurgery, 2012. **21**(4): p. 321-326.
- 103. Kataoka, K., et al., *Structural fragility and inflammatory response of ruptured cerebral aneurysms. A comparative study between ruptured and unruptured cerebral aneurysms.* Stroke, 1999. **30**(7): p. 1396-401.
- 104. Chalouhi, N., et al., *Biology of intracranial aneurysms: role of inflammation*. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2012. **32**(9): p. 1659-76.
- 105. Chalouhi, N., et al., *Cigarette smoke and inflammation: role in cerebral aneurysm formation and rupture.* Mediators Inflamm, 2012. **2012**: p. 271582.
- 106. Stehbens, W.E., *Medial raphes ('defects') in prenatal cerebral arteries.* Stroke, 1996. **27**(10): p. 1916-7.
- 107. Finlay, H.M., L. McCullough, and P.B. Canham, *Three-dimensional collagen organization of human brain arteries at different transmural pressures.* J Vasc Res, 1995. **32**(5): p. 301-12.
- 108. Foroud, T., et al., *Genome-Wide Association Study of Intracranial Aneurysms Confirms Role of Anril and SOX17 in Disease Risk*. Stroke, 2012. **43**(11): p. 2846-2852.
- 109. Schievink, W.I., *Genetics of intracranial aneurysms*. Neurosurgery, 1997. **40**(4): p. 651-62; discussion 662-3.
- 110. Bromberg, J.E., et al., *Familial subarachnoid hemorrhage: distinctive features and patterns of inheritance*. Ann Neurol, 1995. **38**(6): p. 929-34.
- 111. Kasuya, H., et al., *Clinical features of intracranial aneurysms in siblings*. Neurosurgery, 2000.
  46(6): p. 1301-5; discussion 1305-6.
- 112. Kojima, M., et al., *Asymptomatic familial cerebral aneurysms*. Neurosurgery, 1998. **43**(4): p. 776-81.

- 113. Frosen, J., et al., *Saccular intracranial aneurysm: pathology and mechanisms*. Acta Neuropathol, 2012. **123**(6): p. 773-86.
- 114. Zhang, J. and R.E. Claterbuck, *Molecular genetics of human intracranial aneurysms*. Int J Stroke, 2008. **3**(4): p. 272-87.
- 115. Schievink, W.I., *Genetics and aneurysm formation*. Neurosurg Clin N Am, 1998. **9**(3): p. 485-95.
- 116. Schievink, W.I., et al., *Familial aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: a community-based study*. J Neurosurg, 1995. **83**(3): p. 426-9.
- 117. Lozano, A.M. and R. Leblanc, *Familial intracranial aneurysms.* J Neurosurg, 1987. **66**(4): p. 522-8.
- 118. Leblanc, R., Familial cerebral aneurysms. A bias for women. Stroke, 1996. 27(6): p. 1050-4.
- 119. Cannon Albright, L.A., et al., *A genealogical assessment of heritable predisposition to aneurysms*. Journal of Neurosurgery, 2003. **99**(4): p. 637-643.
- 120. Ruigrok, Y.M., et al., *Anticipation and phenotype in familial intracranial aneurysms*. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 2004. **75**(10): p. 1436-42.
- 121. Struycken, P.M., et al., *Anticipation in familial intracranial aneurysms in consecutive generations*. Eur J Hum Genet, 2003. **11**(10): p. 737-43.
- 122. Albin, R.L. and D.A. Tagle, *Genetics and molecular biology of Huntington's disease*. Trends Neurosci, 1995. **18**(1): p. 11-4.
- 123. David, G., et al., *Molecular and clinical correlations in autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxia with progressive macular dystrophy (SCA7).* Hum Mol Genet, 1998. **7**(2): p. 165-70.
- 124. Vega, C., J.V. Kwoon, and S.D. Lavine, *Intracranial aneurysms: current evidence and clinical practice.* Am Fam Physician, 2002. **66**(4): p. 601-8.
- 125. Watnick, T., et al., *Mutation detection of PKD1 identifies a novel mutation common to three families with aneurysms and/or very-early-onset disease.* Am J Hum Genet, 1999. **65**(6): p. 1561-71.
- 126. van den Berg, J.S., et al., *Type III collagen deficiency in a family with intracranial aneurysms.* Cerebrovasc Dis, 2001. **11**(2): p. 92-4.
- 127. Munyer, T.P. and A.R. Margulis, *Pseudoxanthoma elasticum with internal carotid artery aneurysm.* AJR Am J Roentgenol, 1981. **136**(5): p. 1023-4.
- 128. Arteaga-Solis, E., B. Gayraud, and F. Ramirez, *Elastic and collagenous networks in vascular diseases.* Cell Struct Funct, 2000. **25**(2): p. 69-72.
- 129. Nahed, B.V., et al., *Mapping a Mendelian form of intracranial aneurysm to 1p34.3-p36.13*. Am J Hum Genet, 2005. **76**(1): p. 172-9.
- 130. Ruigrok, Y.M., E. Buskens, and G.J. Rinkel, *Attributable risk of common and rare determinants of subarachnoid hemorrhage*. Stroke, 2001. **32**(5): p. 1173-5.
- 131. Pepin, M., et al., *Clinical and genetic features of Ehlers-Danlos syndrome type IV, the vascular type.* N Engl J Med, 2000. **342**(10): p. 673-80.
- 132. Schievink, W.I., V.V. Michels, and D.G. Piepgras, *Neurovascular manifestations of heritable connective tissue disorders. A review.* Stroke, 1994. **25**(4): p. 889-903.
- 133. Mirza, F.H., P.L. Smith, and W.N. Lim, *Multiple aneurysms in a patient with Ehlers-Danlos syndrome: angiography without sequelae.* AJR Am J Roentgenol, 1979. **132**(6): p. 993-5.
- 134. Wills, S., et al., *Familial intracranial aneurysms: an analysis of 346 multiplex Finnish families.* Stroke, 2003. **34**(6): p. 1370-4.
- 135. Onda, H., et al., *Genomewide-linkage and haplotype-association studies map intracranial aneurysm to chromosome 7q11.* Am J Hum Genet, 2001. **69**(4): p. 804-19.
- 136. Ruigrok, Y.M., G.J.E. Rinkel, and C. Wijmenga, *Genetics of intracranial aneurysms*. Lancet Neurology, 2005. **4**(3): p. 179-189.
- 137. Merla, G., et al., *Supravalvular aortic stenosis: elastin arteriopathy.* Circ Cardiovasc Genet, 2012. **5**(6): p. 692-6.

- 138. Rodriguez-Revenga, L., et al., *Elastin mutation screening in a group of patients affected by vascular abnormalities.* Pediatr Cardiol, 2005. **26**(6): p. 827-31.
- 139. Rosenbloom, J., W.R. Abrams, and R. Mecham, *Extracellular matrix 4: the elastic fiber*. Faseb j, 1993. **7**(13): p. 1208-18.
- 140. Zhang, H., et al., *Structure and expression of fibrillin-2, a novel microfibrillar component preferentially located in elastic matrices.* J Cell Biol, 1994. **124**(5): p. 855-63.
- 141. van der Rest, M. and R. Garrone, *Collagen family of proteins*. Faseb j, 1991. **5**(13): p. 2814-23.
- 142. Byers, P.H., *Ehlers-Danlos syndrome type IV: a genetic disorder in many guises.* J Invest Dermatol, 1995. **105**(3): p. 311-3.
- 143. Smith, L.B., et al., *Haploinsufficiency of the murine Col3a1 locus causes aortic dissection: a novel model of the vascular type of Ehlers-Danlos syndrome*. Cardiovasc Res, 2011. **90**(1): p. 182-90.
- 144. Kuivaniemi, H., et al., *Exclusion of mutations in the gene for type III collagen (COL3A1) as a common cause of intracranial aneurysms or cervical artery dissections: results from sequence analysis of the coding sequences of type III collagen from 55 unrelated patients.* Neurology, 1993. **43**(12): p. 2652-8.
- 145. Leblanc, R., et al., *Absence of collagen deficiency in familial cerebral aneurysms.* J Neurosurg, 1989. **70**(6): p. 837-40.
- 146. Van Dijk, F.S. and D.O. Sillence, *Osteogenesis imperfecta: clinical diagnosis, nomenclature and severity assessment.* Am J Med Genet A, 2014. **164a**(6): p. 1470-81.
- 147. Biggin, A. and C.F. Munns, *Osteogenesis Imperfecta: Diagnosis and Treatment*. Curr Osteoporos Rep, 2014.
- 148. van Dijk, F.S., et al., *Osteogenesis Imperfecta: A Review with Clinical Examples.* Molecular Syndromology, 2011. **2**(1): p. 1-20.
- 149. Chu, M.L., et al., Internal deletion in a collagen gene in a perinatal lethal form of osteogenesis imperfecta. Nature, 1983. **304**(5921): p. 78-80.
- 150. van Dijk, F.S., et al., *EMQN best practice guidelines for the laboratory diagnosis of osteogenesis imperfecta.* Eur J Hum Genet, 2012. **20**(1): p. 11-9.
- 151. Sillence, D.O., *Craniocervical abnormalities in osteogenesis imperfecta: genetic and molecular correlation*. Pediatr Radiol, 1994. **24**(6): p. 427-30.
- 152. de Campos, J.M., et al., *Spontaneous carotid-cavernous fistula in osteogenesis imperfecta*. J Neurosurg, 1982. **56**(4): p. 590-3.
- 153. Kaliaperumal, C., et al., Osteogenesis imperfecta presenting as aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage in a 53-year-old man. BMJ Case Rep, 2011. **2011**.
- 154. Okamura, T., et al., [A case of ruptured cerebral aneurysm associated with fenestrated vertebral artery in osteogenesis imperfecta]. No Shinkei Geka, 1995. **23**(5): p. 451-5.
- 155. Petruzzellis, M., et al., *Cerebral Aneurysms in a Patient with Osteogenesis Imperfecta and Exon 28 Polymorphism of COL1A2.* American Journal of Neuroradiology, 2007. **28**(3): p. 397-398.
- 156. Gabow, P.A., *Autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease*. N Engl J Med, 1993. **329**(5): p. 332-42.
- 157. Gabow, P.A., *Autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease--more than a renal disease*. Am J Kidney Dis, 1990. **16**(5): p. 403-13.
- 158. Schievink, W.I., et al., *Saccular intracranial aneurysms in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease*. J Am Soc Nephrol, 1992. **3**(1): p. 88-95.
- 159. Hughes, J., et al., *The polycystic kidney disease 1 (PKD1) gene encodes a novel protein with multiple cell recognition domains.* Nat Genet, 1995. **10**(2): p. 151-60.
- 160. Mochizuki, T., et al., *PKD2, a gene for polycystic kidney disease that encodes an integral membrane protein.* Science, 1996. **272**(5266): p. 1339-42.

- 161. Qian, F., et al., *PKD1 interacts with PKD2 through a probable coiled-coil domain.* Nat Genet, 1997. **16**(2): p. 179-83.
- 162. Neumann, H.P., et al., *Characteristics of intracranial aneurysms in the else kroner-fresenius registry of autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease.* Cerebrovasc Dis Extra, 2012. **2**(1): p. 71-9.
- 163. Torres, V.E., et al., *Vascular expression of polycystin-2*. J Am Soc Nephrol, 2001. **12**(1): p. 1-9.
- 164. Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya, O., et al., *Polycystin: in vitro synthesis, in vivo tissue expression, and subcellular localization identifies a large membrane-associated protein.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1997. **94**(12): p. 6397-402.
- 165. Lantinga-van Leeuwen, I.S., et al., *Lowering of Pkd1 expression is sufficient to cause polycystic kidney disease.* Hum Mol Genet, 2004. **13**(24): p. 3069-77.
- 166. Irazabal, M.V., et al., *Extended follow-up of unruptured intracranial aneurysms detected by presymptomatic screening in patients with autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease.* Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2011. **6**(6): p. 1274-85.
- 167. Chapman, A.B., et al., *Intracranial aneurysms in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease*. N Engl J Med, 1992. **327**(13): p. 916-20.
- 168. Kobayashi, H., et al., *Association of persistent hypoglossal artery, multiple intracranial aneurysms, and polycystic disease.* Surg Neurol, 1984. **21**(3): p. 258-60.
- 169. Pirson, Y., D. Chauveau, and V. Torres, *Management of cerebral aneurysms in autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease*. J Am Soc Nephrol, 2002. **13**(1): p. 269-76.
- 170. Metcalfe, K., et al., *Elastin: mutational spectrum in supravalvular aortic stenosis.* Eur J Hum Genet, 2000. **8**(12): p. 955-63.
- 171. Chiarella, F., et al., *Familial supravalvular aortic stenosis: a genetic study*. J Med Genet, 1989. **26**(2): p. 86-92.
- 172. Olson, T.M., et al., Autosomal dominant supravalvular aortic stenosis: localization to chromosome 7. Hum Mol Genet, 1993. **2**(7): p. 869-73.
- 173. Morris, C.A., *Genetic aspects of supravalvular aortic stenosis*. Curr Opin Cardiol, 1998. **13**(3): p. 214-9.
- 174. Tassabehji, M. and Z. Urban, *Congenital heart disease: Molecular diagnostics of supravalvular aortic stenosis.* Methods Mol Med, 2006. **126**: p. 129-56.
- 175. Struk, B., et al., Mapping of both autosomal recessive and dominant variants of pseudoxanthoma elasticum to chromosome 16p13.1. Hum Mol Genet, 1997. 6(11): p. 1823-8.
- 176. Connor, P.J., Jr., et al., *Pseudoxanthoma elasticum and angioid streaks. A review of 106 cases.* Am J Med, 1961. **30**: p. 537-43.
- 177. De Paepe, A., et al., *Pseudoxanthoma elasticum: similar autosomal recessive subtype in Belgian and Afrikaner families.* Am J Med Genet, 1991. **38**(1): p. 16-20.
- 178. Plomp, A.S., et al., *Does autosomal dominant pseudoxanthoma elasticum exist?* Am J Med Genet A, 2004. **126a**(4): p. 403-12.
- 179. Pope, F.M., *Two types of autosomal recessive pseudoxanthoma elasticum*. Arch Dermatol, 1974. **110**(2): p. 209-12.
- 180. Goto, K., *Involvement of central nervous system in pseudoxanthoma elasticum*. Folia Psychiatr Neurol Jpn, 1975. **29**(3): p. 263-77.
- 181. Kito, K., et al., *Ruptured aneurysm of the anterior spinal artery associated with pseudoxanthoma elasticum.* Journal of Neurosurgery, 1983. **58**(1): p. 126-128.
- 182. Neldner, K.H., *Pseudoxanthoma elasticum*. Clin Dermatol, 1988. **6**(1): p. 1-159.
- 183. Scheie, H.G. and T.F. Hogan, Jr., *Angioid streaks and generalized arterial disease*. AMA Arch Ophthalmol, 1957. **57**(6): p. 855-68.
- 184. Mikol, F., J. Mikol, and J. Leclere, [Aneurysmal dilatations of the internal carotid arteries and cutaneous calcinosis during systemic elastorrhexis. Trial treatment with calcitonin]. Ann Med Interne (Paris), 1974. **125**(3): p. 225-38.

- 185. Carlborg, U., et al., *Vascular studies in pseudoxanthoma elasticum and angioid streaks; with a series of color photographs of the eyeground lesions.* Acta Med Scand Suppl, 1959. **350**: p. 1-84.
- 186. Van Embden Andres, G.H., *[Internal changes in pseudoxanthoma elasticum].* Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd, 1953. **97**(12): p. 777-8.
- 187. Kainulainen, K., et al., *Location on chromosome 15 of the gene defect causing Marfan syndrome.* N Engl J Med, 1990. **323**(14): p. 935-9.
- 188. Milewicz, D.M., et al., *Marfan syndrome: defective synthesis, secretion, and extracellular matrix formation of fibrillin by cultured dermal fibroblasts.* J Clin Invest, 1992. **89**(1): p. 79-86.
- 189. Rantamaki, T., et al., *Prenatal diagnosis of Marfan syndrome: identification of a fibrillin-1 mutation in chorionic villus sample.* Prenat Diagn, 1995. **15**(12): p. 1176-81.
- 190. Spittell, P.C., et al., *Clinical features and differential diagnosis of aortic dissection: experience with 236 cases (1980 through 1990)*. Mayo Clin Proc, 1993. **68**(7): p. 642-51.
- 191. Youl, B.D., et al., *Three cases of spontaneous extracranial vertebral artery dissection*. Stroke, 1990. **21**(4): p. 618-25.
- 192. Rose, B.S. and D.L. Pretorius, *Dissecting basilar artery aneurysm in Marfan syndrome: case report.* AJNR Am J Neuroradiol, 1991. **12**(3): p. 503-4.
- 193. Higashida, R.T., et al., *Cavernous carotid artery aneurysm associated with Marfan's syndrome: treatment by balloon embolization therapy.* Neurosurgery, 1988. **22**(2): p. 297-300.
- 194. Conway, J.E., G.M. Hutchins, and R.J. Tamargo, *Marfan syndrome is not associated with intracranial aneurysms*. Stroke, 1999. **30**(8): p. 1632-6.
- 195. Chiu, H.-H., et al., *Epidemiological Profile of Marfan Syndrome in a General Population: A National Database Study*. Mayo Clinic Proceedings, 2014. **89**(1): p. 34-42.
- 196. Villablanca, J.P., et al., *Natural history of asymptomatic unruptured cerebral aneurysms evaluated at CT angiography: growth and rupture incidence and correlation with epidemiologic risk factors.* Radiology, 2013. **269**(1): p. 258-65.
- 197. Juvela, S., et al., *Natural history of unruptured intracranial aneurysms: a long-term follow-up study.* Stroke, 2013. **44**(9): p. 2414-21.
- 198. Stehbens, W.E., B. Delahunt, and A.D. Hilless, *Early berry aneurysm formation in Marfan's syndrome*. Surg Neurol, 1989. **31**(3): p. 200-2.
- 199. Gutmann, D.H. and F.S. Collins, *The neurofibromatosis type 1 gene and its protein product, neurofibromin.* Neuron, 1993. **10**(3): p. 335-43.
- 200. Shen, M.H., P.S. Harper, and M. Upadhyaya, *Molecular genetics of neurofibromatosis type 1* (*NF1*). J Med Genet, 1996. **33**(1): p. 2-17.
- 201. Friedman, J.M., et al., *Cardiovascular disease in neurofibromatosis 1: report of the NF1 Cardiovascular Task Force.* Genet Med, 2002. **4**(3): p. 105-11.
- 202. Schievink, W.I., M. Riedinger, and M.M. Maya, *Frequency of incidental intracranial aneurysms in neurofibromatosis type 1*. Am J Med Genet A, 2005. **134a**(1): p. 45-8.
- 203. Frank, E., B.M. Brown, and D.F. Wilson, Asymptomatic fusiform aneurysm of the petrous carotid artery in a patient with von Recklinghausen's neurofibromatosis. Surg Neurol, 1989.
  32(1): p. 75-8.
- 204. Conway, J.E., G.M. Hutchins, and R.J. Tamargo, *Lack of evidence for an association between neurofibromatosis type I and intracranial aneurysms: autopsy study and review of the literature.* Stroke, 2001. **32**(11): p. 2481-5.
- 205. Sobata, E., H. Ohkuma, and S. Suzuki, *Cerebrovascular disorders associated with von Recklinghausen's neurofibromatosis: a case report.* Neurosurgery, 1988. **22**(3): p. 544-9.
- 206. Sasaki, J., et al., [Neurofibromatosis associated with multiple intracranial vascular lesions: stenosis of the internal carotid artery and peripheral aneurysm of the Heubner's artery; report of a case]. No Shinkei Geka, 1995. **23**(9): p. 813-7.

- 207. Poli, P., et al., [Multiple intracranial aneurysms in relation to Recklinghausen's disease. Report of a case]. J Mal Vasc, 1994. **19**(3): p. 253-5.
- 208. Benatar, M.G., *Intracranial fusiform aneurysms in von Recklinghausen's disease: case report and literature review.* J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 1994. **57**(10): p. 1279-80.
- 209. Schievink, W.I., et al., *Alpha-1-antitrypsin phenotypes among patients with intracranial aneurysms*. J Neurosurg, 1996. **84**(5): p. 781-4.
- 210. Kohlstedt, K., et al., Angiotensin-converting enzyme is involved in outside-in signaling in endothelial cells. Circ Res, 2004. **94**(1): p. 60-7.
- 211. Di Pasquale, P., S. Cannizzaro, and S. Paterna, *Does angiotensin-converting enzyme gene polymorphism affect blood pressure? Findings after 6 years of follow-up in healthy subjects.* Eur J Heart Fail, 2004. **6**(1): p. 11-6.
- 212. Keramatipour, M., et al., *The ACE I allele is associated with increased risk for ruptured intracranial aneurysms.* J Med Genet, 2000. **37**(7): p. 498-500.
- 213. Dzau, V.J., *Cell biology and genetics of angiotensin in cardiovascular disease*. J Hypertens Suppl, 1994. **12**(4): p. S3-10.
- 214. Iwai, N., et al., *DD genotype of the angiotensin-converting enzyme gene is a risk factor for left ventricular hypertrophy.* Circulation, 1994. **90**(6): p. 2622-8.
- 215. Cambien, F., et al., *Plasma level and gene polymorphism of angiotensin-converting enzyme in relation to myocardial infarction*. Circulation, 1994. **90**(2): p. 669-76.
- 216. Pannu, H., et al., *Lack of an association between the angiotensin-converting enzyme insertion/deletion polymorphism and intracranial aneurysms in a Caucasian population in the United States.* J Neurosurg, 2005. **103**(1): p. 92-6.
- 217. Kupari, M., et al., *Left ventricular size, mass, and function in relation to angiotensinconverting enzyme gene polymorphism in humans.* Am J Physiol, 1994. **267**(3 Pt 2): p. H1107-11.
- 218. Kondo, S., et al., *Apoptosis of medial smooth muscle cells in the development of saccular cerebral aneurysms in rats.* Stroke, 1998. **29**(1): p. 181-8; discussion 189.
- 219. Hara, A., N. Yoshimi, and H. Mori, *Evidence for apoptosis in human intracranial aneurysms*. Neurol Res, 1998. **20**(2): p. 127-30.
- 220. Ohkuma, H., et al., *Role of a decreased expression of the local renin-angiotensin system in the etiology of cerebral aneurysms.* Circulation, 2003. **108**(7): p. 785-7.
- 221. Slowik, A., et al., *II genotype of the angiotensin-converting enzyme gene increases the risk for subarachnoid hemorrhage from ruptured aneurysm.* Stroke, 2004. **35**(7): p. 1594-7.
- 222. McColgan, P., K.Z. Thant, and P. Sharma, *The genetics of sporadic ruptured and unruptured intracranial aneurysms: a genetic meta-analysis of 8 genes and 13 polymorphisms in approximately 20,000 individuals.* J Neurosurg, 2010. **112**(4): p. 714-21.
- 223. Marsden, P.A., et al., *Structure and chromosomal localization of the human constitutive endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene*. J Biol Chem, 1993. **268**(23): p. 17478-88.
- 224. Khurana, V.G., I. Meissner, and F.B. Meyer, Update on genetic evidence for rupture-prone compared with rupture-resistant intracranial saccular aneurysms. Neurosurg Focus, 2004.
  17(5): p. E7.
- 225. Khurana, V.G., et al., *Endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene polymorphisms predict susceptibility to aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage and cerebral vasospasm*. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2004. **24**(3): p. 291-7.
- 226. Khurana, V.G., et al., Endothelial nitric oxide synthase T-786C single nucleotide polymorphism: a putative genetic marker differentiating small versus large ruptured intracranial aneurysms. Stroke, 2003. **34**(11): p. 2555-9.
- 227. Krex, D., et al., *The role of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) genetic variants in European patients with intracranial aneurysms.* J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2006. **26**(10): p. 1250-5.

- 228. Akagawa, H., et al., *Influence of endothelial nitric oxide synthase T-786C single nucleotide polymorphism on aneurysm size.* J Neurosurg, 2005. **102**(1): p. 68-71.
- 229. Krischek, B., et al., Using endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene polymorphisms to identify intracranial aneurysms more prone to rupture in Japanese patients. J Neurosurg, 2006. **105**(5): p. 717-22.
- 230. Ruggeri, Z.M., J.A. Dent, and E. Saldivar, *Contribution of distinct adhesive interactions to platelet aggregation in flowing blood.* Blood, 1999. **94**(1): p. 172-8.
- 231. Savage, B., F. Almus-Jacobs, and Z.M. Ruggeri, *Specific synergy of multiple substrate-receptor interactions in platelet thrombus formation under flow*. Cell, 1998. **94**(5): p. 657-66.
- 232. Andrews, R.K. and M.C. Berndt, *Platelet physiology and thrombosis.* Thrombosis Research, 2004. **114**(5–6): p. 447-453.
- 233. Ni, H. and J. Freedman, *Platelets in hemostasis and thrombosis: role of integrins and their ligands.* Transfus Apher Sci, 2003. **28**(3): p. 257-64.
- 234. Corral, J., et al., *Polymorphisms of clotting factors modify the risk for primary intracranial hemorrhage*. Blood, 2001. **97**(10): p. 2979-82.
- 235. Iniesta, J., et al., *Polymorphisms of platelet adhesive receptors: do they play a role in primary intracerebral hemorrhage?* Cerebrovasc Dis, 2003. **15**(1-2): p. 51-5.
- 236. Iniesta, J.A., et al., *Platelet GP IIIa polymorphism HPA-1 (PlA) protects against subarachnoid hemorrhage*. Stroke, 2004. **35**(10): p. 2282-6.
- 237. Calvete, J.J., *Platelet integrin GPIIb/IIIa: structure-function correlations. An update and lessons from other integrins.* Proc Soc Exp Biol Med, 1999. **222**(1): p. 29-38.
- 238. Calvete, J.J., *On the structure and function of platelet integrin alpha IIb beta 3, the fibrinogen receptor.* Proc Soc Exp Biol Med, 1995. **208**(4): p. 346-60.
- 239. Calvete, J.J., *Structures of integrin domains and concerted conformational changes in the bidirectional signaling mechanism of alphallbbeta3.* Exp Biol Med (Maywood), 2004. **229**(8): p. 732-44.
- 240. Calvete, J.J., *Clues for understanding the structure and function of a prototypic human integrin: the platelet glycoprotein IIb/IIIa complex.* Thromb Haemost, 1994. **72**(1): p. 1-15.
- 241. Ulrichts, H., et al., von Willebrand factor but not alpha-thrombin binding to platelet glycoprotein Ibalpha is influenced by the HPA-2 polymorphism. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2003. **23**(7): p. 1302-7.
- 242. Ghosh, K., et al., *Human platelet alloantigen polymorphism in Glanzmann's thrombasthenia and its impact on the severity of the disease.* Br J Haematol, 2002. **119**(2): p. 348-53.
- 243. Kamstrup, P.R., A. Tybjaerg-Hansen, and B.G. Nordestgaard, *Genetic evidence that lipoprotein(a) associates with atherosclerotic stenosis rather than venous thrombosis.* Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2012. **32**(7): p. 1732-41.
- 244. Bolger, C.F.R.C.S.I., et al., *Elevated Levels of Lipoprotein (a) in Association with Cerebrovascular Saccular Aneurysmal Disease*. Neurosurgery, 1995. **37**(2): p. 241-245.
- 245. Phillips, J.M.D.F., et al., *Lipoprotein (a): A Potential Biological Marker for Unruptured Intracranial Aneurysms*. Neurosurgery, 1997. **40**(5): p. 1112-1117.
- 246. Roberts, G.A.M.D., et al., *Genetic Evaluation of Lipoprotein(a) in Intracranial Aneurysm Disease*. Neurosurgery, 2001. **49**(1): p. 133-142.
- 247. Nonaka, N., et al., [Lipid metabolism of the patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage due to ruptured intracranial aneurysm--with special reference to the occurrence of cerebral angiospasm]. No To Shinkei, 1989. **41**(1): p. 67-72.
- 248. Caird, J., et al., *Apolipoprotein(A) expression in intracranial aneurysms*. Neurosurgery, 2003. **52**(4): p. 854-8; discussion 858-9.
- 249. Zhao, Y.L., et al., [Correlation between APOA gene polymorphism and intracranial aneurysm]. Zhongguo Yi Xue Ke Xue Yuan Xue Bao, 2005. **27**(1): p. 31-4.
- 250. Davignon, J., R.E. Gregg, and C.F. Sing, *Apolipoprotein E polymorphism and atherosclerosis.* Arteriosclerosis, 1988. **8**(1): p. 1-21.

- 251. Kaushal, R., et al., *Subarachnoid hemorrhage: tests of association with apolipoprotein E and elastin genes.* BMC Med Genet, 2007. **8**: p. 49.
- 252. Tang, J., et al., Apolipoprotein  $e \in 4$  and the risk of unfavorable outcome after aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage. Surgical Neurology, 2003. **60**(5): p. 391-396.
- 253. Mahley, R.W., *Apolipoprotein E: cholesterol transport protein with expanding role in cell biology.* Science, 1988. **240**(4852): p. 622-30.
- 254. Poirier, J., et al., *Astrocytic apolipoprotein E mRNA and GFAP mRNA in hippocampus after entorhinal cortex lesioning.* Brain Res Mol Brain Res, 1991. **11**(2): p. 97-106.
- 255. Lanterna, L.A.L. and F. Biroli, *Significance of Apolipoprotein E in Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: Neuronal Injury, Repair, and Therapeutic Perspectives-A Review.* Journal of Stroke and Cerebrovascular Diseases, 2009. **18**(2): p. 116-123.
- 256. Gallek, M.J., et al., *APOE genotype and functional outcome following aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage.* Biological Research for Nursing, 2009. **10**(3): p. 205-212.
- 257. Kokubo, Y., et al., *Age-dependent association of apolipoprotein E genotypes with stroke subtypes in a Japanese rural population*. Stroke, 2000. **31**(6): p. 1299-306.
- 258. McCarron, M.O. and J.A. Nicoll, *High frequency of apolipoprotein E epsilon 2 allele is specific for patients with cerebral amyloid angiopathy-related haemorrhage*. Neurosci Lett, 1998.
  247(1): p. 45-8.
- 259. Greenberg, S.M., et al., *Apolipoprotein E epsilon 4 is associated with the presence and earlier onset of hemorrhage in cerebral amyloid angiopathy.* Stroke, 1996. **27**(8): p. 1333-7.
- 260. Nicoll, J.A., et al., *High frequency of apolipoprotein E epsilon 2 allele in hemorrhage due to cerebral amyloid angiopathy.* Ann Neurol, 1997. **41**(6): p. 716-21.
- 261. Kamboh, M.I., *Molecular genetics of late-onset Alzheimer's disease*. Ann Hum Genet, 2004. **68**(Pt 4): p. 381-404.
- 262. Frosen, J., et al., *Growth factor receptor expression and remodeling of saccular cerebral artery aneurysm walls: implications for biological therapy preventing rupture.* Neurosurgery, 2006. **58**(3): p. 534-41; discussion 534-41.
- 263. Kilic, T., et al., *Expression of structural proteins and angiogenic factors in normal arterial and unruptured and ruptured aneurysm walls.* Neurosurgery, 2005. **57**(5): p. 997-1007; discussion 997-1007.
- 264. Sandalcioglu, I.E., et al., *VEGF plasma levels in non-ruptured intracranial aneurysms*. Neurosurg Rev, 2006. **29**(1): p. 26-9.
- 265. Gaetani, P., et al., *Platelet derived growth factor and subarachnoid haemorrhage: a study on cisternal cerebrospinal fluid.* Acta Neurochir (Wien), 1997. **139**(4): p. 319-24.
- 266. Atlas, S.W., *Magnetic resonance imaging of intracranial aneurysms*. Neuroimaging Clin N Am, 1997. **7**(4): p. 709-20.
- 267. Rhoton, A.L., Jr., Aneurysms. Neurosurgery, 2002. 51(4 Suppl): p. S121-58.
- 268. Bonneville, F., N. Sourour, and A. Biondi, *Intracranial aneurysms: an overview*. Neuroimaging Clin N Am, 2006. **16**(3): p. 371-82, vii.
- 269. Ballermann, B.J., et al., *Shear stress and the endothelium.* Kidney Int Suppl, 1998. **67**: p. S100-8.
- 270. Ballermann, B.J. and M.J. Ott, *Adhesion and differentiation of endothelial cells by exposure to chronic shear stress: a vascular graft model.* Blood Purif, 1995. **13**(3-4): p. 125-34.
- 271. Du, W., I. Mills, and B.E. Sumpio, *Cyclic strain causes heterogeneous induction of transcription factors, AP-1, CRE binding protein and NF-kB, in endothelial cells: species and vascular bed diversity.* J Biomech, 1995. **28**(12): p. 1485-91.
- 272. Oluwole, B.O., et al., *Gene regulation by mechanical forces*. Endothelium, 1997. **5**(2): p. 85-93.
- 273. Vouyouka, A.G., et al., *Ambient pulsatile pressure modulates endothelial cell proliferation*. J Mol Cell Cardiol, 1998. **30**(3): p. 609-15.

- 274. Pries, A.R., T.W. Secomb, and P. Gaehtgens, *Design principles of vascular beds*. Circ Res, 1995. **77**(5): p. 1017-23.
- 275. Rossitti, S., *Shear stress in cerebral arteries carrying saccular aneurysms. A preliminary study.* Acta Radiol, 1998. **39**(6): p. 711-7.
- Shojima, M., et al., Magnitude and role of wall shear stress on cerebral aneurysm: computational fluid dynamic study of 20 middle cerebral artery aneurysms. Stroke, 2004.
  35(11): p. 2500-5.
- White, C.R. and J.A. Frangos, *The shear stress of it all: the cell membrane and mechanochemical transduction*. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 2007. **362**(1484): p. 1459-67.
- 278. Bhullar, I.S., et al., *Fluid shear stress activation of IkappaB kinase is integrin-dependent.* J Biol Chem, 1998. **273**(46): p. 30544-9.
- 279. Dardik, A., et al., *Differential effects of orbital and laminar shear stress on endothelial cells*. J Vasc Surg, 2005. **41**(5): p. 869-80.
- 280. Bergh, N., et al., *Effects of two complex hemodynamic stimulation profiles on hemostatic genes in a vessel-like environment.* Endothelium, 2008. **15**(5-6): p. 231-8.
- 281. Eng, E. and B.J. Ballermann, *Diminished NF-kappaB activation and PDGF-B expression in glomerular endothelial cells subjected to chronic shear stress*. Microvasc Res, 2003. **65**(3): p. 137-44.
- 282. Korenaga, R., et al., *Negative transcriptional regulation of the VCAM-1 gene by fluid shear stress in murine endothelial cells.* Am J Physiol, 1997. **273**(5 Pt 1): p. C1506-15.
- 283. Malek, A. and S. Izumo, *Physiological fluid shear stress causes downregulation of endothelin-*1 mRNA in bovine aortic endothelium. Am J Physiol, 1992. **263**(2 Pt 1): p. C389-96.
- 284. Meng, H., et al., *A model system for mapping vascular responses to complex hemodynamics at arterial bifurcations in vivo*. Neurosurgery, 2006. **59**(5): p. 1094-100; discussion 1100-1.
- 285. Hassan, T., et al., *A proposed parent vessel geometry—based categorization of saccular intracranial aneurysms: computational flow dynamics analysis of the risk factors for lesion rupture.* Journal of Neurosurgery, 2005. **103**(4): p. 662-680.
- 286. Alfano, J.M., et al., *Intracranial aneurysms occur more frequently at bifurcation sites that typically experience higher hemodynamic stresses.* Neurosurgery, 2013. **73**(3): p. 497-505.
- 287. Zamir, M. and D.C. Bigelow, *Cost of departure from optimality in arterial branching.* J Theor Biol, 1984. **109**(3): p. 401-9.
- 288. Haidekker, M.A., C.R. White, and J.A. Frangos, *Analysis of temporal shear stress gradients during the onset phase of flow over a backward-facing step.* J Biomech Eng, 2001. **123**(5): p. 455-63.
- 289. White, C.R., et al., *Temporal gradients in shear, but not spatial gradients, stimulate endothelial cell proliferation*. Circulation, 2001. **103**(20): p. 2508-13.
- 290. Glagov, S., et al., *Hemodynamics and atherosclerosis. Insights and perspectives gained from studies of human arteries.* Arch Pathol Lab Med, 1988. **112**(10): p. 1018-31.
- 291. Bruno, G., et al., *Vascular extracellular matrix remodeling in cerebral aneurysms*. J Neurosurg, 1998. **89**(3): p. 431-40.
- 292. Jamous, M.A., et al., *Vascular corrosion casts mirroring early morphological changes that lead to the formation of saccular cerebral aneurysm: an experimental study in rats.* Journal of Neurosurgery, 2005. **102**(3): p. 532-535.
- 293. Jamous, M.A., et al., Endothelial injury and inflammatory response induced by hemodynamic changes preceding intracranial aneurysm formation: experimental study in rats. J Neurosurg, 2007. **107**(2): p. 405-11.
- 294. Tamura, T., et al., *Endothelial damage due to impaired nitric oxide bioavailability triggers cerebral aneurysm formation in female rats.* Journal of Hypertension, 2009. **27**(6): p. 1284-1292.

- 295. Nuki, Y., et al., *Roles of macrophages in flow-induced outward vascular remodeling*. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2009. **29**(3): p. 495-503.
- 296. Nuki, Y., et al., *Elastase-induced intracranial aneurysms in hypertensive mice*. Hypertension, 2009. **54**(6): p. 1337-44.
- 297. Chien, A., et al., *Patient-specific flow analysis of brain aneurysms at a single location: comparison of hemodynamic characteristics in small aneurysms.* Med Biol Eng Comput, 2008. **46**(11): p. 1113-20.
- 298. Lee, S.W., et al., *Geometry of the carotid bifurcation predicts its exposure to disturbed flow.* Stroke, 2008. **39**(8): p. 2341-7.
- 299. Makino, H., et al., *Pharmacological stabilization of intracranial aneurysms in mice: A feasibility study.* Stroke, 2012. **43**(9): p. 2450-2456.
- 300. Russell, J.H.M., et al., *Computational Fluid Dynamic Analysis of Intracranial Aneurysmal Bleb Formation.* Neurosurgery, 2013. **73**(6): p. 1061-1069.
- 301. Boussel, L., et al., Aneurysm growth occurs at region of low wall shear stress: patient-specific correlation of hemodynamics and growth in a longitudinal study. Stroke, 2008. **39**(11): p. 2997-3002.
- 302. Malek, A.M., S.L. Alper, and S. Izumo, *Hemodynamic shear stress and its role in atherosclerosis*. Jama, 1999. **282**(21): p. 2035-42.
- 303. Castro, M.A., C.M. Putman, and J.R. Cebral, *Computational fluid dynamics modeling of intracranial aneurysms: effects of parent artery segmentation on intra-aneurysmal hemodynamics.* AJNR Am J Neuroradiol, 2006. **27**(8): p. 1703-9.
- 304. Inoue, T., et al., Annual rupture risk of growing unruptured cerebral aneurysms detected by magnetic resonance angiography. Journal of Neurosurgery, 2012. **117**(1): p. 20-25.
- 305. Meng, H., et al., *Mathematical model of the rupture mechanism of intracranial saccular aneurysms through daughter aneurysm formation and growth.* Neurol Res, 2005. **27**(5): p. 459-65.
- 306. Moftakhar, R., et al., *Noninvasive measurement of intra-aneurysmal pressure and flow pattern using phase contrast with vastly undersampled isotropic projection imaging.* AJNR Am J Neuroradiol, 2007. **28**(9): p. 1710-4.
- 307. Cines, D.B., et al., *Endothelial cells in physiology and in the pathophysiology of vascular disorders.* Blood, 1998. **91**(10): p. 3527-61.
- 308. PALADE, G.E., AN ELECTRON MICROSCOPE STUDY OF THE MITOCHONDRIAL STRUCTURE. Journal of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry, 1953. **1**(4): p. 188-211.
- 309. Fishman, A.P., *Endothelium: a distributed organ of diverse capabilities.* Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1982. **401**: p. 1-8.
- 310. Augustin, H.G., D.H. Kozian, and R.C. Johnson, *Differentiation of endothelial cells: analysis of the constitutive and activated endothelial cell phenotypes.* Bioessays, 1994. **16**(12): p. 901-6.
- 311. Dejana, E., M. Corada, and M.G. Lampugnani, *Endothelial cell-to-cell junctions*. Faseb j, 1995. **9**(10): p. 910-8.
- 312. McCarthy, S.A., et al., *Heterogeneity of the endothelial cell and its role in organ preference of tumour metastasis.* Trends Pharmacol Sci, 1991. **12**(12): p. 462-7.
- 313. Kumar, S., D.C. West, and A. Ager, *Heterogeneity in endothelial cells from large vessels and microvessels*. Differentiation, 1987. **36**(1): p. 57-70.
- 314. Dejana, E., *Endothelial adherens junctions: implications in the control of vascular permeability and angiogenesis.* J Clin Invest, 1996. **98**(9): p. 1949-53.
- 315. Kim, Y.M., C.A. Bombeck, and T.R. Billiar, *Nitric oxide as a bifunctional regulator of apoptosis*. Circ Res, 1999. **84**(3): p. 253-6.
- 316. Tsutsui, M., *Neuronal nitric oxide synthase as a novel anti-atherogenic factor*. J Atheroscler Thromb, 2004. **11**(2): p. 41-8.
- 317. Boulanger, C.M., et al., *Neuronal nitric oxide synthase is expressed in rat vascular smooth muscle cells: activation by angiotensin II in hypertension*. Circ Res, 1998. **83**(12): p. 1271-8.

- 318. Tambascia, R.C., et al., *Expression and distribution of NOS1 and NOS3 in the myocardium of angiotensin II-infused rats*. Hypertension, 2001. **37**(6): p. 1423-8.
- 319. Loesch, A. and G. Burnstock, *Ultrastructural localization of nitric oxide synthase and endothelin in rat pulmonary artery and vein during postnatal development and ageing.* Cell Tissue Res, 1996. **283**(3): p. 355-65.
- 320. Schwarz, P.M., H. Kleinert, and U. Forstermann, *Potential functional significance of braintype and muscle-type nitric oxide synthase I expressed in adventitia and media of rat aorta.* Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 1999. **19**(11): p. 2584-90.
- 321. Loscalzo, J. and J.A. Vita, *Ischemia, hyperemia, exercise, and nitric oxide. Complex physiology and complex molecular adaptations.* Circulation, 1994. **90**(5): p. 2556-9.
- 322. Malek, A.M., et al., *Induction of nitric oxide synthase mRNA by shear stress requires intracellular calcium and G-protein signals and is modulated by PI 3 kinase.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1999. **254**(1): p. 231-42.
- 323. Kuchan, M.J. and J.A. Frangos, *Role of calcium and calmodulin in flow-induced nitric oxide production in endothelial cells.* Am J Physiol, 1994. **266**(3 Pt 1): p. C628-36.
- 324. Loscalzo, J. and G. Welch, *Nitric oxide and its role in the cardiovascular system*. Prog Cardiovasc Dis, 1995. **38**(2): p. 87-104.
- 325. Mendelsohn, M.E., et al., *Inhibition of fibrinogen binding to human platelets by S-nitroso-N-acetylcysteine*. J Biol Chem, 1990. **265**(31): p. 19028-34.
- 326. Stamler, J.S., D.E. Vaughan, and J. Loscalzo, *Synergistic disaggregation of platelets by tissue-type plasminogen activator, prostaglandin E1, and nitroglycerin.* Circ Res, 1989. **65**(3): p. 796-804.
- 327. Kubes, P., M. Suzuki, and D.N. Granger, *Nitric oxide: an endogenous modulator of leukocyte adhesion.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1991. **88**(11): p. 4651-5.
- 328. Marks, D.S., et al., *Inhibition of neointimal proliferation in rabbits after vascular injury by a single treatment with a protein adduct of nitric oxide*. J Clin Invest, 1995. **96**(6): p. 2630-8.
- 329. Garg, U.C. and A. Hassid, *Nitric oxide-generating vasodilators and 8-bromo-cyclic guanosine monophosphate inhibit mitogenesis and proliferation of cultured rat vascular smooth muscle cells.* J Clin Invest, 1989. **83**(5): p. 1774-7.
- 330. Gimbrone, M.A., Jr., *Endothelial dysfunction, hemodynamic forces, and atherosclerosis*. Thromb Haemost, 1999. **82**(2): p. 722-6.
- 331. Morishita, T., et al., Vasculoprotective roles of neuronal nitric oxide synthase. Faseb j, 2002.
  16(14): p. 1994-6.
- 332. Sanz, M.J., et al., *Neuronal nitric oxide synthase (NOS) regulates leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions in endothelial NOS deficient mice.* Br J Pharmacol, 2001. **134**(2): p. 305-12.
- 333. Aoki, T., et al., *Complementary inhibition of cerebral aneurysm formation by eNOS and nNOS*. Lab Invest, 2011. **91**(4): p. 619-26.
- 334. Stanarius, A., B. Seidel, and G. Wolf, *Neuronal nitric oxide synthase in the vasculature of the rat brain: an immunocytochemical study using the tyramide signal amplification technique.* J Neurocytol, 1998. **27**(10): p. 731-6.
- 335. Loesch, A. and G. Burnstock, *Perivascular nerve fibres and endothelial cells of the rat basilar artery: immuno-gold labelling of antigenic sites for type I and type III nitric oxide synthase.* J Neurocytol, 1998. **27**(3): p. 197-204.
- 336. Benyo, Z., et al., *Functional importance of neuronal nitric oxide synthase in the endothelium of rat basilar arteries.* Brain Res, 2000. **877**(1): p. 79-84.
- 337. Xing, D., et al., *Estrogen and mechanisms of vascular protection*. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2009. **29**(3): p. 289-95.
- 338. Game, X., et al., Estradiol increases urethral tone through the local inhibition of neuronal nitric oxide synthase expression. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol, 2008. 294(3): p. R851-7.

- 339. Garcia-Duran, M., et al., *Estrogen stimulates neuronal nitric oxide synthase protein expression in human neutrophils*. Circ Res, 1999. **85**(11): p. 1020-6.
- 340. Gargett, C.E., et al., *17Beta-estradiol up-regulates vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 expression in human myometrial microvascular endothelial cells: role of estrogen receptor-alpha and -beta.* J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 2002. **87**(9): p. 4341-9.
- 341. Chen, Z., et al., *Estrogen receptor alpha mediates the nongenomic activation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase by estrogen.* J Clin Invest, 1999. **103**(3): p. 401-6.
- 342. Jamous, M.A., et al., *Role of estrogen deficiency in the formation and progression of cerebral aneurysms. Part II: experimental study of the effects of hormone replacement therapy in rats.* Journal of Neurosurgery, 2005. **103**(6): p. 1052-1057.
- 343. Kubo, Y., et al., *Female sex as a risk factor for the growth of asymptomatic unruptured cerebral saccular aneurysms in elderly patients.* Journal of Neurosurgery. **0**(0): p. 1-6.
- 344. Jamous, M.A., et al., *Role of estrogen deficiency in the formation and progression of cerebral aneurysms. Part I: experimental study of the effect of oophorectomy in rats.* Journal of Neurosurgery, 2005. **103**(6): p. 1046-1051.
- 345. Koide, M., et al., *Cyclic AMP-elevating agents induce an inducible type of nitric oxide synthase in cultured vascular smooth muscle cells. Synergism with the induction elicited by inflammatory cytokines.* J Biol Chem, 1993. **268**(33): p. 24959-66.
- 346. Koide, M., et al., *Expression of nitric oxide synthase by cytokines in vascular smooth muscle cells.* Hypertension, 1994. **23**(1 Suppl): p. 145-8.
- 347. Fukuda, S., et al., *Prevention of rat cerebral aneurysm formation by inhibition of nitric oxide synthase*. Circulation, 2000. **101**(21): p. 2532-8.
- 348. Sadamasa, N., K. Nozaki, and N. Hashimoto, *Disruption of gene for inducible nitric oxide synthase reduces progression of cerebral aneurysms*. Stroke, 2003. **34**(12): p. 2980-4.
- 349. Lee, J.K., et al., *Experimental abdominal aortic aneurysms in mice lacking expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase*. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2001. **21**(9): p. 1393-401.
- 350. Moriwaki, T., et al., *Impaired progression of cerebral aneurysms in interleukin-1β-deficient mice.* Stroke, 2006. **37**(3): p. 900-905.
- 351. Johanning, J.M., et al., *Nitric oxide in experimental aneurysm formation: early events and consequences of nitric oxide inhibition.* Ann Vasc Surg, 2002. **16**(1): p. 65-72.
- 352. Albina, J.E., et al., *Nitric oxide-mediated apoptosis in murine peritoneal macrophages.* J Immunol, 1993. **150**(11): p. 5080-5.
- 353. Heneka, M.T., et al., Induction of nitric oxide synthase and nitric oxide-mediated apoptosis in neuronal PC12 cells after stimulation with tumor necrosis factor-alpha/lipopolysaccharide. J Neurochem, 1998. **71**(1): p. 88-94.
- 354. Messmer, U.K., et al., *p53 expression in nitric oxide-induced apoptosis*. FEBS Lett, 1994. **355**(1): p. 23-6.
- 355. Geller, D.A. and T.R. Billiar, *Molecular biology of nitric oxide synthases*. Cancer Metastasis Rev, 1998. **17**(1): p. 7-23.
- 356. Li, J., et al., *Nitric oxide reversibly inhibits seven members of the caspase family via Snitrosylation.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1997. **240**(2): p. 419-24.
- 357. Tzeng, E., et al., Adenoviral transfer of the inducible nitric oxide synthase gene blocks endothelial cell apoptosis. Surgery, 1997. **122**(2): p. 255-63.
- 358. Henry, P.D. and C.H. Chen, *Inflammatory mechanisms of atheroma formation. Influence of fluid mechanics and lipid-derived inflammatory mediators.* Am J Hypertens, 1993. **6**(11 Pt 2): p. 328s-334s.
- 359. Golledge, J., et al., *Abdominal aortic aneurysm: pathogenesis and implications for management*. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2006. **26**(12): p. 2605-13.
- 360. Golledge, A.L., et al., *A systematic review of studies examining inflammation associated cytokines in human abdominal aortic aneurysm samples.* Dis Markers, 2009. **26**(4): p. 181-8.

- 361. Todor, D.R., et al., *Identification of a serum gelatinase associated with the occurrence of cerebral aneurysms as pro-matrix metalloproteinase-2.* Stroke, 1998. **29**(8): p. 1580-3.
- 362. Ruetzler, C.A., et al., Brain vessels normally undergo cyclic activation and inactivation: evidence from tumor necrosis factor-alpha, heme oxygenase-1, and manganese superoxide dismutase immunostaining of vessels and perivascular brain cells. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2001. **21**(3): p. 244-52.
- 363. Vestweber, D., Adhesion and signaling molecules controlling the transmigration of *leukocytes through endothelium.* Immunol Rev, 2007. **218**: p. 178-96.
- 364. Hristov, M., W. Erl, and P.C. Weber, *Endothelial progenitor cells: mobilization, differentiation, and homing.* Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2003. **23**(7): p. 1185-9.
- 365. Kunkel, E.J. and K. Ley, *Distinct phenotype of E-selectin-deficient mice. E-selectin is required for slow leukocyte rolling in vivo.* Circ Res, 1996. **79**(6): p. 1196-204.
- 366. Smith, M.L., T.S. Olson, and K. Ley, *CXCR2- and E-selectin-induced neutrophil arrest during inflammation in vivo.* J Exp Med, 2004. **200**(7): p. 935-9.
- 367. Salas, A., et al., *Rolling adhesion through an extended conformation of integrin alphaLbeta2 and relation to alpha I and beta I-like domain interaction.* Immunity, 2004. **20**(4): p. 393-406.
- 368. Salas, A., et al., *Transition from rolling to firm adhesion can be mimicked by extension of integrin alphaLbeta2 in an intermediate affinity state.* J Biol Chem, 2006. **281**(16): p. 10876-82.
- 369. Vestweber, D. and J.E. Blanks, *Mechanisms that regulate the function of the selectins and their ligands*. Physiol Rev, 1999. **79**(1): p. 181-213.
- 370. Asahara, T., et al., *Isolation of putative progenitor endothelial cells for angiogenesis.* Science, 1997. **275**(5302): p. 964-7.
- 371. Gill, M., et al., Vascular trauma induces rapid but transient mobilization of VEGFR2(+)AC133(+) endothelial precursor cells. Circ Res, 2001. **88**(2): p. 167-74.
- 372. Hill, J.M., et al., *Circulating endothelial progenitor cells, vascular function, and cardiovascular risk.* N Engl J Med, 2003. **348**(7): p. 593-600.
- 373. Takahashi, T., et al., *Ischemia- and cytokine-induced mobilization of bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells for neovascularization*. Nat Med, 1999. **5**(4): p. 434-8.
- 374. Wei, H., et al., *Changes and function of circulating endothelial progenitor cells in patients with cerebral aneurysm.* J Neurosci Res, 2011. **89**(11): p. 1822-8.
- 375. Dumont, A.S.M.D., et al., *Cerebral Vasospasm after Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: Putative Role of Inflammation*. Neurosurgery, 2003. **53**(1): p. 123-135.
- 376. Virchow, R., *Ueber die akute Entzündung der Arterien*. Archiv für pathologische Anatomie und Physiologie und für klinische Medicin, 1847. **1**(2): p. 272-378.
- 377. Hassler, O., *Morphological studies on the large cerebral arteries, with reference to the aetiology of subarachnoid haemorrhage.* Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl, 1961. **154**: p. 1-145.
- 378. Tulamo, R., et al., *Inflammatory changes in the aneurysm wall: a review*. J Neurointerv Surg, 2010. **2**(2): p. 120-30.
- 379. Morgan, L., et al., *The interleukin-6 gene -174G>C and -572G>C promoter polymorphisms are related to cerebral aneurysms.* J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 2006. **77**(8): p. 915-7.
- 380. Chen, Z.K. and H.S. Lv, [Quantification of expression of leukotriene B4 inducing tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-1beta at mRNA level in synovial membrane cells of rheumatoid arthritis by real-time quantitative PCR]. Beijing Da Xue Xue Bao, 2006. **38**(5): p. 533-6.
- 381. Meng, H., et al., Complex hemodynamics at the apex of an arterial bifurcation induces vascular remodeling resembling cerebral aneurysm initiation. Stroke, 2007. 38(6): p. 1924-31.
- 382. Frosen, J., Smooth Muscle Cells and the Formation, Degeneration, and Rupture of Saccular Intracranial Aneurysm Wall-a Review of Current Pathophysiological Knowledge. Transl Stroke Res, 2014. **5**(3): p. 347-56.

- 383. Aoki, T., et al., *NF-kappaB is a key mediator of cerebral aneurysm formation*. Circulation, 2007. **116**(24): p. 2830-40.
- 384. Aoki, T., et al., *Simvastatin suppresses the progression of experimentally induced cerebral aneurysms in rats.* Stroke, 2008. **39**(4): p. 1276-85.
- 385. Ishibashi, R., et al., *Contribution of mast cells to cerebral aneurysm formation*. Curr Neurovasc Res, 2010. **7**(2): p. 113-24.
- 386. Raffetto, J.D. and R.A. Khalil, *Matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in vascular remodeling and vascular disease.* Biochem Pharmacol, 2008. **75**(2): p. 346-59.
- 387. Brew, K., D. Dinakarpandian, and H. Nagase, *Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases:* evolution, structure and function. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2000. **1477**(1-2): p. 267-83.
- 388. Gomez, D.E., et al., *Tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: structure, regulation and biological functions.* Eur J Cell Biol, 1997. **74**(2): p. 111-22.
- 389. Gearing, A.J., et al., *Processing of tumour necrosis factor-alpha precursor by metalloproteinases.* Nature, 1994. **370**(6490): p. 555-7.
- 390. Levi, E., et al., *Matrix metalloproteinase 2 releases active soluble ectodomain of fibroblast growth factor receptor 1.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1996. **93**(14): p. 7069-74.
- 391. Ugwu, F., et al., *Proteolytic cleavage of urokinase-type plasminogen activator by stromelysin- 1 (MMP-3)*. Biochemistry, 1998. **37**(20): p. 7231-6.
- 392. Hanemaaijer, R., et al., *Regulation of matrix metalloproteinase expression in human vein and microvascular endothelial cells. Effects of tumour necrosis factor alpha, interleukin 1 and phorbol ester*. Biochem J, 1993. **296 ( Pt 3)**: p. 803-9.
- 393. Pahl, H.L., *Activators and target genes of Rel/NF-kappaB transcription factors.* Oncogene, 1999. **18**(49): p. 6853-66.
- 394. Saito, T., et al., *Importance of endothelial NF-κB signalling in vascular remodelling and aortic aneurysm formation*. Cardiovascular Research, 2013. **97**(1): p. 106-114.
- 395. de Winther, M.P., et al., *Nuclear factor kappaB signaling in atherogenesis.* Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2005. **25**(5): p. 904-14.
- Aoki, T. and M. Nishimura, *Targeting chronic inflammation in cerebral aneurysms: focusing* on NF-kappaB as a putative target of medical therapy. Expert Opin Ther Targets, 2010. 14(3): p. 265-73.
- 397. Tracey, K.J. and A. Cerami, *Tumor necrosis factor, other cytokines and disease*. Annu Rev Cell Biol, 1993. **9**: p. 317-43.
- 398. Grell, M., et al., *TNF receptors TR60 and TR80 can mediate apoptosis via induction of distinct signal pathways.* J Immunol, 1994. **153**(5): p. 1963-72.
- 399. Tang, V., et al., *TNF-alpha-mediated apoptosis in vascular smooth muscle cells requires p73.* Am J Physiol Cell Physiol, 2005. **289**(1): p. C199-206.
- 400. Pimentel-Muinos, F.X. and B. Seed, *Regulated commitment of TNF receptor signaling: a molecular switch for death or activation.* Immunity, 1999. **11**(6): p. 783-93.
- 401. Siren, A.L., et al., *Proinflammatory cytokine expression contributes to brain injury provoked by chronic monocyte activation.* Mol Med, 2001. **7**(4): p. 219-29.
- 402. Wang, Z., et al., *TNF-alpha induces proliferation or apoptosis in human saphenous vein smooth muscle cells depending on phenotype.* Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 2005. **288**(1): p. H293-301.
- 403. Wynn, T.A., *Cellular and molecular mechanisms of fibrosis.* J Pathol, 2008. **214**(2): p. 199-210.
- 404. Wynn, T.A., *Common and unique mechanisms regulate fibrosis in various fibroproliferative diseases.* J Clin Invest, 2007. **117**(3): p. 524-9.
- 405. Tomasek, J.J., et al., *Myofibroblasts and mechano-regulation of connective tissue remodelling.* Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 2002. **3**(5): p. 349-63.
- 406. Friedman, S.L., *Mechanisms of disease: Mechanisms of hepatic fibrosis and therapeutic implications.* Nat Clin Pract Gastroenterol Hepatol, 2004. **1**(2): p. 98-105.

- 407. Juvela, S., M. Porras, and O. Heiskanen, *Natural history of unruptured intracranial aneurysms: a long-term follow-up study.* Journal of Neurosurgery, 1993. **79**(2): p. 174-182.
- 408. Frösen, J., Smooth Muscle Cells and the Formation, Degeneration, and Rupture of Saccular Intracranial Aneurysm Wall-a Review of Current Pathophysiological Knowledge. Translational Stroke Research, 2014.
- 409. Jonasson, L., J. Holm, and G.K. Hansson, *Smooth muscle cells express la antigens during arterial response to injury.* Lab Invest, 1988. **58**(3): p. 310-5.
- 410. Zempo, N., et al., *Matrix metalloproteinases of vascular wall cells are increased in balloon-injured rat carotid artery*. J Vasc Surg, 1994. **20**(2): p. 209-17.

# "A Small Animal Model for the Creation of Pre-Aneurysmal Change in the Intracranial Vasculature"

## Masters Philosophy (Health)

**Dr James Anthony Lee** 

Part 2

| Part 2 - Abstract                                |    |
|--|----|
| Animal Models of Intracranial Aneurysm Formation | 5  |
| Introduction                                     | 5  |
| Surgically Induced Aneurysms                     | 5  |
| Hypertensive Models                              | 12 |
| Results  |    |
| Description of our model                         |    |
| Technique  |    |
| Induction of Hypertension                        | 20 |
| Post-Procedural Observations                     | 21 |
| Necropsy   | 23 |
| Histopathological findings                       | 30 |
| Conclusion                                       |    |
| Observations and Technical Considerations        |    |
| Measurement of blood pressure                    | 46 |
| Angiotensin-II induced hypertension              | 49 |

## **List of Figures**

| Figure 1. Placement of the mouse in the stereotactic apparatus. Prior to the surgical component of the procedure, the eyes were lubricated and taped shut and the surgical site prepared with an antiseptic solution. The mouse was covered with a warming blanket   |
|--|
| Figure 2. Preoperative, Interim and Pre-Euthanasia systolic blood pressure measurements in the experimental cohort   |
| Figure 3. Formalin fixed specimen demonstrating a large volume haematoma in the subarachnoid space (red arrows) over the right brain convexity   |
| Figure 5. EvG staining of a control vessel wall. The endothelium (red arrow) and internal elastic lamina (black arrow) are intact. The vessel is of normal thickness   |
| Figure 6. Mild Pathological features associated with early cerebral aneurysm formation (i.e. mild<br>endothelial change and mild internal elastic lamina degeneration [internal elastic lamina<br>degeneration]) on H&E staining, HP. Both red arrows depict loss of endothelium (endothelial<br>change-1). See Table 1 and Table 2 for histological classifications endothelial change = endothelial<br>change, EVG = elastic van Giesen, H&E = haematoxylin and eosin, HP = high power, IELD = internal<br>elastica degeneration. 32 |
| Figure 8. H&E staining of the thickened arterial wall (right) in the vicinity of a macroscopic aneurysm (left). There is extensive inflammatory infiltration and protrusion of the vessel wall (red arrow). 34   |
| Figure 9. Severe pathological changes associated with macroscopic cerebral aneurysm formation on<br>Silver staining: unruptured cerebral aneurysm (HP). There is complete absence of the media and<br>internal elastic lamina (IELD-4) within the unruptured aneurysm (A) wall, and replacement by   |

### Part 2

#### Abstract

As naturally occurring aneurysms in laboratory animals are very rare, various animal models of intracerebral aneurysm pathogenesis have been designed in multiple species including rodents, rabbits and also higher mammals such as dogs, sheep, pigs and primates[1]. There are two major classes of animal models of aneurysm development; those used to evaluate underlying mechanisms of aneurysm formation, which are discussed in detail below, and those principally used in the trialling novel endovascular techniques and devices. [2] (these are generally canine, ovine or porcine models using surgically induced aneurysms, usually in the carotid artery)[3-6].

Relatively few animal models of cerebral aneurysms are available, and most incorporate a high incidence of rupture [2, 7-11]. Some have incorporated induction of systemic hypertension and stereotactic intracranial elastase infusion[2]. The aneurysms produced by such studies have been rapidly formed (2-6 weeks), and have been relatively large (even giant) [7, 8, 10-14]. This questions their representativeness to human pathogenesis as most human aneurysms are small to medium in size relative to their parent vessels and appear to develop over a protracted period[15-23].

Appreciation of the limitations of these models is of paramount importance; information gained from animal studies should be carefully evaluated for relevance[24]. The aim of this study was to develop an animal model of the changes associated with the early aneurysm pathogenesis.

#### **Animal Models of Intracranial Aneurysm Formation**

Introduction

#### Surgically Induced Aneurysms

Various techniques for inducing aneurysm formation in animal models have been described in the early literature[25-30]. Broadly speaking, these can be subdivided into two categories; those involving aneurysms resulting from direct arterial injury or surgery, and those induced by stimulating known risk factors for aneurysm formation in humans[31].

Vein pouch models involve microsurgical grafting of a patch of autologous vein to a surgically created arteriotomy. German et al[32] first reported this technique in 1954. In brief, a small wedge is cut from the medial corner of the left common carotid artery, a partial end-to-side anastomosis of the left common carotid to the right common carotid is fashioned, and a previously harvested vein segment is sutured to the notch formed by the anastomosis. A number of variations on this technique have been reported including end-to-side anastomosis of an external jugular vein graft to the common carotid artery [33], suturing of an autologous vein graft to an end-to-side anastomosis of the left common carotid artery to right common carotid artery[34], via an arteriovenous fistula method[35] or via microsurgical construction on the wall of the basilar artery [27]. Although these models may accurately model the geometry and haemodynamic microenvironment of human aneurysms, all spontaneously manifest histologic changes not seen in true saccular arterial aneurysms[36, 37]. In addition, the manipulation of the arterial and venous pouch endothelium during construction of the aneurysm over time, confounding any long-term observations or results of therapeutic intervention[37].

#### Aneurysms induced by haemodynamic manipulation alone

The early work of Hassler[25] described induction of pre-aneurysmal change and macroscopic aneurysm formation in a rabbit model via ligation of the common carotid artery. Subsequent analysis of the intracerebral arteries revealed structural changes in the arterial walls with an increase in the size of medial defects. Macroscopic aneurysms were induced in six of 42 rabbits. The calibre of the posterior communicating, ophthalmic and anterior and middle meningeal arteries was noted to be increased to a greater degree in younger animals and tended to become more pronounced over time (i.e. the observed increase was greater in animals euthanized five months after ligation compared with those euthanized after one month.). These findings confirmed the authors' prior expectation that the increase in haemodynamic stresses secondary to carotid ligation would lead to histological changes in the arterial wall.

The alterations in vessel calibre on the side of the ligation led the authors to hypothesise that pathology of the internal carotid artery (e.g. stenosis) may cause variations in the calibre of the intracranial arteries. The paucity of these findings in younger animals was felt to be due to an increased ability of younger animals to develop anastomoses and collateral circulatory pathways between the internal and external carotid systems. The observed macroscopic and histological changes in the intracranial arteries demonstrated the susceptibility of the arteries to "hydraulic imbalance" or increased haemodynamic stress.

#### Aneurysms induced by haemodynamic manipulation and surgical induction of hypertension

Observations from these early models suggested that a critical factor in aneurysm induction and growth was altered circulation and haemodynamic forces in the Circle of Willis. This hypothesis was backed by later studies[38-41] inducing aneurysm formation via haemodynamic manipulation alone, however the long incubation time (approaching 12 months in some models) limited their utility.

Similarly, hypertension was determined to be an important, but non-essential factor in aneurysm pathogenesis in these models; although the combination of hypertension and carotid ligation was shown to aggravate degenerative changes in the vessel walls, non-hypertensive rats treated with carotid ligation alone still developed aneurysms[41]

The idea that increased haemodynamic stress, when coupled with other it factors causing fragility of the arterial wall may accelerate the pathophysiological process leading to aneurysm formation, Handa et al[31] developed a model of aneurysm induction in adult Sprague-Dawley rats via a combination of unilateral ligation of the common carotid artery, surgical induction of hypertension via right nephrectomy, and Beta-aminopropionitrile (BAPN) feeding.

BAPN is a lathrogen. its mechanism of action is inhibition of lysyl oxidase, which initiates cross-linkage formation between elastin and collagen. When fed to young or rapidly growing animals, connective tissue becomes abnormally fragile and a variety of connective tissue pathologies arise[42, 43]. This commonly manifests as loss of tensile strength and elasticity of great vessels such as the aorta[44]The action of BAPN is exclusive to collagen and elastin during the synthesis phase only; under physiological circumstances mature animals are not susceptible to its effects. Hypertensive stress, however, induces increased collagen and elastin synthesis in the arterial wall[45-47].

Renal hypertension was induced via a number of methods. Surgical hypertension was achieved via right nephrectomy at the time of carotid artery ligation followed by administration of Deoxycorticosterone acetate (DOCA) via a twice weekly subcutaneous injection commencing one week after surgery. DOCA is a mineralocorticoid used to augment surgically induced hypertension. It increases the permeability of cell membranes and capillaries, and accelerates the inflammatory process[48]. DOCA has a propensity to cause significant alterations in ion transport by VSMCs in the vessel wall, reducing the ability of calcium to stabilise the membrane. This may be a contributory factor in vascular reactivity and development of vascular hypertrophy in vessels under chronic

hypertensive stress[48]. DOCA is not essential in the development of aneurysms[31, 49], however its use increases the yield of aneurysms.

1% NaCl solution was also given as drinking water. Alternatively, renal infarction hypertension was induced in place of DOCA hypertension.

In the second week following the initial surgery, BAPN was added to the diet for all rats. As with the earlier study of Hashimoto[50], surgical hypertension was initially induced via unilateral nephrectomy and augmented by DOCA administration; this was replaced by induction of hypertension via bilateral ligation of the posterior branches of the renal artery bilaterally.

Regardless of methodology, all rats were made hypertensive and fed BAPN. They were then divided into three cohorts; those with no carotid ligation, those with unilateral carotid ligation, and those with bilateral carotid ligation. No aneurysms were found in rats without carotid ligation. Aneurysms developed at the anterior communicating artery/anterior cerebral artery junction and ipsilateral proximal PCA in those rats who underwent unilateral ligation, and aneurysms were found exclusively in the posterior circulation of those rats which underwent bilateral carotid ligation. These findings appeared to confirm earlier hypotheses on aneurysm development; namely that abnormal haemodynamic stress in the Circle of Willis is of primary importance in aneurysm induction and formation, and that in surgically manipulated models, aneurysms preferentially occurred at the sites where haemodynamic stresses were expected to increase.

The observed locations of aneurysm formation represented the expected areas of maximal haemodynamic stress. Similarly, rats having undergone bilateral ligation demonstrated preponderance to aneurysmal development in the posterior circulation, again in keeping with the expected increase in haemodynamic stress. Furthermore, aneurysms were invariably induced on the side contralateral to carotid ligation, in keeping with the intended haemodynamic manipulation.

These findings appeared to support previous hypotheses regarding aneurysm pathogenesis in man, where an increased incidence of aneurysm formation on the anterior communicating artery was observed in patients with inequalities in the proximal segment of the anterior cerebral artery. This anomaly resulted in formation of a considerable shunt of blood across the anterior communicating artery to the contralateral anterior cerebral artery, thus subjecting the small anterior communicating artery to increased haemodynamic stress. Similarly, human aneurysms had been observed in other vessels under increased haemodynamic stress, such as those associated with arteriovenous malformations[51] and anatomical anomalies such as agenesis of the internal carotid artery[52].

This study was important for a number of reasons. Firstly, it demonstrated that aneurysms were inducible in experimental animals. Its primary advantages over previously described models, as reported by the authors, were the apparent ease with which aneurysms were cultivated in a large number of rats, and the apparent similarities in anatomy and natural history with human aneurysms. Most of the induced aneurysms arose at the apex of arterial bifurcations. Gap formation and leukocyte adhesion was observed at the endothelial cell junction, similar to previously reported findings of human studies[53]. Some observed morphological characteristics, such as aneurysmal bleb formation which were associated with an increased risk of aneurysm rupture have subsequently been identified as independent risk factors for aneurysmal subarachnoid haemorrhage in humans[54-57].

The procedure for aneurysm induction described in this model have been largely superseded by more modern methods. However, the study was notable for the apparent ease in which aneurysms were induced and the relatively high number of aneurysms produced. By pharmacologically augmenting surgically induced hypertension, aneurysms were induced in 30-70% of animals within three or four months. This was a significant improvement on previous models using carotid ligation alone, which often required an incubation period of 12 months or more[41]. In addition, the aneurysms induced were similar in histological analysis and natural history to human cases, allowing an early perspective on the dynamic aspects of aneurysm pathophysiology "as a living and metabolising structure".

#### Pharmacological facilitation of aneurysm induction

Induction of aneurysms using toxic materials to degrade the arterial wall in both intracranial and extracranial arteries has been described. Mc Cune et al[29] designed a model of abdominal aortic dissection in dogs involving injection of nitrogen mustard beneath the aortic adventitia. White et al[30] adapted this method to the intracranial arteries using hypertonic saline, hyaluronidase and nitrogen mustard directly into the walls of the intracranial arteries of dogs with varying results. Troupp et al[58] described a similar technique focused on the external carotid artery in a rabbit model. Although reasonably successful, the lesions produced were not histologically comparable to human aneurysms.

On the hypothesis that increased haemodynamic stress on weakened cerebral arteries might induce structural fragility in the arterial wall, Hashimoto et al described cerebral aneurysm formation in a rat model<sup>1</sup>. This model relied on multiple factors for aneurysm induction.

BAPN was used to induce structural fragility in the arterial wall. Whilst the authors accepted its administration was not essential for aneurysm induction, it significantly increased the number of aneurysms cultivated. Handa[31] declared that administration of BAPN alone without carotid ligation was insufficient for aneurysm induction, confirming the earlier work of Hashimoto[40]. BAPN administration was again demonstrated to significantly increase the yield of aneurysms formed.

The yield of well-formed, saccular aneurysms induced in animal models which omit BAPN is less than 30%[31, 59, 60]. Hashimoto and others cautioned that the tendency of BAPN to cause pathological changes in the arterial wall may confound any histological analysis of CA development, leading the authors to recommend its use only in models where a high incidence of CA formation was required, such as haemodynamic studies.

#### Hypertensive Models

#### Methods of induction of hypertension

Unilateral common carotid artery ligation, administration of BAPN, subcutaneous DOCA injection, and salt loading in drinking water are common methods of inducing hypertension in animal models. This strategy was first reported by Hashimoto et al[39, 50, 61, 62]. This model was hampered by its relatively low incidence of CA formation (n=11/30) and long incubation period (averaging 11-21 weeks). Subsequent variations added ligation of the posterior branches of the renal arteries bilaterally to induce hypertension[39] improving the yield of CAs induced (n=18/13) and shortening the incubation time to 16 weeks.

Jamous et al[63, 64] augmented the model further by using oophorectomy in an attempt to increase the aneurysm yield. Ligation of the right CCA and posterior branches of the bilateral renal arteries of 7week old Sprague-Dawley rats was performed, with initiation of hypertension via salt loading in the drinking water one week later. Oophorectomy was performed at a second operation one month after the initial procedure. The incidence of aneurysm formation was 60% over an incubation period of three months in rats who underwent oophorectomy compared with 20% of rats who underwent an identical initial procedure without oophorectomy. In addition, the size of aneurysms produced in the oophorectomy cohort was significantly larger.

This concept of exposure to and/or modification of environmental risk factors to produce aneurysms in animal models was further developed by Abruzzo[36] et al in endothelial nitric oxide synthase-3 (eNOS-3 knockout) mice. This study reported induction of aneurysms in two of six eNOS-3 knockout mice after an average survival period of 20.4 months (+/- 1.5 months) post-surgical ligation of the left common carotid artery. The same study failed to induce any aneurysms in thirty wild-type, 7 NOS-2 knockout, or 8 plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI)-1 female mice using the same technique after a similar survival period.

The Blotchy mouse phenotype exhibits one of a series of mutations at the X-linked "mottled" locus. In male hemizygotes, the different allelic variants result in various phenotypes with connective tissue disorders of varying severity[65]. Male Blotchy mice have a propensity to develop extracranial aneurysms (especially of the ascending aorta)[66]. Using common carotid ligation, a low yield of aneurysm development in normotensive Blotchy mice was reported by Coutard et al[67]. The aneurysms produced were described as "a close succession of small dilatations in arteries of the complex of the anterior artery and anterior communicating artery", with no macroscopic aneurysms seen. Ligation of the left common carotid artery alone similarly failed to induce macroscopic aneurysm formation in a normotensive wild-type control group. The authors compared this with both wild-type and blotchy mice which had undergone renal artery ligation to induce hypertension. A significantly increased incidence of CA formation in the blotchy mice was seen.

The Jamous model substituted administration of BAPN for oestrogen deficiency to increase the incidence of aneurysm formation. This model demonstrated that oophorectomy and oestrogen deficiency led to significantly increased yields of aneurysms in rats, consistent with previous epidemiological human studies identifying female sex, especially in post-menopausal years, as a significant independent risk factor for de novo aneurysm development [47, 68, 69] and supporting the hypothesis of a protective role of oestrogen against the development and progression of CAs.

#### **Stereotactic Elastase Models**

Degeneration or disruption of the internal elastic lamina of intracranial arteries is a recognised component of the pathophysiological process of aneurysm development. Histopathological analysis of aneurysm walls often exhibits a continuum of degeneration ranging from almost intact to severely degenerate in the neck to fundus direction[70]. These degenerate changes exhibit a decrease in the number of mural cells, specifically VSMCs, and gaps in the medial raphe filled with tendon-like fibres. The aneurysm wall itself typically lacks an internal elastic lamina. Human studies suggest that serum elastase and collagenase levels are elevated in patients with aneurysms[71-74]. Histological studies of

collagenase and elastase activity in aneurysm walls demonstrate high levels of MMP-2 and -9 activity[74] in both human and animal models[75].

Elastase and collagenase are the major proteinases present in the aneurysm wall, and are known to be produced by macrophages in other vascular pathologies such as Abdominal Aortic Aneurysm (AAA) [76-78]. Degradation of the Extracellular Matrix (ECM) within the vessel wall leads to further damage via further upregulation of proteinases. MMP-9, in addition to its proteinase activity, is also a regulator of macrophage migration and infiltration across the ECM[11, 79], Some studies suggest that inhibition of proteinase activity may slow or suppress the development of aneurysms[75].

Building on these findings of degeneration and disruption of the elastic lamina being key characteristics of cerebral aneurysm pathogenesis, Nuki et al[14] developed a small animal model of aneurysm induction via a single stereotactic injection of elastase into the basal cisterns of hypertensive mice. The aneurysms produced "recapitulated the key features of human intracranial aneurysms".

Elastase was used to induce disruption of the internal elastic lamina, and hypertension induced via a continuous infusion of Angiotensin-II via an implanted subcutaneous pump. Using a dose of 35 milliunits of elastase with continuous infusion of Angiotensin-II at a rate of 1000ng/kg/min, aneurysms were induced in 77% (n=34 of 44) of mice along the Circle of Willis or one if its major branches. The authors demonstrated a dose-dependent relationship between aneurysm induction and elastase concentration, demonstrating yields of 0%, 10%, 30%, and 77% of aneurysms using concentrations of 0.0 (i.e. placebo), 3.5, 17.0, and 35.0 milliunits of elastase respectively. Histological assessment of the CAs produced revealed varying degrees of structural pathology similar to that reported in histological studies of human aneurysms; degenerate vascular walls with thick segments and loss of the internal elastic lamina.

This method of aneurysm induction demonstrated a dose-dependent relationship between the incidence of aneurysm formation and the concentration of the Angiotensin-II infusion. Higher yields of aneurysms were seen in mice receiving a more concentrated volume (0%, 20%, and 77% at 0 (PBS infusion), 500 or 1000 ng/kg/min Angiotensin-II respectively). The magnitude of hypertension induced appeared to be dependent Angiotensin-II concentration (111.0 +/- 6.7, 127.0 +/-18.8, and 142.0 +/-37.0 mmHg at 0 (PBS infusion), 500 or 1000 ng/kg/min Angiotensin-II respectively), supporting the hypothesis underpinning this model; that exaggeration of known risk factors (in this case hypertension) may lead to CA formation.

The combination of stereotactic injection of elastase and Angiotensin-II induced hypertension represented an important new small animal model of CA induction. Nuki demonstrated the combination of hypertension and degeneration of the internal elastic lamina induced by a single stereotactic injection of elastase into the cerebrospinal fluid resulted in a high incidence of aneurysm formation in a comparatively brief period. By modifying the stereotactic co-ordinates (to 1.2mm rostral, 0.7mm lateral to bregma, and advancing the stereotactic injection needle to 0.3mm from the skull base), Hosaka et al[10] achieved even higher yields of aneurysms, inducing macroscopic aneurysm formation of 100% of mice receiving elastase doses of 5, 10, or 20ul of 10u/ml elastase solution, and in 90% of mice receiving 10uL of 1.0u/mL elastase solution (n=10 each cohort). The Hosaka model was the first murine model to consistently induce aneurysm rupture in a dose-dependent manner.

## Rationale for this project and model chosen.

The aim of this study was to develop an animal model of the changes associated with the early aneurysm pathogenesis.

We sought to build on previous studies, using a contemporary model of murine aneurysm induction; the model described by Nuki[14] was chosen as our template. The methods used in our study differed slightly from those used in prior studies, for example, we used lower elastase doses to ameliorate the severity of vessel wall injury. Notwithstanding, the dose, rate and mode of human angiotensin II delivered in our study and magnitude of hypertension achieved, conformed to that of prior studies.

## Methodology

Approval for animal studies was obtained from the local ethics committee (Approval no. A1926). Experimental work performed in accordance with the institutional and ethical guidelines of James Cook University, Australia, and conforming to the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (National Institutes of Health, USA).

20 male C57/BL6 mice aged 12-14 weeks, of mean weight 25.5±0.4g, were used. Under isoflurane general anaesthesia (2% isoflurane in 2L/minute oxygen), mice were secured in a stereotactic frame. A small right sided burr-hole was made 1.2 mm rostral and 0.7 mm lateral to the bregma. A 10µl Hamilton blunt tipped microliter syringe was adjoined to a semi-automated repeating dispenser and advanced until contact with the skull base was achieved, then withdrawn 0.3 mm and either methylene blue dye (control group) or elastase solution (experimental group) was infused into the basal cisterns. The incision was then closed with sutures.

To induce chronic hypertension, a constant infusion of Angiotensin-II (Angiotensin-II), dissolved in phosphate buffered saline, was continuously infused via an implanted micro-osmotic pump (placed

subcutaneously at a point 5 mm cephalad to the base of the tail immediately after closure of the cranial wound. The Angiotensin-II dose was determined by use of a weight-based algorithm delivering 1000 ng/kg/min [12, 14, 80, 81]

Two study groups were employed:

#### 1. Sham operative controls

A dilute solution of methylene blue dye was infused into the right basal cistern of 5 mice at a rate of  $2\mu$ l/min using the stereotactic method described above. Induction of hypertension via Angiotensin-II was not used via was not used in this group.

## 2. Experimental group

 $10\mu$ l of elastase solution (1.0u/ml) was injected manually into the right basal cistern of 15 mice at a rate of  $2\mu$ l/min using the stereotactic method described above.

Following the procedure, animals were recovered under a heat lamp, housed individually, and observed for a period of 2-3 weeks using a previously validated rodent neurological scoring system[82, 83]. Blood pressure (BP) was measured by standard tail cuff manometry at 3 time points. At the completion of the observation period, each mouse was euthanized using CO2 and the entire head immersion-perfused in 10% formaldehyde for a period of 14 days.

## Results

28 arterial bifurcations from 12 brains were examined. Massive sub-arachnoid haemorrhage was observed in 1 mouse. Formation of a macroscopic aneurysm without SAH was observed in 1 mouse. Pre-aneurysmal changes were observed in 8/12 (58%) brains: Endothelial change in 8/8 and Internal elastic lamina degeneration in 6/8. Hypertension was successfully induced in a time-dependent

manner. All 5 sham controls survived both the procedure and the observation period. Two of the 15 experimental mice died in the immediate post-procedural period. Four of the remaining 13 experimental died during the observation period (17-21 days).

Twelve brains from the 15 experimental mice were examined for histological changes associated with pre-aneurysm formation. In the experimental group, where n=28 bifurcations were harvested from n=12 brains, pre-aneurysm changes were observed in 7/12 (58%) brains, amongst 12/28 (43%) bifurcations. Internal elastic lamina degeneration was specifically observed in n=8. All bifurcations with internal elastic lamina degeneration also showed endothelial change. N=1 macroscopic aneurysm was identified at one bifurcation point (fig 3)

Of the sub-group of n=4/13 mice which died during the observation period (17-21 days), endothelial change was observed in n=3, whilst concomitant internal elastic lamina degeneration was observed in n=1 bifurcation.

## Description of our model

## Technique

#### Mouse model

Approval for animal studies was obtained from the local ethics committee (Approval no. A1926). and experimental work performed in accordance with the institutional and ethical guidelines of James Cook University, Australia, and conforming to the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (National Institutes of Health, USA). Mice were housed in an individually ventilated, temperature/humidity-controlled cage system (Aero IVC Green Line; Tecniplast) on a 12-hour light/dark cycle and maintained on normal laboratory chow and water *ad libitum*. 20 male C57/BL6 mice (Animal Resources Centre, Canning Vale, WA, Australia) aged 12-14 weeks, of mean weight 25.5±0.4g, were used. Under isoflurane general anaesthesia (GA) (2% isoflurane in 2L/minute oxygen), mice were secured in a stereotactic frame (Model 940 Linear Scale Digital Display, David Kopf instruments, Tujunga, CA, USA). A small right sided burr-hole was made 1.2mm rostral and 0.7mm lateral to the bregma (co-ordinates were obtained from the Mouse Brain Atlas[84] and had been validated by a previously described model[10]). A 10 μl Hamilton blunt tipped microliter syringe (Model 701N, Hamilton Instruments, Nevada, LV, USA) was adjoined to a semi-automated repeating dispenser (Model PB600-1, Hamilton Instruments, Nevada, LV, USA) and advanced until contact with the skull base was achieved. It was then withdrawn 0.3 mm and either methylene blue dye (control group) or elastase solution (experimental group) was infused into the basal cisterns (see below). The incision was then closed with sutures.

Two study groups were employed:

1. Sham operative controls

A dilute solution of methylene blue dye was infused into the right basal cistern of 5 mice at a rate of  $2\mu$ l/min using the stereotactic method described above. Hypertension was not induced in this group

## 2. Experimental group

 $10\mu$ l of elastase solution (1.0u/ml) was injected manually into the right basal cistern of 15 mice at a rate of  $2\mu$ l/min using the stereotactic method described above.

Following the procedure, animals were recovered under a heat lamp, housed individually, and observed for a period of 2-3 weeks using a previously validated rodent neurological scoring system[82, 83].

Mice were removed from the stereotactic apparatus and recovered under an infra-red heat lamp.

Once ambulant and feeding, and in the absence of any perceived neurological deficit, the mice were transferred to individual cages.

Operative time (i.e. from induction to completion of GA) for sham controls was  $31 \pm 4$  mins. Total procedural time (i.e. from induction of GA to observable recovery of spontaneous movements) for sham controls was  $45 \pm 5$  mins. Total procedural time for the experimental cohort was  $60 \pm 8$  mins: operative time was  $34 \pm 3.0$  mins and recovery time  $14 \pm 2$  mins.



Figure 1. Placement of the mouse in the stereotactic apparatus. Prior to the surgical component of the procedure, the eyes were lubricated and taped shut and the surgical site prepared with an antiseptic solution. The mouse was covered with a warming blanket.

**Induction of Hypertension** 

To induce chronic hypertension, a constant infusion of A-II, (Sigma Aldrich, Castle Hill, NSW, Australia), dissolved in phosphate buffered saline, was continuously infused. This was achieved via an implanted Alzmet micro-osmotic pump (model 1004, Durect Corporation, Cupertino, CA 95014) which was placed subcutaneously at a point 5mm cephalad to the base of the tail immediately after closure of the cranial wound. The A-II dose was determined by use of a weight-based algorithm delivering 1000ng/kg/min

Blood pressure (BP) was measured by standard tail cuff manometry at 3 time points: Baseline (24 hours pre-intervention); interim (8-10 days post-procedure); and final at 24 hours prior to euthanasia. Systolic (sBP), diastolic (dBP) and mean (mBP) were recorded.

#### **Post-Procedural Observations**

In the post-procedural period mice were housed individually and observed for a period of between two to three weeks, during which time they were checked twice daily. Each mouse was inspected visually for general condition and observations recorded using a previously described 5-point neurological scoring system (grade 0, normal function; grade 1, reduced eating or drinking activity demonstrated by weight loss >2g); grade 2, flexion of the torso and forelimbs upon lifting the whole animal by the tail; grade 3, circling to one side with normal position at rest; grade 4 leaning to one side at rest; grade 5, no spontaneous activity or death)[82, 83, 85-87].

Mice were observed for normal behaviours such as climbing, response of vibrissae to touch, and general activity such as spontaneous feeding and drinking. In addition to the above system, a neurological deficit was noted if an animal exhibited asymmetric limb movements, asymmetry of forepaw stretching when being held by the tail, or a slow/asymmetric reaction to vibrissae stimulation. None of the mice surviving the pre-defined incubation period exhibited a new-onset neurological deficit or signs of pain or distress during observation.
The surgical incisions were assessed twice daily. All incisions healed within the first three to four days, with no wound infection or dehiscence encountered. All the micro-osmotic pumps remained in situ for the duration of the observation period. The surgery appeared well tolerated by the mice during the healing period, with no signs of irritation such as excessive grooming, scratching or excessive loss of fur surrounding the incisions observed. The procedure was performed on a total of four cohorts of five mice each (n=20).

At the completion of the observation period, mice were placed under deep isoflurane GA (flow rate 4L/min) until agonal breathing was observed. Each mouse was then euthanized using CO2. The entire head was thereafter removed and immersion-perfused in 10% formaldehyde for a period of 14 days.

#### Necropsy

### Removal of mouse brain from cranial vault.

This procedure was performed under x 3.5 loupe magnification using standard bench illumination. If during the dissection there was uncertainty regarding anatomical landmarks, or the plane of dissection became unclear, the remainder of the procedure was performed under x10 light microscopy. Dissection was performed using standard microsurgical instruments and technique.

The mouse head was removed from the 10% formaldehyde perfusion, and excess fluid removed with an absorbent tissue. A heavy arterial clamp was applied to the loose skin around the nose. Using a size 22 blade, a dorsal sagittal incision was made from the tips of the clamps to the back of the skull. The skin was reflected anteriorly, and soft tissue and musculature removed.

The skeletonised head was then placed supine. The calvarium was removed in a piecemeal fashion. Care was taken not to damage the underlying brain when crossing suture lines and on removal of the frontal and nasal bones due to increased thickness of the bone at these locations.

The base of the brain could now be visualised, and the skull base now removed using similar piecemeal technique. The basilar artery and posterior aspects of the temporal lobes served as useful landmarks when performing this stage of the procedure, and the utmost care was taken not to inadvertently damage the ventral surface of the brainstem.

Owing to the entry points of the internal carotid arteries and exiting points of the cranial nerves, removal of the remainder of the skull base proved to be the most technically challenging part of the procedure. In approximately half of the skulls this was best achieved by the use of gentle retraction of the brain from the skull base and careful division of the arteries and vessels close to the bone using a fine microsurgical scissors, working in a caudad-cranial direction. For the remainder of the brains, application of this technique threatened to cause compressive deformity of the frontal lobes. Brains which exhibited this phenomenon were significantly less pliant than their counterparts. Why this occurred was unclear.

Average procedural time was 37 minutes respectively. Upon removal of each brain, arteries of the circle of Willis and their major bifurcation points were inspected under both x3.5 loupe and x10 light microscopy magnification, photographed, placed in fresh containers of 10% formaldehyde and stored at room temperature pending formal histological processing. All major bifurcation points visualised during dissection were processed, however owing to fragility of the specimens a variable number of bifurcations were harvested from each brain.

### **Statistical Analysis**

Inter-group comparisons were compared using analysis of variance. Statistical significance was assessed at P<0.05.

### Results

Of 20 mice, 5/5 sham controls survived both the procedure and the observation period. Two of the 15 experimental mice died in the immediate post-procedural period, presumably due to the stress of the procedure. Four of the remaining 13 experimental died during the observation period (17-21 days). The cause of death was not readily apparent in three of these mice. Three cerebral artery bifurcations were harvested from two of these mice. The remaining mouse was found to have suffered a massive SAH (fig. 3): owing to the severity of tissue disruption incurred, no viable bifurcations could be harvested; this specimen was excluded from analysis. Mortality was thus n=6.

## Hypertension

Hypertension was successfully induced in a time-dependent manner. All mice underwent acclimatisation to tail-cuff plethysmography in the pre-operative period by performing a single daily reading over the course of three days. Ten pre-operative, interim and pre-euthanasia systolic blood pressure (sBP) measurements were taken per mouse, with the highest and lowest values excluded.

Pre-operative, interim and pre-euthanasia sBP was  $91 \pm 2.0$  mmHg,  $116 \pm 2$  mmHg and  $157 \pm 3$  mmHg respectively (p<0.001).



Figure 2. Preoperative, Interim and Pre-Euthanasia systolic blood pressure measurements in the experimental cohort



Figure 3. Formalin fixed specimen demonstrating a large volume haematoma in the subarachnoid space (red arrows) over the right brain convexity

Twelve brains from the 15 experimental mice were examined; the two mice that died during the procedure were excluded from this analysis. The brain of another mouse that died during the observation period was rendered unsuitable for analysis during processing and was also excluded. A total of 28 arterial bifurcations were harvested. One macroscopic cerebral aneurysm was observed (fig. 4).



Figure 4. Unruptured macroscopic cerebral aneurysm. The aneurysm is observed in the anterior circulation (red arrow)

# Histological assessment.

After removal of the brain from the vault, and prior to fixation, macroscopic aneurysm formation (i.e. a saccular aneurysm visible either to the naked eye, or under x3.5 magnification), and any associated SAH, were sought by direct vision. The brains were then fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin. Following fixation, the brains were processed using a Leica Peloris tissue processor. The total processing time was 87 h. Each stage, excluding the wax stages, was performed at 35°C. The tissue was kept under vacuum during processing. Following processing, the brain slices were blocked in paraffin wax and cooled on an ice plate. Blocked paraffin brains were sectioned at eight microns on a Leica RM2235 Manual Rotary Microtome. Sections were floated out on a water bath at 35°C, collected on silanized activated slides and dried overnight. The tissue was kept under vacuum during processing.

All sections were examined, and arterial bifurcation points identified and analysed, by an experienced histopathologist blinded to the outcome of the index animal.

Macroscopic cerebral aneurysm formation (saccular cerebral aneurysms visible either to the naked eye, or under x3.5 magnification), and any associated SAH, were sought by direct vision or by dissecting microscopy. Macroscopically intact arterial bifurcation points were analysed by an experienced histopathologist (LK), blinded to the outcome of the index animal, for changes suggestive of early CA formation. Endothelial change was classified into three distinct stages as per the classification system proposed by Jamous et al[64, 88-90] (Table (2). We classified internal elastic lamina degeneration change using the classification system proposed by Aoki et al[91] (Table 3), in keeping with previous human and animal studies of aneurysm pathogenesis detailing progressive internal elastic lamina degeneration as a key feature of aneurysm pathogenesis[14, 92-95]

Analysis was limited to identification of endothelial change () (i.e. endothelial detachment, sub-intimal thickening, and inflammatory cell infiltration with or without arterial wall protrusion) and degeneration of the internal elastic lamina (internal elastic lamina degeneration). endothelial change was classified into three distinct stages as per the classification system proposed by Jamous et al[89], with Stage 3 change representing macroscopic aneurysm formation, i.e.:

| Categorisation of vessel wall endothelial changes |   |   |  |  |  |
|---|---|---|--|--|--|
| Stage 1   |   | Endothelial change only   |  |  |  |
| Stage 2   | a | Endothelial change with apical intimal pad elevation                |  |  |  |
|   | b | Late inflammatory change with destruction/protrusion of vessel wall |  |  |  |
| Stage 3   |   | Macroscopic saccular aneurysm formation                             |  |  |  |

 Table 1: Histological categorisation of the vessel-wall endothelial change (EC) associated with early cerebral aneurysm (CA)

 formation. Modified after Jamous et al.[89]

Similarly, internal elastic lamina degeneration was classified using the system proposed by Aoki et al[91], which described internal elastic lamina degeneration relative to the surrounding elastic lamina (Table 3)

| Categorisation of vessel wall Internal Elastic Lamina change |                        |  |  |  |  |
|--|------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Stage 1  | Continuous             |  |  |  |  |
| Stage 2  | Fragmented             |  |  |  |  |
| Stage 3  | Complete disappearance |  |  |  |  |

Table 3: Histological categorisation of vessel-wall internal elastic lamina degeneration (IELD) associated with early cerebral aneurysm formation. Modified after Aoki et al.[75]

### **Histopathological findings**

In the experimental group, where n=28 bifurcations were harvested from n=12 brains, pre-aneurysmal changes were observed in 7/12 (58%) brains, amongst 12/28 (43%) bifurcations (figs 2 & 3). Type I change was observed in one bifurcation, Type 2a in n=9, Type 2b in n=2 and Type 3 (i.e. macroscopic cerebral aneurysm) in n=1. Internal elastic lamina degeneration was specifically observed in n=8. All bifurcations with internal elastic lamina degeneration also showed EC (figs 3, 4 & 5). One macroscopic cerebral aneurysm was identified at one bifurcation point (fig 4)

Of the sub-group of n=4/13 mice which died during the observation period (17-21 days), endothelial change was observed in n=3 (stage 1 in n=1, and Stage 2a in n=2), whilst concomitant degeneration of the internal elastic lamina was observed in one bifurcation. (Fig. 5).

One macroscopic aneurysm was identified at one bifurcation point (fig 3): seven bifurcations were harvested from this mouse. Both endothelial change-2b and internal elastic lamina degeneration-2

were observed in these bifurcations, whilst the internal elastic lamina degeneration-3 was observed within the aneurysm itself (fig 8,9).



Figure 4. VerHoeff's Van Gieson stain is useful in demonstrating atrophy of elastic tissue. This slide shows EvG staining of a control vessel wall. The endothelium (red arrow) and internal elastic lamina (black arrow) are intact. The vessel is of normal thickness.



**Figure 5.** Haematoxylin and Eosin stain (H&E Staining) is a combination of two histological stains; haematoxylin and eosin. Haematoxylin stains cell nuclei blue, and eosin stains cytoplasm and extracellular matrix pink. This H&E stain of an arterial bifurcation demonstrates mild pathological features associated with early cerebral aneurysm formation (i.e. mild endothelial change and mild internal elastic lamina degeneration [internal elastic lamina degeneration]) on H&E staining, HP. Both red arrows depict loss of endothelium (endothelial change-1). See Table 1 and Table 2 for histological classifications.



**Figure 7.** The same bifurcation point seen in Fig.6, this time stained with EvG. The slide shows moderate pathological features associated with early aneurysm formation. Example of internal elastica fragmentation ('Reuterwall's tear', IELD-3). Short black arrow depicts flattening of IEL corrugations (IELD-2). Long black arrow depicts IEL fragmentation ('Reuterwall's tear', IELD-3) combined with endothelial cell detachment and sub-intimal thickening/apical pad elevation (endothelial change-2A



Figure 6. H&E staining of the thickened arterial wall (right) in the vicinity of a macroscopic aneurysm (left). There is extensive inflammatory infiltration and protrusion of the vessel wall (red arrow).



Figure 7. Severe pathological changes associated with macroscopic cerebral aneurysm formation on Silver staining: unruptured cerebral aneurysm (HP). There is complete absence of the media and internal elastic lamina (IELD-4) within the

unruptured aneurysm (A) wall, and replacement by amorphous connective tissue. Inflammatory cells are seen below the aneurysm (red arrow). The associated bifurcation (B) demonstrates an area of medial thickening (black arrow). The bifurcation B generally exhibits advanced endothelial change (endothelial change-2B) and advanced IELD (complete absence, IELD-4). See Table 1, 2 for histological classification, H&E = haematoxylin and eosin, HP = high power, IELD = internal elastica degeneration.

Of the sub-group of 4/13 mice that died during the observation period, two brains were processed. Endothelial change was observed in 2/2 (endothelial change-1, internal elastic lamina degeneration-2 in a mouse dying at Day 8/21, and endothelial change2a, internal elastic lamina degeneration-2 in a mouse dying at Day 6/21). One bifurcation harvested from one mouse that died in the immediate post-procedural period contained no abnormalities.

Of the n=12 brains successfully processed, one mouse showed macroscopic cerebral aneurysm formation, with pre-aneurysmal changes seen at the bifurcation points of n=7 mice. A total of n=28 arterial bifurcation points were harvested, showing varying degrees of degeneration and structural abnormalities. SAH without cerebral aneurysm was observed in n=1 brain. This sample showed massive disruptive parenchymal haemorrhage with subarachnoid extension, however on microscopy and histopathological analysis an obvious arterial aetiology was not visualized, and this brain was excluded from analysis. Macroscopic cerebral aneurysm without SAH was observed in one brain. The endothelium in this sample exhibited primarily type 2b change, with type 2 and 3 internal elastic lamina degeneration in the area of the cerebral aneurysm. The cerebral aneurysm wall was notably thinner than the surrounding arterial wall.

Pre-cerebral aneurysm changes were observed in n=12 bifurcations. Of these, Type I change was observed in n=1, Type 2a change in n=9, type 2b change in n=2 and Type 3 change (i.e. macroscopic cerebral aneurysm formation) in n=1. internal elastic lamina degeneration was specifically observed in n=8; all bifurcations with internal elastic lamina degeneration also showed endothelial change.

| Mouse Number | Endothelial Change | Internal Elastic Lamina Degeneration | Bifurcations seen |
|--------------|--------------------|--------------------------------------|-------------------|
| 1            | None               | IELD-1                               | 2                 |
| 2            | EC-2a              | IELD-2                               | 1                 |
|              | EC-2b              | IELD-3                               | 1                 |
|              | None               | IELD-1                               | 1                 |
| 3            | None               | IELD-1                               | 3                 |
| 4            | None               | IELD-1                               | 3                 |
| 5            | EC-1               | IELD-2                               | 2                 |
|              | EC-2a              | IELD-3                               | 2                 |
| 6            | EC-2b              | IELD-3                               | 2                 |
| 7            | EC-2b              | IELD-3                               | 2                 |
|              | EC-2b              | IELD-4                               | 1                 |
|              | EC-3               | IELD-4                               | 1                 |
| 8            | EC-2b              | IELD-3                               | 1                 |
| 9            | EC-1               | IELD-3                               | 1                 |
|              | EC-2a              | IELD-3                               | 1                 |
| 10           | EC-2a              | IELD-3                               | 1                 |
|              | EC-2b              | IELD-3                               | 2                 |
| 11           | EC-2a              | IELD-3                               | 1                 |

Table 4. Pathological features associated with early cerebral aneurysm formation observed. Pathological features of early cerebral aneurysm formation were observed in 8 of 11 (73%) brains, and in 18 of 27 (67%) bifurcations. All cerebral artery bifurcations with internal elastic lamina degeneration (IELD) also demonstrated endothelial change (EC). Where EC was absent, IELD was also absent: i.e. in 3 mice (Nos. 1, 3 and 4) no endothelial abnormalities were found amongst the bifurcations harvested

#### Discussion

Prior studies have successfully incorporated systemic hypertension and intracranial elastase infusion to produce cerebral aneurysm formation in rodents [7, 8, 10-14]. The cerebral aneurysms formed in such studies have typically been rapidly produced: i.e. within a period of 2-6 weeks. This questions their representativeness with regard to many, if not most, human cerebral aneurysms observed clinically. The studies of Hassler [25, 53, 96-98] and others [99, 100] [101] have previously suggested that most cerebral aneurysms initially develop from vessels with pre-aneurysmal changes; and that, in many such vessels, pre-aneurysmal change leading to cerebral aneurysm leading to subarachnoid haemorrhage may be delayed [16, 46, 102].

A further feature of current models is that the sizes of the cerebral aneurysms so formed have been relatively large. This further questions their representativeness to human cerebral aneurysm pathogenesis since numerous clinical studies have shown that most cerebral aneurysms, either those that remain unruptured for variable periods of time, or those that present acutely with rupture and subarachnoid haemorrhage, are relatively small in size [23, 103]. Moreover, disparately large cerebral aneurysm size may also, at least in part, explain a further aberrant feature of extant murine models: i.e. that all exhibit a high incidence of rupture [2, 7-11]. Both ISUIA I and ISUIA II demonstrated that cerebral aneurysm rupture risk is correlated with aneurysm size[15].

We therefore sought to produce pre-aneurysmal changes, to more closely mimic the slower time course presumed in cerebral aneurysm development [16, 46, 102]. Such a model would therefore be more appropriate for the investigation of factors which either stimulate or inhibit pre-aneurysmal development in previously normal vessels, or which stimulate or inhibit subsequent pre-aneurysmal  $\rightarrow$  cerebral aneurysm development (± rupture). Extant models have hitherto not been structured to address each of these sequences separately.

The methods used in our study therefore differed slightly from those of prior studies: in particular, regarding both the amount, and mode, of elastase delivered. Whilst previous studies have incorporated a micro-infusion pump to deliver elastase; we, by contrast, incorporated a semi-automated dispenser and microliter syringe to manually deliver elastase into the right basal cistern. The efficacy of latter had been proven in our pilot study (subsequently used the control arm in our main study) in which we substituted methylene blue for elastase. Furthermore, the dosage of elastase administration administered in our study was also at the lower limit of that formerly used by Nuki [14]. The manual technique used in our study removed some of the need for specialised equipment and training which would otherwise have been required.

The higher doses of elastase used in prior studies[14] certainly achieved a higher incidence of cerebral aneurysm formation than in our study. Although Hosaka et al[10] reported a stereotactic elastase/Angiotensin-II mouse model of cerebral aneurysm induction female C57/BL6 mice using identical incubation times, stereotactic co-ordinates and elastase and Angiotensin-II dosages to our study, their model also incorporated renovascular hypertension and common carotid artery ligation. The exaggeration of the haemodynamic insult required for the initiation of such accelerated cerebral aneurysm pathogenesis may, as previous authors have themselves indeed acknowledged [14], 'skip' key events in the sequence [normal artery  $\rightarrow$  pre-aneurysmal  $\rightarrow$  cerebral aneurysm ± SAH] which may play a key role in clinical cases. Notwithstanding, the dose, rate and mode of human angiotensin II delivered in our study (0.11µl/h, subcutaneously) conformed to that of prior studies.

In our study, n=15/15 brains were harvested, of which 12/15 could have feasibly yielded preaneurysmal or cerebral aneurysm changes (i.e. from mice which had survived beyond the total procedural time). From these n=12 brains, n=28 arterial bifurcations were harvested. Massive subarachnoid haemorrhage without cerebral aneurysm formation was observed in one brain: unfortunately, due to massive tissue disruption, neither cerebral aneurysm, nor any bifurcations, could be harvested here. One macroscopic saccular cerebral aneurysm without subarachnoid haemorrhage

(fig 4) was observed in one other case. Taken together, these results suggest that, despite having used lower doses of elastase, the sequence [normal artery  $\rightarrow$  pre-aneurysmal  $\rightarrow$  cerebral aneurysm ± SAH] may still remain accelerated. Hypothetically, by lowering the dose of elastase further still, the sequence progression [normal artery  $\rightarrow$  pre-aneurysmal  $\rightarrow$  cerebral aneurysm ± SAH] may be further retarded.

The role of hypertension and haemodynamic stress on cerebral vessels was first investigated by Forbus[99] who demonstrated haemodynamic pressure to be maximal at arterial branch points, correlating with the origin site of many aneurysms. This propensity to aneurysmal pathogenesis was attributed to small defects in the tunica media (*"loci minoris resistentiae"*); critically, however, Forbus also found many media defects without apparent cerebral aneurysm formation. Stehbens[102, 104-106] noted medial defects to be common around the apex of arterial bifurcations, supporting the hypothesis that these may have been produced by greater wall stresses produced. Carmichael[100] proposed cerebral aneurysm formation be dependent on the combination of both a medial defect and a superimposed insult to the internal elastic lamina. Hassler[98] noted minor defects in all age groups, but major defects mostly in older adults, concluding that minor defects progress to major defects with age. This correlated with his other observation that micro-aneurysms (<2mm) progress to macroscopic aneurysms (>2mm) over a protracted time period[98].

The ability to sense and transduce local haemodynamic forces is unique to endothelial cells [107]. Chronic derangement of haemodynamic forces initiates an inflammatory response resulting in adaptive alterations in vessel wall shape and composition[108]. These morphological alterations are thought to represent a critical step at the earliest stages of aneurysm formation. Using renovascular hypertension and common carotid artery ligation, Jamous et al[89] induced cerebral aneurysms in a

rat model with a three month incubation time. Based on their findings, the authors proposed a novel classification of endothelial change leading to cerebral aneurysm formation (Table 1, fig 3). Inflammation is a known critical factor in the development of atherosclerosis[109-111] and abdominal aortic aneurysm formation[112-115]; however its role in human cerebral aneurysm initiation, development, and ultimately rupture remains to be more completely understood[7, 11, 116-120]

Degeneration or disruption of the internal elastic lamina of intracranial arteries is similarly accepted to be a component of human aneurysm pathogenesis[121-125]. Histological analysis of cerebral aneurysm walls often exhibits a continuum of internal elastic lamina degeneration, ranging from almost intact to severely degenerate to absent[10, 14, 36, 121-124]. The aneurysm wall itself typically lacks an internal elastic lamina. Human studies suggest that serum elastase and collagenase levels are elevated in patients with cerebral aneurysms[71-74], consistent with histological studies of expression of collagenase and elastase activity in cerebral aneurysm tissue in both human studies and animal models[74, 75].

Pre-cerebral aneurysm changes were sought in our study as EC or internal elastic lamina degeneration at major arterial bifurcations [108, 126-134]. Compared to control mice, mice with pre-aneurysmal changes revealed thickened vascular walls, with endothelial and internal elastic lamina disruption at arterial bifurcations. In our study, internal elastic lamina degeneration was specifically observed in n=8. All bifurcations with internal elastic lamina degeneration also showed EC. Such findings are consistent with previous histopathological studies of both animal-model and human cerebral aneurysm histopathology [1, 7, 10, 14, 36, 53, 116, 118, 135-143]. Interestingly, similar preaneurysmal changes were seen in rats, with renal hypertension without elastase use (see below)[63, 64, 88, 89].

The peri-procedural mortality observed in our study was within previously reported limits [2, 8, 81]. Mice were observed for 2-3 weeks prior to euthanasia: n=6 died during this interval, including n=2 which did not survive GA. Operative times (25min and 20min) and total procedural times (30 and 25 min) for both these mice were comparable with those of the rest of the experimental group. Autopsy of one of these mice revealed multiple haemorrhagic lesions at large arterial aortic branch points, in addition to a large intracerebral haemorrhage. No arterial bifurcations were successfully harvested from this mouse. Autopsy of the second mouse which died prior to recovery from anaesthesia revealed no obvious intracranial or systemic pathology. One cerebral artery bifurcation was harvested from this mouse. Histological of this cerebral artery bifurcation did not reveal either EC or internal elastic lamina degeneration. Notwithstanding, survival duration beyond the total procedural time did not represent an obvious factor in pre-aneurysmal development in our study. Thus, 3/4 mice which died during the observation period demonstrated pre-aneurysmal changes. By contrast, 4/9 who survived the observation period failed to demonstrate pre-aneurysmal changes at necropsy. Notwithstanding, the second mouse which died prior to emergence from anaesthesia revealed no obvious intracranial, nor systemic, pathology. Whilst n=1 bifurcation was harvested from this mouse it did not reveal either EC or internal elastic lamina degeneration. This suggests that a certain minimum time period is required following the experimental procedure for pre-aneurysmal changes to occur.

It is possible that Angiotensin-II use may have directly caused some of the changes in the sequence [normal artery  $\rightarrow$  pre-aneurysmal  $\rightarrow$  cerebral aneurysm ± SAH] observed in our, and others, study. For example, Angiotensin-II is associated with various non-haemodynamic effects, such as the promotion of inflammation, and the induction of reactive oxygen species [7, 112, 144]. Angiotensin-II also exerts several direct effects potentially relevant to cerebral aneurysm pathogenesis, including stimulation of monocyte recruitment [145], activation of macrophages[109] and enhanced oxidative stress[110]: all potentially capable of contributing to cerebral aneurysm formation independent of systemic hypertensive stress. Angiotensin-II is also involved in "outside-in" signalling on endothelial cells [146], and increases the binding of various inflammatory cells to endothelium [145]: these may be

contributory factors towards the endothelial dysfunction that is associated with cerebral aneurysm initiation [146].

Previous studies have therefore suggested that the non-haemodynamic effects of Angiotensin-II are a major causative factor in progression of lesions in murine models toward aortic arterial aneurysm formation [147]: notwithstanding, their relative contribution toward cerebral aneurysm pathogenesis is currently unknown. The possibility that Angiotensin-II use may have directly caused some of the changes in the sequence [normal artery  $\rightarrow$  pre-aneurysmal  $\rightarrow$  cerebral aneurysm ± SAH] observed could be tested by using alternative methods of inducing hypertension [9, 64, 67, 88, 89, 93]. However, as aforementioned, Jamous produced similar pre-aneurysmal changes were seen in rats, with renal hypertension without elastase use[88, 89]. Notwithstanding, since our model reproduced pre-aneurysmal and cerebral aneurysm formation, it remains valid (and retains experimental utility) irrespective of the precise mechanism of pre-aneurysmal or cerebral aneurysm pathogenesis.

### Conclusion

Evidence of pre-aneurysmal, cerebral aneurysm or SAH was observed in 69% od mice: pre-aneurysmal alone in 58%. We have described a simpler model than hitherto, which is more cost effective, and which specifically lends itself towards studying pre-aneurysmal changes in mice. This model could be used to study factors which potentially advance or impair the progression pre-aneurysmal changes toward subsequent cerebral aneurysm formation and/or rupture.

To our knowledge, this is the first description of stereotactic injection of elastase using a manual technique. The rate of administration was similar to that described in previous models using automated pumps; our peri-procedural mortality was also within reported limits. Our method may represent an equally efficacious and potentially more cost-effective method of stereotactic injection of substrate, without the requirement for specialised equipment.

Using lower dose elastase solution than previously employed we developed a model of early CA pathology. Our model demonstrated that the spectrum of known early cerebral aneurysm pathology can be created at multiple bifurcations in mice, with the degree of endothelial change appearing to correlate with severity of degeneration of the internal elastic lamina. This model may permit the study of factors which could potentially advance or slow the progression of cerebral aneurysm formation.

The use and further development of this model may serve as a simple, low-cost and reproducible method of induction pf pre-aneurysmal change in future studies using various inhibitors, knockout or transgenic mice to test the roles of specific pathways in aneurysm pathogenesis.

Although requiring further refinement, or model offers an opportunity to study the molecular mechanisms of cerebral aneurysm pathogenesis. Future development of these models may result in further identification and definition of pathways of cerebral aneurysm formation, Screening of specific

molecular targets may become feasible and practical, allowing the development of pharmacological agents capable of modification of the processes leading to cerebral aneurysm formation and rupture.

By building on previous studies, we have described a small animal model of cerebral aneurysm induction, which validates previous works and appears to recapitulate the key pathological processes leading to cerebral aneurysm induction and formation in humans.

#### Appendix:

# **Observations and Technical Considerations**

#### Measurement of blood pressure

One of the requirements of this model was induction and maintenance of a hypertensive state to facilitate pre-aneurysmal induction. The method of achieving this aim (placement of a subcutaneous micro-osmotic pump delivering a constant dose of Angiotensin II) has been described.

Systolic, diastolic and mean blood pressure (BP) was measured in all mice undergoing the elastase protocol on three occasions; pre-operatively, pre-euthanasia, and at an interim point approximately halfway through the observation period. BP was measured using the non-invasive tail cuff method. This involves utilisation of a tail-cuff placed on the tail to occlude blood flow. Upon deflation, a second sensor placed distal to the cuff monitors the blood pressure. The distal sensor measures BP by detecting the first appearance of the pulse whilst deflating or disappearance of the pulse on inflation of the cuff. This may be achieved via light emitting technology (i.e. use of a light-based/LED sensor) (photoplethysmography), use of a piezoelectric current (piezoplethysmography), or by use of a specifically designed differential pressure transducer to measure blood volume in the tail. This Volume Pressure Recording method utilises a volumetric analysis of both blood flow and volume in the tail. It has a number of distinct advantages over photoplethysmography or piezoplethysmography; it relies upon a volumetric method of measuring blood flow so is not prone to measurement artefact related to ambient light. It is independent of the animal's skin pigmentation. In addition, movement artefact is greatly reduced.

In our study, all measurements were taken via tail-cuff plethysmography using a volume pressure plethysmograper and infra-red warming blanket (Kent Scientific). This method was chosen for a number of reasons. Its accuracy and dependability when compared with invasive methods has previously been validated in BP measurement mice[148] and has been used successfully in previously described rodent models of CA formation[7, 8, 14, 63, 64, 88, 90, 149-151]. It does not require a

surgical procedure or insertion of an invasive pressure-monitoring device and is more cost effective than more invasive methods. In addition, it is the preferred method of BP measurement in rodents at the JCU VBU.

Standard operating protocol of BP measurement in mice was followed. Initial attempts to measure BP under isoflurane anaesthesia were unsuccessful, therefore an awake method was used. Animals were restrained using a proprietary rodent holder incorporating a darkened nose cone, allowing constant observation of the mouse whilst simultaneously limiting the animal's view and creating a low-stress environment. The mouse's muzzle was allowed to protrude through the front of the nose cone to facilitate breathing. The tail of the mouse was fully extended through the rear hatch opening of the holder. A brief period of acclimatisation approximating 15 minutes allowed for each mouse prior to obtaining BP measurements. During BP measurement, the holder was rested on an infra-red warming blanket to maintain proper core body temperature. All measurements were taken at room temperature as per standard operating procedures.

A total of ten readings were recorded for each mouse, with both the highest and lowest recorded measurements omitted prior to statistical analysis.

Although this method has been validated in mice as small as 8 gm, in our study difficulties were encountered in obtaining consistent, consecutive BP measurements in mice weighing less than 24g. This typically manifested as a requirement for multiple insufflation/deflation cycles of the tail cuff to obtain a single BP value. Although initially ascribed to a lower tail blood volume secondary to the stress experienced by the mice during the procedure, similar difficulties in obtaining BP were encountered in otherwise outwardly calm mice. In addition, these issues were more consistently noted in lighter mice (i.e. those weighing below the median weight) and were encountered during preoperative, interim and pre-euthanasia BP measurements.

Thus, it could be inferred from this data that the size of the mouse was a determining factor in successful BP measurement. Although measurement of BP via the tail-cuff method using the Ceva system has been validated in low weight juvenile mice, our experience with this system is that more rapid measurements are obtained with mice over 25 g.

#### Angiotensin-II induced hypertension

Hypertension was induced via constant subcutaneous infusion of a weight-determined dose of Angiotensin-II via an osmotic minipump. This method was selected as it is routinely used in the JCU VBU for this purpose. Angiotensin-II dosage was determined in a weight-dependent manner (see appendix for table). This necessitated accurate weighing of the mouse, the empty micro-osmotic pump, the volume of angiotensin to be placed in the pump, and the post-fill pump to ensure accuracy of the angiotensin-II dose. Although technically straightforward, the time taken to achieve this for each cohort of five mice added considerably to the set-up time of the procedure. Obtaining an accurate weight for each mouse initially proved problematic due to the activity of the animals; this was best facilitated by weighing the mouse after very brief spell (<30 sec) in the anaesthesia induction chamber. Although not sufficient to induce full anaesthesia, this method sufficiently sedated the mouse to allow placement on a scale and an accurate weight to be obtained. The mouse was then allowed to recover from this prior to induction of full anaesthesia and placement in the stereotactic apparatus. Due to the time taken to weigh and fill the Alzet pump with angiotensin-II (the accuracy of the dosage of which was dependent on obtaining an accurate weight of the mouse into which it was to be implanted), this method was felt preferable to a prolonged period under full anaesthesia to which the mouse would have been subjected.

The method by which the Alzet micro-osmotic pump was implanted has been described in a previous chapter. Previously described models describe placement of the Alzet pump via a 1cm, parasagittal incision 1cm cephalad from the base of the tail, and fashioning a small subcutaneous pocket between the skin and muscle layers using a pair of forceps [8]. Our method of placement differed slightly in that the incision used for subcutaneous placement of the was made at a point remote from the eventual placement site of the pump (i.e. intrascapular, with the pump placed just cephalad to the base of the tail. To create a pocket, the skin at the caudad end of the incision was grasped with forceps and tented away from the underlying muscle layers. A small, blunt tipped scissors was then inserted and opened

to create a subcutaneous defect whilst leaving the underlying pannniculous carnosus and vascular bed intact. The pump was then inserted and using fingers gently manipulated subcutaneously to its final position. This aspect of the procedure took no more than 5 minutes for any mouse. Wounds were checked on a twice daily basis; all healed in a satisfactory manner within 3-4 days and appeared well tolerated by the mouse. No mouse exhibited signs of stress or irritation at the wound site. Unexpected explantation of the pump due to wound dehiscence is a recognised complication of this aspect of the procedure, however this was not observed in our study.

The use of a weight determined dose of Angiotensin-II via constant infusion leads to a measurable rise in blood pressure as early as one week, and may maintain a hypertensive state for the duration of the infusion, typically up to 28 days[8, 80, 144, 152-154]. In addition to its hypertensive effects, angiotensin-II infusion can induce a number of non-haemodynamic effects such as induction of ROS and promotion of inflammation[7, 8, 80, 145]. In addition, Angiotensin-II may significantly increase adhesion of monocytes to endothelium, probably via Angiotensin-II type II receptors[145]. Whether this factor in and of itself may facilitate pre-aneurysmal changes by augmenting the monocyte/endothelial interaction required for cerebral aneurysm induction remains uncertain. Although pharmacological hypertension may also be induced via alternative methods such as norepinephrine infusion or dietary DOCA administration, the overall hypertensive effect of these methods tends to be of a lesser magnitude and of less significance over time than that induced by Angiotensin-II infusion. The experience of the VBU is that Angiotensin-II infusion induced hypertension via the subcutaneous method tends to consistent, reproducible and sustained for the duration of the project.

#### Stereotactic injection of elastase - Validation of stereotactic co-ordinates

The method by which the stereotactic injection of elastase was performed has been described in previous chapters. Briefly, a small right sided cranial burr-hole was made using a 2mm fine-tipped burr attached to an electric drill at a point 1.2mm rostral and 0.7mm lateral right of the bregma. These coordinates were obtained from both the Mouse Brain Atlas and had been validated by a previously described model. In a pilot study using these co-ordinates, Hosaka et al[10] reported a 100% incidence of successful infusion of bromophenol blue into the right basal cisterns surrounding the Circle of Willis (n=10). This compared favourably with the authors' alternative co-ordinates (1.2mm rostral and 1.0mm lateral of bregma) and those of previously described models (2.5mm posterior to bregma and 1.0mm lateral to midline)[14], which resulted in successful administration of substrate to the basal cisterns in 30% and 60% respectively. These results were broadly in keeping with our pilot study to assess the feasibility of stereotactic injection of a substrate (methylene blue) into the cerebrospinal fluid space using the co-ordinates described by Nuki et al (i.e. 2.5mm posterior to bregma, 1.0mm lateral of Bregma and 5.0mm ventral to the skull surface), in which we demonstrated a 60% incidence of successful administration of dye to the cerebrospinal fluid space (n=3/5). A notable consideration in using these co-ordinates, however, was an apparent variability in the accuracy of needle placement when using these co-ordinates which appeared dependent on the operator and age of the mouse. To account for this, the authors advised a "series of test injections using dye... was extremely important to ensure the correct placement of the needle tip at the right basal cistern" and "the co-ordinates described (we) described in the original paper[14] should be regarded as a guideline" [8]. However, their recommendation that "...at least 10 test injections are needed before each operator establishes the appropriate coordinates that yield stable aneurysm induction", was neither financially or ethically feasible for our model. Although our pilot study used the co-ordinates described by Nuki et al, for the purposes of our elastase study stereotactic co-ordinates with the highest reported incidence of successful administration of substrate to the cerebrospinal fluid spaces surrounding the Circle of Willis were used.

Depth of needle placement was likewise a critical factor in ensuring successful administration of substrate; too deep and the substrate would not be able to leave the needle due to physical obstruction at the skull base, whereas too shallow a placement ran the risk of elastase injection into the brain parenchyma and subsequent induction of an intracerebral haemorrhage. Even when the needle had breached the brain parenchyma, and in the subarachnoid space, injection of elastase when the tip was too close to the brain surface often resulted in diffuse haemorrhage from the surface of the brain as reported in previous models[8]. To minimise the risk of this occurrence, and with reference to cross sectional imaging of the Mouse Brain Atlas and co-ordinates and technical advice provided by previous models, an initial depth of 5mm of the blunt-tipped needle ventral to the brain parenchyma was achieved, then depth of placement was slowly increased in 0.1mm increments until slight resistance to further advancement due to contact with the skull base was encountered. This typically resulted in a slight bowing of the 26G needle, visible to the naked eye. At this point, and again using 0.1mm increments, the needle tip was withdrawn until the needle appeared straight, then withdrawn by a further 0.3mm immediately prior to elastase infusion. The average and median depths of needle tip at point of resistance were 4.93 and 5.0mm respectively. Although these measurements were not validated using dye, and further test or calibration procedures performed, 13 of our cohort of 15 mice survived the procedure, and no stigmata of needle misplacement (collagenase-induced intraparenchymal haematoma, extensive haemorrhage in the subdural space, etc.) felt to be attributable to the procedure were demonstrated on necropsy of these 13 mice. In addition, no breach of the skull base due to the needle tip was seen on dissection under loupe magnification or light microscopy.

Of note, however, of the two mice who died in the peri-operative period, needle tip placement was to a depth of 6.1mm and 5.0mm respectively. In the case of the mouse with the deeper tip placement, this would suggest that intraparenchymal injection of elastase was not the cause of periprocedural mortality. The depth of tip placement of the other mouse was at the median point of the other 13 mice, all of which tolerated the injection without incident.

### Method of Elastase infusion

In previously described models, the stereotactic injection of substrate has been performed using a narrow calibre needle (usually a 26G Hamilton syringe Model 701 with a blunt tip) and an ultramicroinfusion pump, typically at a rate of between 0.2-2ul/min[7, 8, 14, 81]. Our laboratory did not have access to this equipment; therefore an alternative method of injection of elastase was conceived.

A semi-automated repeating dispenser (Model PB600-1, Hamilton Instruments, Nevada, LV, USA) was attached to the stereotactic apparatus via a detachable arm. The PB600 dispenser is a versatile, semi-automated dispenser designed to deliver liquid volumes of 0.5-50uL repeatedly up to 50 times. The dispenser is designed to achieve this by mechanically advancing the syringe plunger 0.047" with each depression of the dispenser button. Based on a 6cm scale (i.e. the length of the Hamilton syringe barrel at full volume), this action advances a fluid column within the syringe 2% of the syringe's volume with each click (i.e. 1/50 the total volume of an attached syringe was dispensed with each push of the dispenser button). Although designed for hand-held use, we found that the dispenser was easily incorporated into the stereotactic frame. A 10ul Hamilton blunt tipped microliter syringe (Model 701N, Hamilton Instruments, Nevada, LV, USA) was installed into the dispenser, and the whole apparatus attached to the stereotactic apparatus. A 10ul syringe was chosen as not only was this the desired volume of elastase to be infused in our model, but the dispensing rate of 0.2uL per click also facilitated easy manual control of the rate of infusion to within the limits reported in previous models (i.e. 0.2-2uL/min)

Verification of the needle tip location in response to adjustment of the stereotactic co-ordinates was confirmed using graph paper prior to commencement of the project. Once the burr-hole had been performed, the drill was removed from the stereotactic frame. The base of the burr-hole was inspected to confirm complete breach of the calvarium, and the dura carefully punctured using a

sharp tipped 26G needle. The dispenser/needle apparatus was at this point attached to the system, and the desired co-ordinates for injection attained by zeroing the needle tip placement relative to the bregma and positioning the needle along the XY axis in the desired location (i.e. 1.2mm rostral and 0.7mm lateral right of bregma). This invariably resulted in the needle tip being placed in the centre of the burr-hole prior to intracranial advancement. The location of the needle tip was then zeroed on the brain surface prior to ventral advancement as described. Once satisfactory intracranial placement of the needle tip had been achieved as described above, 10ul of Elastase solution (1.0u/ml) was then injected manually into the right basal cistern at a rate of 2ul/min over a period of 5 minutes (i.e. 0.2uL per click at six second intervals). Upon completion of the infusion, the needle was slowly withdrawn, and the brain surface carefully inspected for signs of trauma or haemorrhage. The cranial wound was then closed in a single layer under loupe magnification with a clear monofilament suture as described in the operative chapter.

The volume of elastase infused with each click was dependent on the length of the plunger arm relative to the index rod of the dispenser. To ensure accuracy, this was calibrated when each syringe was inserted into the device. Calibration was a quick and straightforward procedure; the plunger assembly was retracted fully, then the dispenser button repeatedly depressed, counting the number of clicks, until the index rod no longer advanced. The index rod/plunger lengths were then adjusted appropriately, and the test repeated until 50 dispenses was achieved. Calibration took between 2-4 minutes approximately for each procedure. As a new syringe was used for each mouse per cohort, this was performed prior to induction of anaesthesia for each mouse to ensure any impact on operative duration was minimised.

# References

- 1. Bouzeghrane, F., et al., *In vivo experimental intracranial aneurysm models: a systematic review*. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol, 2010. **31**(3): p. 418-23.
- 2. Aoki, T. and M. Nishimura, *The development and the use of experimental animal models to study the underlying mechanisms of CA formation.* J Biomed Biotechnol, 2011. **2011**: p. 535921.
- 3. Raymond, J., et al., *Mechanisms of occlusion and recanalization in canine carotid bifurcation aneurysms embolized with platinum coils: an alternative concept.* AJNR Am J Neuroradiol, 2008. **29**(4): p. 745-52.
- 4. Raymond, J., et al., *Role of the endothelial lining in recurrences after coil embolization: Prevention of recanalization by endothelial denudation.* Stroke, 2004. **35**(6): p. 1471-1475.
- 5. Raymond, J., et al., *Healing mechanisms in experimental aneurysms. I. Vascular smooth muscle cells and neointima formation.* J Neuroradiol, 1999. **26**(1): p. 7-20.
- 6. Berenstein, A., et al., *Treatment of experimental aneurysms with an embolic-containing device and liquid embolic agent: feasibility and angiographic and histological results.* Neurosurgery, 2009. **64**(2): p. 367-73; discussion 373.
- 7. Kanematsu, Y., et al., *Critical roles of macrophages in the formation of intracranial aneurysm.* Stroke, 2011. **42**(1): p. 173-8.
- 8. Tada, Y., et al., *A mouse model of intracranial aneurysm: technical considerations.* Acta Neurochir Suppl, 2011. **111**: p. 31-5.
- 9. Aoki, T., et al., *Impact of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 deficiency on cerebral aneurysm formation*. Stroke, 2009. **40**(3): p. 942-51.
- 10. Hosaka, K., et al., *Modified murine intracranial aneurysm model: aneurysm formation and rupture by elastase and hypertension.* J Neurointerv Surg, 2014. **6**(6): p. 474-9.
- 11. Hosaka, K. and B. Hoh, *Inflammation and Cerebral Aneurysms.* Translational Stroke Research, 2014. **5**(2): p. 190-198.
- 12. Kaufmann, T.J., W.F. Marx, and D.F. Kallmes, *A failure of matrix metalloproteinase inhibition in the prevention of rat intracranial aneurysm formation*. Neuroradiology, 2006. **48**(3): p. 190-195.
- 13. Nuki, Y., et al., *Roles of macrophages in flow-induced outward vascular remodeling*. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2009. **29**(3): p. 495-503.
- 14. Nuki, Y., et al., *Elastase-induced intracranial aneurysms in hypertensive mice*. Hypertension, 2009. **54**(6): p. 1337-44.
- Unruptured intracranial aneurysms--risk of rupture and risks of surgical intervention. International Study of Unruptured Intracranial Aneurysms Investigators. N Engl J Med, 1998.
   339(24): p. 1725-33.
- 16. Villablanca, J.P., et al., *Natural history of asymptomatic unruptured cerebral aneurysms evaluated at CT angiography: growth and rupture incidence and correlation with epidemiologic risk factors.* Radiology, 2013. **269**(1): p. 258-65.
- 17. Chmayssani, M., et al., *Relationship of growth to aneurysm rupture in asymptomatic aneurysms </= 7 mm: a systematic analysis of the literature.* Neurosurgery, 2011. 68(5): p. 1164-71; discussion 1171.
- 18. Crawford, T., *Some observations on the pathogenesis and natural history of intracranial aneurysms.* J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry, 1959. **22**: p. 259-66.
- 19. Friedman, J.A., et al., *Small cerebral aneurysms presenting with symptoms other than rupture.* Neurology, 2001. **57**(7): p. 1212-6.
- 20. Juvela, S., M. Porras, and O. Heiskanen, *Natural history of unruptured intracranial aneurysms: a long-term follow-up study.* Journal of Neurosurgery, 1993. **79**(2): p. 174-182.

- 21. Juvela, S., et al., *Natural history of unruptured intracranial aneurysms: a long-term follow-up study.* Stroke, 2013. **44**(9): p. 2414-21.
- 22. Mocco, J., et al., *The natural history of unruptured intracranial aneurysms*. Neurosurgical Focus, 2004. **17**(5): p. 1-5.
- 23. Wiebers, D.O., et al., Unruptured intracranial aneurysms: natural history, clinical outcome, and risks of surgical and endovascular treatment. Lancet, 2003. **362**(9378): p. 103-10.
- 24. Stehbens, W.E., *Evaluation of aneurysm models, particularly of the aorta and cerebral arteries.* Exp Mol Pathol, 1999. **67**(1): p. 1-14.
- Hassler, O., EXPERIMENTAL CAROTID LIGATION FOLLOWED BY ANEURYSMAL FORMATION AND OTHER MORPHOLOGICAL CHANGES IN THE CIRCLE OF WILLIS. J Neurosurg, 1963. 20: p. 1-7.
- 26. Nishikawa, M., R.D. Smith, and Y. Yonekawa, *Experimental intracranial aneurysms*. Surgical Neurology, 1977. **7**(4): p. 241-244.
- 27. Nishikawa, M., Y. Yonekawa, and I. Matsuda, *Experimental aneurysms*. Surgical Neurology, 1976. **5**(1): p. 15-18.
- 28. Handa, H., *The neurosurgical treatment of intracranial vascular malformations, particularly with the use of plastics and polarographic measurements.* Clin Neurosurg, 1963. **9**: p. 223-44.
- 29. McCune, W.S., A. Samadi, and B. Blades, *Experimental aneurysms*. Ann Surg, 1953. **138**(2): p. 216-8.
- 30. White, J.C., G.P. Sayre, and J.P. Whisnant, *Experimental destruction of the media for the production of intracranial arterial aneurysms*. J Neurosurg, 1961. **18**: p. 741-5.
- 31. Handa, H., et al., *Saccular cerebral aneurysms in rats: a newly developed animal model of the disease.* Stroke, 1983. **14**(6): p. 857-66.
- 32. German, W.J. and S.P.W. Black, *Experimental Production of Carotid Aneurysms*. New England Journal of Medicine, 1954. **250**(3): p. 104-106.
- 33. Kerber, C.W. and R.W. Buschman, *Experimental carotid aneurysms: I. Simple surgical production and radiographic evaluation.* Invest Radiol, 1977. **12**(2): p. 154-7.
- 34. O'Reilly, G.V., et al., *Experimental arterial aneurysms: Modification of the production technique.* Journal of Microsurgery, 1981. **2**(3): p. 219-223.
- 35. Black, S.P., *Experimental saccular aneurysm by an arteriovenous fistula method.* Mo Med, 1963. **60**: p. 340-3.
- 36. Abruzzo, T., et al., *Histologic and morphologic comparison of experimental aneurysms with human intracranial aneurysms*. American Journal of Neuroradiology, 1998. **19**(7): p. 1309-14.
- 37. Cawley, C.M., et al., *Arterial saccular aneurysm model in the rabbit*. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol, 1996. **17**(9): p. 1761-6.
- 38. Nagata, I., H. Handa, and N. Hashimoto, *Experimentally induced cerebral aneurysms in rats: Part IV. Cerebral angiography.* Surgical Neurology, 1979. **12**(5): p. 419-424.
- 39. Nagata, I., et al., *Experimentally induced cerebral aneurysms in rats: Part VI. Hypertension.* Surgical Neurology, 1980. **14**(6): p. 477-479.
- 40. Hashimoto, N., et al., *Experimentally induced cerebral aneurysms in rats: Part V. Relation of hemodynamics in the circle of Willis to formation of aneurysms.* Surg Neurol, 1980. **13**(1): p. 41-5.
- 41. Nagata, I., [Hemodynamic stress and development mechanism in experimental cerebral aneurysms in rats (author's transl)]. Nihon Geka Hokan, 1982. **51**(1): p. 44-58.
- 42. Barrow, M.V., C.F. Simpson, and E.J. Miller, *Lathyrism: a review.* Q Rev Biol, 1974. **49**(2): p. 101-28.
- 43. Coulson, W.F., A. Linker, and E. Bottcher, *Lathyrism in swine*. Arch Pathol, 1969. 87(4): p. 4117.
- 44. Hosoda, Y. and H. Iri, *Angiolathyrism. 2. Elastin, collagen, and hexosamine content of the lathyritic rat aorta.* Angiology, 1967. **18**(10): p. 616-27.

- 45. Intengan, H.D. and E.L. Schiffrin, *Vascular remodeling in hypertension: roles of apoptosis, inflammation, and fibrosis.* Hypertension, 2001. **38**(3 Pt 2): p. 581-7.
- 46. Inci, S. and R.F. Spetzler, *Intracranial aneurysms and arterial hypertension: a review and hypothesis.* Surg Neurol, 2000. **53**(6): p. 530-40; discussion 540-2.
- 47. Stober, T., et al., *Direct evidence of hypertension and the possible role of post-menopause oestrogen deficiency in the pathogenesis of berry aneurysms.* J Neurol, 1985. **232**(2): p. 67-72.
- Jones, A.W. and R.G. Hart, Altered ion transport in aortic smooth muscle during deoxycorticosterone acetate hypertension in the rat. Circulation Research, 1975. 37(3): p. 333-41.
- 49. Hashimoto, N., et al., *Saccular cerebral aneurysms in rats*. American Journal of Pathology, 1983. **110**(3): p. 397-399.
- 50. Hashimoto, N., H. Handa, and F. Hazama, *Experimentally induced cerebral aneurysms in rats.* Surg Neurol, 1978. **10**(1): p. 3-8.
- 51. Perret, G. and H. Nishioka, *Report on the cooperative study of intracranial aneurysms and subarachnoid hemorrhage. Section VI. Arteriovenous malformations. An analysis of 545 cases of cranio-cerebral arteriovenous malformations and fistulae reported to the cooperative study.* J Neurosurg, 1966. **25**(4): p. 467-90.
- 52. Waga, S., M. Okada, and T. Kojima, *Saccular aneurysm associated with absence of the left cervical carotid arteries.* Neurosurgery, 1978. **3**(2): p. 208-12.
- 53. Cajander, S. and O. Hassler, *Enzymatic destruction of the elastic lamella at the mouth of cerebral berry aneurysm? An ultrastructural study with special regard to the elastic tissue.* Acta Neurol Scand, 1976. **53**(3): p. 171-81.
- 54. Sekhar, L.N. and R.C. Heros, *Origin, growth, and rupture of saccular aneurysms: a review.* Neurosurgery, 1981. **8**(2): p. 248-60.
- Shojima, M., et al., Magnitude and role of wall shear stress on cerebral aneurysm: computational fluid dynamic study of 20 middle cerebral artery aneurysms. Stroke, 2004.
   35(11): p. 2500-5.
- 56. Rowland, M.J., et al., *Delayed cerebral ischaemia after subarachnoid haemorrhage: Looking beyond vasospasm.* British Journal of Anaesthesia, 2012. **109**(3): p. 315-329.
- 57. Russell, J.H.M., et al., *Computational Fluid Dynamic Analysis of Intracranial Aneurysmal Bleb Formation.* Neurosurgery, 2013. **73**(6): p. 1061-1069.
- Troupp, H. and T. Rinne, *METHYL-2-CYANOACRYLATE (EASTMAN 910) IN EXPERIMENTAL VASCULAR SURGERY WITH A NOTE ON EXPERIMENTAL ARTERIAL ANEURYSMS*. J Neurosurg, 1964. 21: p. 1067-9.
- 59. Zhao, J., et al., *Study of cerebral aneurysms in a modified rat model: From real-time imaging to histological analysis.* J Clin Neurosci, 2014.
- 60. Kondo, S., et al., *Apoptosis of medial smooth muscle cells in the development of saccular cerebral aneurysms in rats.* Stroke, 1998. **29**(1): p. 181-8; discussion 189.
- 61. Hashimoto, N., H. Handa, and F. Hazama, *Experimentally induced cerebral aneurysms in rats: Part III. Pathology.* Surgical Neurology, 1979. **11**(4): p. 299-304.
- 62. Hashimoto, N., H. Handa, and F. Hazama, *Experimentally induced cerebral aneurysms in rats: II.* Surgical Neurology, 1979. **11**(3): p. 243-246.
- 63. Jamous, M.A., et al., *Role of estrogen deficiency in the formation and progression of cerebral aneurysms. Part I: experimental study of the effect of oophorectomy in rats.* Journal of Neurosurgery, 2005. **103**(6): p. 1046-1051.
- 64. Jamous, M.A., et al., *Role of estrogen deficiency in the formation and progression of cerebral aneurysms. Part II: experimental study of the effects of hormone replacement therapy in rats.* Journal of Neurosurgery, 2005. **103**(6): p. 1052-1057.
- 65. Rowe, D.W., et al., *A sex-linked defect in the cross-linking of collagen and elastin associated with the mottled locus in mice.* J Exp Med, 1974. **139**(1): p. 180-92.
- 66. Brophy, C.M., et al., *Age of onset, pattern of distribution, and histology of aneurysm development in a genetically predisposed mouse model.* J Vasc Surg, 1988. **8**(1): p. 45-8.
- 67. Coutard, M., *Experimental cerebral aneurysms in the female heterozygous Blotchy mouse*. Int J Exp Pathol, 1999. **80**(6): p. 357-67.
- 68. Ellamushi, H.E., et al., *Risk factors for the formation of multiple intracranial aneurysms.* J Neurosurg, 2001. **94**(5): p. 728-32.
- 69. Francis, S.E., et al., *A combination of genetic, molecular and haemodynamic risk factors contributes to the formation, enlargement and rupture of brain aneurysms.* J Clin Neurosci, 2013. **20**(7): p. 912-8.
- 70. Tulamo, R., et al., *Inflammatory changes in the aneurysm wall: a review*. J Neurointerv Surg, 2010. **2**(2): p. 120-30.
- 71. Gaetani, P., et al., *Abnormalities of collagen cross-linkage in posterior communicating artery aneurysms: a preliminary study.* Neurol Res, 1996. **18**(6): p. 541-5.
- 72. Baker, C.J., et al., *Serum elastase and alpha-1-antitrypsin levels in patients with ruptured and unruptured cerebral aneurysms.* Neurosurgery, 1995. **37**(1): p. 56-61; discussion 61-2.
- 73. Todor, D.R., et al., *Identification of a serum gelatinase associated with the occurrence of cerebral aneurysms as pro-matrix metalloproteinase-2.* Stroke, 1998. **29**(8): p. 1580-3.
- 74. Gaetani, P., et al., *Metalloproteases and intracranial vascular lesions*. Neurol Res, 1999. **21**(4): p. 385-90.
- 75. Aoki, T., et al., *Macrophage-derived matrix metalloproteinase-2 and -9 promote the progression of cerebral aneurysms in rats.* Stroke, 2007. **38**(1): p. 162-9.
- 76. Thompson, R.W. and W.C. Parks, *Role of matrix metalloproteinases in abdominal aortic aneurysms.* Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1996. **800**: p. 157-74.
- 77. Goodall, S., et al., *Ubiquitous elevation of matrix metalloproteinase-2 expression in the vasculature of patients with abdominal aneurysms*. Circulation, 2001. **104**(3): p. 304-9.
- 78. Hashimoto, T., H. Meng, and W.L. Young, *Intracranial aneurysms: links among inflammation, hemodynamics and vascular remodeling.* Neurol Res, 2006. **28**(4): p. 372-80.
- 79. Gong, Y., et al., *Inflammatory macrophage migration requires MMP-9 activation by plasminogen in mice.* J Clin Invest, 2008. **118**(9): p. 3012-24.
- 80. Kanematsu, Y., et al., *Pharmacologically induced thoracic and abdominal aortic aneurysms in mice*. Hypertension, 2010. **55**(5): p. 1267-74.
- 81. Wada, K., et al., *Translational Research Using a Mouse Model of Intracranial Aneurysm.* Translational Stroke Research, 2014. **5**(2): p. 248-251.
- 82. Jeon, H., et al., *Neurological and neurobehavioral assessment of experimental subarachnoid hemorrhage.* BMC Neurosci, 2009. **10**: p. 103.
- 83. Huang, Z., et al., *Effects of cerebral ischemia in mice deficient in neuronal nitric oxide synthase.* Science, 1994. **265**(5180): p. 1883-5.
- 84. Paxinos, G. and K. Franklin, *The Mouse Brain Atlas in Stereotactic Coordinates*. 2 edition ed. 2003: Academic Press. 120.
- 85. Makino, H., et al., *Pharmacological stabilization of intracranial aneurysms in mice: A feasibility study.* Stroke, 2012. **43**(9): p. 2450-2456.
- 86. Yang, G., et al., *Human copper-zinc superoxide dismutase transgenic mice are highly resistant* to reperfusion injury after focal cerebral ischemia. Stroke, 1994. **25**(1): p. 165-70.
- 87. Chan, P.H., Oxygen radicals in focal cerebral ischemia. Brain Pathol, 1994. 4(1): p. 59-65.
- 88. Jamous, M.A., et al., *Vascular corrosion casts mirroring early morphological changes that lead to the formation of saccular cerebral aneurysm: an experimental study in rats.* Journal of Neurosurgery, 2005. **102**(3): p. 532-535.
- 89. Jamous, M.A., et al., Endothelial injury and inflammatory response induced by hemodynamic changes preceding intracranial aneurysm formation: experimental study in rats. J Neurosurg, 2007. **107**(2): p. 405-11.

- 90. Tamura, T., et al., *Endothelial damage due to impaired nitric oxide bioavailability triggers cerebral aneurysm formation in female rats.* Journal of Hypertension, 2009. **27**(6): p. 1284-1292.
- 91. Aoki, T., et al., *Role of angiotensin II type 1 receptor in cerebral aneurysm formation in rats.* International Journal of Molecular Medicine, 2009. **24**(3): p. 353-359.
- 92. Yamazoe, N., [Study of the elastic skeleton of intracranial arteries in animal and human vessels and experimentally induced cerebral aneurysms]. Nihon Geka Hokan, 1991. **60**(1): p. 13-24.
- 93. Morimoto, M., et al., *Mouse model of cerebral aneurysm: experimental induction by renal hypertension and local hemodynamic changes.* Stroke, 2002. **33**(7): p. 1911-5.
- 94. Futami, K., et al., *Immunohistochemical alterations of fibronectin during the formation and proliferative repair of experimental cerebral aneurysms in rats.* Stroke, 1995. **26**(9): p. 1659-64.
- 95. Yamazoe, N., et al., *Elastic skeleton of intracranial cerebral aneurysms in rats.* Stroke, 1990. **21**(12): p. 1722-1726.
- 96. Hassler, O., *Morphological studies on the large cerebral arteries, with reference to the aetiology of subarachnoid haemorrhage.* Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl, 1961. **154**: p. 1-145.
- 97. Hassler, O., *Functional anatomy of contraction of the large cerebral artery. A preliminary report.* Acta Neurol Scand, 1962. **38**: p. 20-8.
- 98. Hassler, O., *Media defects in intracerebral arteries*. Acta Neurol Scand, 1962. **38**: p. 29-32.
- 99. Forbus, W.D., *On the Origin of Miliary Aneurysms of the Superficial Cerebral Arteries.* Bulletin of the Johns Hopkins Hospital, 1930. **47**: p. 239-.
- 100. Carmichael, R., *The pathogenesis of non-inflammatory cerebral aneurysms*. The Journal of Pathology and Bacteriology, 1950. **62**(1): p. 1-19.
- 101. Glynn, L.E., *Medial defects in the circle of willis and their relation to aneurysm formation.* The Journal of Pathology and Bacteriology, 1940. **51**(2): p. 213-222.
- 102. Stehbens, W.E., *Etiology of intracranial berry aneurysms*. J Neurosurg, 1989. **70**(6): p. 823-31.
- 103. Marshman, L.A., et al., *The implications of ISAT and ISUIA for the management of cerebral aneurysms during pregnancy*. Neurosurg Rev, 2007. **30**(3): p. 177-80; discussion 180.
- 104. Stehbens, W.E., *Medial raphes ('defects') in prenatal cerebral arteries.* Stroke, 1996. **27**(10): p. 1916-7.
- 105. Stehbens, W.E., *Cerebral aneurysms and medical defects, continued.* Surg Neurol, 2000. **53**(2): p. 197.
- 106. Stehbens, W.E., *Pathology of the Cerebral Blood Vessels*, ed. W.E. Stehbens. 1972, St Louis: Mosby.
- 107. Berk, B.C., Atheroprotective signaling mechanisms activated by steady laminar flow in endothelial cells. Circulation, 2008. **117**(8): p. 1082-9.
- 108. Szymanski, M.P., et al., *Endothelial cell layer subjected to impinging flow mimicking the apex of an arterial bifurcation.* Ann Biomed Eng, 2008. **36**(10): p. 1681-9.
- 109. Yanagitani, Y., et al., *Angiotensin II type 1 receptor-mediated peroxide production in human macrophages.* Hypertension, 1999. **33**(1 Pt 2): p. 335-9.
- 110. Keidar, S., Angiotensin, LDL peroxidation and atherosclerosis. Life Sci, 1998. **63**(1): p. 1-11.
- 111. Waltmann, M.D., et al., *Apolipoprotein E receptor-2 deficiency enhances macrophage* susceptibility to lipid accumulation and cell death to augment atherosclerotic plaque progression and necrosis. Biochim Biophys Acta, 2014. **1842**(9): p. 1395-1405.
- 112. Golledge, J., et al., *Abdominal aortic aneurysm: pathogenesis and implications for management.* Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2006. **26**(12): p. 2605-13.
- 113. Lindholt, J.S. and G.P. Shi, *Chronic inflammation, immune response, and infection in abdominal aortic aneurysms.* Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg, 2006. **31**(5): p. 453-63.
- 114. Treska, V., O. Topolcan, and L. Pecen, *Cytokines as plasma markers of abdominal aortic aneurysm.* Clin Chem Lab Med, 2000. **38**(11): p. 1161-4.
- 115. Golledge, A.L., et al., *A systematic review of studies examining inflammation associated cytokines in human abdominal aortic aneurysm samples.* Dis Markers, 2009. **26**(4): p. 181-8.

- 116. Chalouhi, N., et al., *Biology of intracranial aneurysms: role of inflammation*. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2012. **32**(9): p. 1659-76.
- 117. Chalouhi, N., et al., *Cigarette smoke and inflammation: role in cerebral aneurysm formation and rupture.* Mediators Inflamm, 2012. **2012**: p. 271582.
- 118. Chyatte, D., et al., *Inflammation and intracranial aneurysms*. Neurosurgery, 1999. **45**(5): p. 1137-46; discussion 1146-7.
- 119. Starke, R.M., et al., *The role of oxidative stress in cerebral aneurysm formation and rupture.* Curr Neurovasc Res, 2013. **10**(3): p. 247-55.
- 120. Penn, D.L., et al., *The role of vascular remodeling and inflammation in the pathogenesis of intracranial aneurysms*. J Clin Neurosci, 2014. **21**(1): p. 28-32.
- 121. Mizutani, T. and H. Kojima, *Clinicopathological features of non-atherosclerotic cerebral arterial trunk aneurysms.* Neuropathology, 2000. **20**(1): p. 91-7.
- 122. Draghia, F., A.C. Draghia, and D. Onicescu, *Electron microscopic study of the arterial wall in the cerebral aneurysms.* Rom J Morphol Embryol, 2008. **49**(1): p. 101-3.
- 123. Campbell, G.J. and M.R. Roach, *Fenestrations in the internal elastic lamina at bifurcations of human cerebral arteries.* Stroke, 1981. **12**(4): p. 489-96.
- 124. Killer-Oberpfalzer, M., et al., *Histological analysis of clipped human intracranial aneurysms and parent arteries with short-term follow-up.* Cardiovasc Pathol, 2012. **21**(4): p. 299-306.
- 125. Lee, R.M., *Morphology of cerebral arteries*. Pharmacol Ther, 1995. **66**(1): p. 149-73.
- 126. Boussel, L., et al., Aneurysm growth occurs at region of low wall shear stress: patient-specific correlation of hemodynamics and growth in a longitudinal study. Stroke, 2008. **39**(11): p. 2997-3002.
- 127. Ingebrigtsen, T., et al., *Bifurcation geometry and the presence of cerebral artery aneurysms.* Journal of Neurosurgery, 2004. **101**(1): p. 108-113.
- 128. Nakatani, H., et al., *Cerebral blood flow patterns at major vessel bifurcations and aneurysms in rats.* J Neurosurg, 1991. **74**(2): p. 258-62.
- 129. Finlay, H.M., P. Whittaker, and P.B. Canham, *Collagen organization in the branching region of human brain arteries.* Stroke, 1998. **29**(8): p. 1595-601.
- 130. Meng, H., et al., *Complex hemodynamics at the apex of an arterial bifurcation induces vascular remodeling resembling cerebral aneurysm initiation.* Stroke, 2007. **38**(6): p. 1924-31.
- 131. Wong, G.K.C. and W.S. Poon, *Current status of computational fluid dynamics for cerebral aneurysms: The clinician's perspective.* Journal of Clinical Neuroscience, 2011. **18**(10): p. 1285-1288.
- 132. Roach, M.R., S. Scott, and G.G. Ferguson, *The hemodynamic importance of the geometry of bifurcations in the circle of Willis (glass model studies).* Stroke, 1972. **3**(3): p. 255-67.
- 133. Penn, D.L., R.J. Komotar, and E. Sander Connolly, *Hemodynamic mechanisms underlying cerebral aneurysm pathogenesis*. Journal of Clinical Neuroscience, 2011. **18**(11): p. 1435-1438.
- 134. Sforza, D.M., C.M. Putman, and J.R. Cebral, *Hemodynamics of Cerebral Aneurysms*. Annu Rev Fluid Mech, 2009. **41**: p. 91-107.
- Aassar, O.S., et al., Aneurysm Growth, Elastinolysis, and Attempted Doxycycline Inhibition of Elastase-induced Aneurysms in Rabbits. Journal of Vascular and Interventional Radiology, 2003. 14(11): p. 1427-1432.
- 136. Johanning, J.M., et al., Inhibition of inducible nitric oxide synthase limits nitric oxide production and experimental aneurysm expansion. J Vasc Surg, 2001. **33**(3): p. 579-86.
- 137. Bonneville, F., N. Sourour, and A. Biondi, *Intracranial aneurysms: an overview*. Neuroimaging Clin N Am, 2006. **16**(3): p. 371-82, vii.
- 138. Bruno, G., et al., *Vascular extracellular matrix remodeling in cerebral aneurysms*. J Neurosurg, 1998. **89**(3): p. 431-40.
- 139. Caird, J., et al., *Apolipoprotein(A) expression in intracranial aneurysms*. Neurosurgery, 2003.
  52(4): p. 854-8; discussion 858-9.

- 140. Canham, P.B., H.M. Finlay, and S.Y. Tong, *Stereological analysis of the layered collagen of human intracranial aneurysms.* J Microsc, 1996. **183**(Pt 2): p. 170-80.
- 141. Connolly, E.S., Jr., et al., *Elastin degradation in the superficial temporal arteries of patients with intracranial aneurysms reflects changes in plasma elastase.* Neurosurgery, 1997. **40**(5): p. 903-8; discussion 908-9.
- 142. Frosen, J., et al., *Saccular intracranial aneurysm: pathology and mechanisms*. Acta Neuropathol, 2012. **123**(6): p. 773-86.
- 143. Grond-Ginsbach, C., et al., Ultrastructural connective tissue aberrations in patients with intracranial aneurysms. Stroke, 2002. **33**(9): p. 2192-6.
- 144. Rush, C., et al., *Whole genome expression analysis within the angiotensin II-apolipoprotein E deficient mouse model of abdominal aortic aneurysm.* BMC Genomics, 2009. **10**: p. 298.
- 145. Kim, J.A., J.A. Berliner, and J.L. Nadler, *Angiotensin II increases monocyte binding to endothelial cells.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 1996. **226**(3): p. 862-8.
- 146. Kohlstedt, K., et al., Angiotensin-converting enzyme is involved in outside-in signaling in endothelial cells. Circ Res, 2004. **94**(1): p. 60-7.
- 147. Daugherty, A., M.W. Manning, and L.A. Cassis, *Angiotensin II promotes atherosclerotic lesions and aneurysms in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice.* J Clin Invest, 2000. **105**(11): p. 1605-12.
- 148. Feng, M., et al., *Validation of volume-pressure recording tail-cuff blood pressure measurements*. Am J Hypertens, 2008. **21**(12): p. 1288-91.
- 149. Yokoi, T., et al., *Suppression of cerebral aneurysm formation in rats by a tumor necrosis factoralpha inhibitor.* J Neurosurg, 2014.
- 150. Cai, J., et al., A novel haemodynamic cerebral aneurysm model of rats with normal blood pressure. J Clin Neurosci, 2012. **19**(1): p. 135-8.
- Tada, Y., et al., Roles of hypertension in the rupture of intracranial aneurysms. Stroke, 2014.
  45(2): p. 579-586.
- 152. Golledge, J., et al., *Efficacy of simvastatin in reducing aortic dilatation in mouse models of abdominal aortic aneurysm.* Cardiovasc Drugs Ther, 2010. **24**(5-6): p. 373-8.
- 153. Krishna, S.M., et al., *Fenofibrate increases high-density lipoprotein and sphingosine 1 phosphate concentrations limiting abdominal aortic aneurysm progression in a mouse model.* Am J Pathol, 2012. **181**(2): p. 706-18.
- 154. Seto, S.W., et al., Impaired acetylcholine-induced endothelium-dependent aortic relaxation by caveolin-1 in angiotensin II-infused apolipoprotein-E (ApoE-/-) knockout mice. PLoS One, 2013.
  8(3): p. e58481.